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INFORMATION
1.1 The Structure of Ownership and Control
Ownership Concentration
Ownership of Israeli companies is concentrated in the hands of approximately twenty
business groups, nearly all of them family-owned. These groups control 160 publicly
traded companies with a 40% share of the market. Ten privately owned business
groups own 30% of companies listed on Tel Aviv Stock Exchange (TASE).

The holdings of the business groups in Israel are widely diversified among the
different sectors of the economy, but with a heavy emphasis on the financial sector
where half of the companies can be classified as affiliated to business groups. A
recent report issued by the Bank of Israel found that companies affiliated to these
business groups tended to be mature, exhibit lower growth, lower investment in R&D
and a higher investment risk than unaffiliated companies.

Concentrated ownership has been well recognized as a problem in the Israeli market
for many years and a very well developed and sophisticated regime of law and
regulation has grown up to counter its potential negative effects.
Both the Companies Law – 1999 ("Companies Law") and the Securities Law – 1968
("Securities Law") have developed strict rules on transactions between listed
companies and their owners and on protection of minority shareholder rights. The
Securities Law imposes extremely rigorous reporting requirements.

Division of Ownership between Financial Sector Assets
The following tables show the relative portion of the equity and debt traded on TASE
held by regulated institutions and foreign investors for the last five years.

Relative Holdings of Shares Traded on TASE
Foreign

Insurance

Pension Provident Mutual

Year Investors Companies
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Funds

Funds

Funds

Government Public

2003

12.5

3.8

0.5

12.0

3.2

5.9

62.2

2004

13.4

3.6

1.1

11.8

4.0

5.5

60.6

2005

17.0

3.9

1.9

10.5

3.5

3.0

60.1

2006

16.7

4.0

1.9

9.9

3.3

1.8

62.4

2007

17.2

3.7

2.1

9.1

2.9

1.4

63.5

Relative Holdings of Non-Government Debt Traded on TASE
Foreign
Year

Insurance

Pensions Provident

Investors Companies

Mutual

Funds

Funds

Funds

Banks

Public

2003

0.3

16.7

5.7

36.8

7.7

5.3

27.5

2004

0.2

10.5

4.3

26.8

11.7

2.4

44.0

2005

0.3

10.0

5.2

23.9

14.5

2.9

43.2

2006

0.4

10.3

6.8

25.0

14.8

3.1

39.6

2007

0.2

9.5

6.9

26.9

13.7

2.2

40.5

Relative Holdings of Government Debt Traded on TASE
Bank

Foreign

Insurance

Pensions

Provident

Mutual

Year

Israel

Investors

Companies

Funds

Funds

Funds

Banks

Public

2003

2.4

0.4

12.7

1.9

34.0

13.9

16.3

18.4

2004

1.9

0.6

12.5

5.0

31.8

11.1

17.9

19.2

2005

1.3

1.3

10.1

9.8

28.0

15.9

17.0

16.7

2006

1.2

4.7

9.7

10.7

24.1

12.4

18.1

19.2

2007

1.1

4.5

8.8

11.2

18.9

14.7

18.3

22.6

Statistical Data
Concentration and Dispersion of Share Ownership
Principal shareholders hold approximately 47.65% of companies' value. (TASE data).

Based on a review made by the Economic Department of the ISA (635 companies
were included in the review) the following data can be drawn:
In 630 companies (99%) there is at least one shareholder whose holdings exceed 5%
(Principal shareholder).
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On average, there are 3 shareholders whose holdings exceed 5% (Amongst the
companies included in the review).
In 501 companies (79%) there is a controlling shareholder who holds 25% or more of
the voting rights of the company ("control block").

Incidence of Companies with Different Classes of Shares
(as of November 20th , 2008):
Companies whose securities listed on TASE: 644 (not including bond issuers).
Companies with two or more classes of shares: 8

Board Structure
(Data taken from a review made by the Economic Department of the ISA)
On average, there are approximately 7 directors serving on the Board of Directors.
On average, 1.14 women serve as directors on a Board.
On average, 28% of the directors are external directors.

Free Float:
(public holdings/ total market value): 52.35%

Average Free Float:
(sum of the percentage of public holdings of each company/ number of companies):
30.8%

Market Liquidity:
Average daily trading volume (Y-T-D 2008):
Shares & Convertibles: 2,088 millions NIS
Bonds (Not including Treasury Bills (MAKAM)): 3,936 millions NIS
Turnover (Average Daily trading/ Market capitalization):
Shares & Convertibles: 0.38%
Bonds (without Treasury Bills (MAKAM)): 0.63%

1.2 The Legal and Regulatory Framework
Public companies in Israel are governed by both the Companies Law and the
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Securities Law. The Securities Law is based on the model of full disclosure. The
Companies Law relates to private and public companies. However, several provisions,
relating primarily to corporate governance issues and the rights of minority
shareholders, are applicable solely to public companies.

The Israel Securities Authority (ISA), established under the Securities Law, is the
primary regulator of public companies in Israel. Its mandate, as stated in the law, is to
protect the interests of the investing public.
The ISA is responsible for overseeing both the primary and secondary markets –
including approval of the publication of prospectuses for public offerings, monitoring
ongoing disclosure, regulating securities underwriting practices, licensing and
supervising securities exchanges (to date there is only one such exchange), licensing
and supervising investment advisors and portfolio managers, regulating mutual fund
managers, the use of inside information and enforcement of the provisions of the Law
to Prohibit Money Laundering -2000, which pertain to capital market activities.
(An overview of ISA's operation can be found below in this chapter).

Other laws pertaining to the regulation of corporate governance in public companies
in Israel are:
The Joint Investment Trust Law – 1994: regulates the licensing, activity and
investments of mutual fund management firms and requires mutual fund mangers to
participate and vote in shareholders meetings on issues that may adversely affect
mutual fund unit holders.
The State-Owned Companies Law – 1975: deals with companies in which the
government maintains holdings, including publicly traded companies that are in
various stages of privatization. (A separate questionnaire on State-Owned Companies
was submitted to the OECD secretariat).

The Companies Law
The Companies Law distinguishes between a public company (see the definition in
section 1 of the Companies Law – ―A company whose shares are listed for trading on
a stock exchange or have been offered to the public pursuant to a prospectus as
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defined in the Securities Law, or have been offered to the public outside of Israel
pursuant to a public offering document as required by law outside of Israel, and which
are held by the public‖) and a private company (―A company which is not a public
company‖). The majority of the provisions of the law apply to all kinds of companies,
although there are some special provisions that apply only to public companies, and it
is expressly provided that companies may not stipulate alternate provisions with
respect to these particular statutory provisions.

The following are the central provisions relating to corporate governance included in
the Companies Law:
Voting at the general meeting – a private and a public company must allow
shareholders to vote by proxy ballot, without requiring their physical presence or
presence by way of an attorney, in general meetings on the agenda of which are
resolutions to approve a settlement or arrangement between the company and its
shareholders. A public company must also permit such voting with respect to the
appointment and dismissal of directors, approval of transactions with controlling
shareholders or officers and of mergers. The shareholders also have the right to send
position statements to the shareholders regarding the above-mentioned resolutions.
(Companies Law, Sections 87-89). Pursuant to the Companies Law, the obligation to allow
voting by proxy took effect only after regulations were enacted that established the
system for voting and distribution. On December 13, 2005, the Companies
Regulations (Proxy Voting and Position Statements) were enacted, to take effect in
April of 2006. (Hereinafter: "the Proxy Regulations"). While the regulations were
being formulated, emphasis was placed on two principal matters – that the manner in
which material would be such as to make it as accessible as possible for all public
shareholders; and that the manner of voting be efficient and without costs.
The following are the main points of the arrangement –
Distribution of proxy ballots and position statements – the regulations deal with
the manner and date by which the proxy ballots and position statements are to be

distributed to the company and to its shareholders, with their format and with the
opportunity to view them. The Company must submit the text of the proxy ballot to
the Securities Authority on the date on which the notice of the general meeting is
publicized. The proxy ballots and position statements must be submitted to the
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Securities Authority electronically in the same manner that public companies file their
other reports with the Authority, pursuant to all provisions of any Securities Law. The
public shareholders are Securities Authority distribution website. This fact is to be
indicated in the notice of the general meeting which is published in two daily
newspapers. However, in order to distribute the position statements as widely as
possible and with the understanding that not all shareholders are exposed to
information by way of the newspapers, stock exchange members are required to
inquire of each shareholder, prior to the opening of a securities account, as to how he
wishes to receive proxy ballots and position statements, with regard to all the
securities in the account. A shareholder may choose between the following
alternatives: to receive the material by electronic mail for no consideration, to receive
it by mail in consideration for a postage fee only, or not to receive the material at all.
Voting through delivery of a proxy ballot or by sending it in the mail – a
shareholder wishing to vote through a proxy ballot indicates his vote on the proxy
ballot and attaches to it a confirmation from the stock exchange member regarding his
ownership of the shares and delivers or sends the proxy ballot to the company.
Voting via the Internet – The regulations permit the company to allow its
shareholders to vote via the Internet, provided that it has taken all measures to secure
the information. Voting via the Internet will, over the long term, improve the ability
of shareholders to participate in general meetings. All that shareholders will be
required to do in order to vote will be to enter an identification code and a control
code onto the proxy ballot – such codes will appear on the confirmation of ownership
along with an additional detail known only to the shareholders. The shareholders will
be able to receive the confirmation of ownership from the stock exchange member by
mail in exchange for postage costs only, if the shareholder has requested such (or a
shareholder may receive it for free by going to a branch of the stock exchange
member).

Obligation to appoint a chairman of the board and a CEO – a public company is
required to appoint a chairman of the board of directors and a CEO. (Companies Law,
Sections 94 and 119)
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Separation of the term of office of the chairman of the board and that of the
CEO – A public company‘s CEO may not serve as its chairman of the board, and the
CEO‘s powers will not be conferred upon the chairman of the board (Companies Law,
Section 95). If one of the following conditions is met, the general meeting may

authorize the chairman of the board of directors to fulfill the role of the CEO for
periods none of which may exceed 3 years: 1. The majority voting in favor of such
authorization must include at least two thirds of the votes of the shareholders who are
not controlling shareholders in the company. 2. The total number opposing votes of
the shareholders does not exceed 1% of the total voting rights in the company.
Powers of the board of directors – The law defines the role of the board of directors
as the outlining of the company‘s policy and the supervision of the execution of the
functions of the CEO and of his activities (Companies Law, Section 92). The law
establishes a list of matters regarding which the board of directors may not delegate
its powers to committees (Companies Law, Section 112).
CEO’s duties – The CEO is responsible for the ongoing management of the
company‘s affairs in the framework of the policy established by the board of
directors, and subject to the board‘s instructions. The CEO must notify the chairman
of the board of any extraordinary matter which is significant for the company and
must submit reports to the board of directors at the dates and of the scope established
by the board of directors (Companies Law, Section 122).
External (or Outside) directors – (Companies Law, Sections 239–245). At least two
external directors will serve on the board of directors of a public company.

The external directors will be appointed by the general meeting, provided that one of
the following conditions is met:


The majority voting in favor includes at least one third of the votes of the
shareholders who are not controlling shareholders in the company or those

acting on their behalf, who are present and voting; abstaining votes will
not be counted among the total votes of the said shareholders;


The total number of the opposing votes does not exceed 1% of all the
Company‘s voting rights.
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An external director must be an Israeli resident who is qualified to be appointed as a
director, but a public company whose shares or some of whose shares are offered to
the public abroad or are listed on a stock exchange outside of Israel may appoint an
external director who is not an Israeli resident.

Amendment Number 3 to the Companies Law (dated March 17, 2005) (hereinafter:
"Amendment Number 3") added more conditions for qualification of external
directors, relating to a candidate‘s professional level. The above–mentioned
amendment requires that an external director must have either professional ability or
accounting and financing expertise, provided that at least one of the external directors
has accounting and financing expertise:

The conditions and tests for a director with accounting and financing expertise and a
director with professional ability are established in the regulations. On December 20,
2005, the Companies Regulations were publicized. These regulations establish that a
director will be deemed to have accounting and financing expertise if, because of his
education, experience and abilities, he has a high level of skill and understanding
regarding business and accounting matters and regarding financial statements, such
that he can understand the company‘s financial statements and hold a discussion
regarding the manner in which they present the financial data; such a director‘s
accounting and financial skill will be determined by the board of directors, and his
education, experience and knowledge of the following, inter alia, will be considered:
1. The accounting and auditing accounting issues that are characteristic of the
industry in which the company is active, and that are characteristic of
companies that are of the company‘s size and complexity.
2. The position of an auditing accountant and the duties imposed on him;
3. The preparation of financial statements and their approval pursuant to the
Companies Law and to the Securities Law.

A director will be considered to have professional ability if he meets one of the
following conditions:
1. He has an academic degree in one of the following subjects: economics,
business administration, law, public administration;
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2. He has a different academic degree or has completed other higher
education studies in the field in which the company is primarily involved,
or in a field that is relevant to the position.
3. He has at least five years of experience in any of the following, or
cumulative experience of at least five years in two or more of them;
a. In a senior position in the business management of a corporation
whose business is of a significant size.
b. In a senior public sector position or senior public term of office;
c. A senior position in the field in which the company is primarily
involved.
A person – including the person himself, his relative, partner, employer or corporation
of which he is a controlling shareholder – who has a connection to the company or to
a controlling shareholder in the company or to a different corporation at the time of
the appointment or in the two years preceding the appointment may not be appointed
as an external director.
For this purpose ―connection‖ means the existence of an employment relationship, the
existence of business or professional relations in general or control, as well as service
as an officer, other than as a director appointed as an external director in a company
which is about to offer its shares to the public for the first time; the Minister, in
consultation with the Securities Authority, may establish that certain matters, under
conditions that the Minister has established, will not constitute a ―connection.‖
―A different corporation‖ shall mean a corporation, the controlling shareholder of
which, at the time of the appointment or during the two years preceding the
appointment, is the company or the party controlling the company.

Any committee which is entitled to exercise any of the powers of the board of
directors shall include at least one external director.

An external director is entitled to remuneration and reimbursement of expenses, as the
Minister may establish, in consultation with the Securities Authority.
An external director will not receive any compensation – in addition to the
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remuneration to which he is entitled and the reimbursement of expenses – either
directly or indirectly for his service as a director of the company. For the purpose of
this sub-section, the giving of a release, an undertaking to indemnify, indemnification
or insurance, pursuant to the provisions of segment C of Chapter III, will not be
considered to be consideration.

An external director will serve for three years, and the company may appoint him for
one additional period of three years.

Any committee which is entitled to exercise any of the powers of the board of
directors shall include at least one external director.
The requirement to appoint directors with accounting and financial expertise –
the above-mentioned Amendment Number 3 added another requirement for public
corporations, which must appoint – in addition to at least one external director with
accounting and financial expertise – a number of directors with accounting and
financial expertise, as shall be established by the board of directors (Section 219).
The requirement to appoint an audit committee (Companies Law, Sections 114-117) –
A public company must appoint an audit committee, which must have at least three
members, and all the external directors must be members of the committee. Neither
the chairman of the board or any director who is employed by the company or who
provides services to it on a regular basis may serve as members of the audit
committee.

Neither a controlling shareholder nor a relative of a controlling shareholder may serve
as members of the audit committee.
The company‘s internal auditor will receive notices of meetings of the audit
committee, and may participate in such meetings. He may ask the chairman of the

audit committee to convene a meeting of the committee to discuss a subject which the
internal auditor has specified in his request, and the chairman of the audit committee
will convene such a meeting within a reasonable time following the request, if he sees
a reason for doing so.
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The auditing accountant will receive notice of the convening of an audit committee
meeting in which a topic relating to the auditing of the financial statements, and he
may participate in such meeting.

The functions of the audit committee:
(1) To take note of defects in the company‘s business management, inter alia,
upon consultation with the company‘s internal auditor or with the auditing
accountant, and to propose to the board of directors ways in which they may
be corrected.
(2) To decide whether or not to approve actions and transactions between the
company and its officers or between the company and its controlling
shareholders.
Obligation to appoint an internal auditor – (Companies Law, Section 146). The board
of directors of a public company shall appoint an internal auditor; the internal auditor
will be appointed according to the recommendation of the audit committee.

The following may not serve as the internal auditor: a principal shareholder in the
company, or who is an officer of the company or a relative of any of the above or the
auditing accountant or someone who acts on behalf of the auditing accountant.
The internal auditor will check, inter alia, the propriety of the company‘s actions, in
terms of compliance with the law and proper business management.
Obligation to appoint an auditing accountant – (Companies Law, Sections 154-170). A
company shall appoint an auditing accountant who will audit its annual financial
statements and give his opinion with regard to them.

The auditing accountant will be appointed at each annual meeting and will serve in his
position until the end of the following annual meeting. However, the annual meeting
may, if the by-laws so provide, appoint an auditing accountant who will serve in his
position for a longer period, which will not extend past the third annual meeting
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following the meeting at which he was appointed.

The auditing accountant will be independent of the company, both directly and
indirectly.
The company will not make the auditing accountant‘s fee dependent on conditions
that limit the manner in which the auditing activity or which connect the audit results
to the accountant‘s fees.

Neither the company nor anyone acting on its behalf shall directly or indirectly
indemnify the auditing accountant for any liability imposed on him due to his breach
of his professional responsibility in providing the services that are required by law to
be given by the accountant, or due to the non-fulfillment of a different duty imposed
on him by law.
Rights and duties of a shareholder –Companies Law Sections 184-218
The right to information – the shareholders will have the right to review the
following company documents:
(1) Minutes of general meetings:
(2) The shareholders register and the register of substantial shareholders (i.e.,
shareholders holding 5% or more of the outstanding share capital or of the
company‘s voting rights);
(3) Any document held by the company which relates to a transaction that
requires the approval of the general meeting pursuant to provisions of the
Companies Law;
(4) The by-laws and financial statements;
(5) Any document that the company is required, pursuant to this law or any other
law, to file with the Companies Registrar or the Securities Authority, and
which is open for review by the public at the Companies Registrar or at the
Securities Authority, whichever is relevant;

(6) Information regarding remuneration for directors;
(7) The board of directors of a private company which is required to appoint an
auditing accountant must, at the request of one or more shareholders who hold
at least ten percent of the company‘s voting rights, issue to such shareholder(s)
Page | 21

a notice confirmed by the company‘s auditing accountant providing a full
specification of all payments made by the company to any of its directors and
of all commitments made by the company to make any payments, including
regarding retirement terms, in each one of the last three years for which the
company‘s financial statements were prepared; the amount will include as well
those payments that a director received as an officer of a company subsidiary.
(Regarding public companies, the disclosure provisions are set out in the
Securities Law.)
Every shareholder may receive from the company, at the shareholder‘s request, a copy
of the company‘s by-laws and, in the case of a private company, a copy of the
financial statements.

Every shareholder may participate in a general meeting and vote at such meeting,
subject to the provisions of the by-laws regarding voting rights attached to each share.
Rights in the event of discrimination –
(a) If the company‘s affairs are managed in a way such that there is discrimination
against all or some of its shareholders, or if there is a substantial concern that
they may be conducted in such a manner, the court may, at the request of a
shareholder, give instructions which the court believes will remove the
discrimination or prevent it.
Shareholders’ obligations– (a) a shareholder will, in exercising his rights and
in fulfilling his duties to the company and to the other shareholders, act in
good faith and in a customary manner, and will refrain from exploiting his
power in the company, inter alia, when voting at a general meeting or at a
class meeting dealing with the following matters:
(1) An amendment of the by-laws;
(2) An increase in the registered share capital;
(3) A merger;

(4) The approval of acts and transactions that require the approval of the
general meeting in connection with transactions between the company and
controlling shareholders or company officers.
(b) A shareholder will refrain from discriminating against other shareholders.
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The obligation of a controlling shareholder or of a party with determinative power to
act fairly –
(a) the following parties are subject to a duty to act fairly towards the company:
1. a controlling shareholder in the company;
2. a shareholder who knows that his vote will be determinative regarding a
decision of a company general meeting or a company class meeting;
3. A shareholder who, according to the by-laws, has the power to appoint
or to prevent the appointment of a company officer, or any other power
vis-à-vis the company.
Derivative action – (Companies Law, Sections 194-206)
Any shareholder and any director in the company may, with the court‘s approval,
bring a derivative action. In order to encourage derivative actions, which are an
important means of enforcement, a number of modifications were made in the context
of Amendment Number 3, as follows:
Only a part of the court fee, and not the full fee, is paid at the time that a derivative
action is filed. Regulations stipulate that when a petition for the approval of a
derivative action is filed, the petitioner will pay a petition fee of NIS 2000. The rest of
the fee will be paid only if the petition is granted and only by the company itself. This
removes an obstacle that had blocked shareholders in the past – shareholders who
refrained from filing derivative actions because of the high court fee that they were
required to pay upon filing the petition.
Duties of officers – an officer has a duty of care and a duty of fiduciary towards the
company.
Company’s power to grant a release, indemnification and insurance for officers –
(Companies Law, Sections 258 – 264).

An officer may not be granted a release with respect to a breach of the duty of
fiduciary. A release with respect to a breach of the duty of care may be granted only if
the by-laws provide for such.
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An officer may be indemnified in advance for reasonable litigation expenses and in
connection with a liability to a third party with respect to foreseeable types of events,
and for a reasonable amount, if the by-laws provide for such.

A company may, if the by-laws provide for such, take out a liability insurance
contract for one of its officers with respect to any liability imposed on him due to an
act done by virtue of his being an officer in the company, with respect to each of
these:
(1) A breach of the duty of care towards the company or to another person;
(2) A breach of the duty of fiduciary towards the company, provided that the
officer acted in good faith and had a reasonable basis for believing that the
action would not harm the company‘s best interests;
(3) A financial liability imposed on him in favor of another person.

All provisions regarding a release, indemnification and insurance will lose their force
if the act was done intentionally or recklessly or in breach of the duty of fiduciary
(which was not committed in good faith or which was committed with no reasonable
basis for believing that the action would not harm the company‘s best interests).
Directors’ rights – Special provisions were enacted regarding a director‘s right to
receive information, and regarding the employment of advisors. A director also has a
right to appeal to the court in order to prevent an action which could constitute a
breach of an officer‘s duty (Companies Law, Sections 265-267).
Transactions with parties with an interest – there are special provisions dealing
with the approval of the following transactions, provided that they do not harm the
company‘s best interests (Companies Law, Sections 268-284)


A transaction between the company and one of its officers and a transaction
between the company and a different person, in which a company officer has a
personal interest – if the transaction is not extraordinary, it may be approved

by the board of directors unless otherwise provided in the by-laws. If the
transaction is an extraordinary one, it must be approved by the audit
committee and then by the board of directors.
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The granting of a release, insurance, undertaking to indemnify or an
indemnification pursuant to permission to indemnify, given to an officer who
is not a director, must be approved by the audit committee and then by the
board of directors.



A contractual relationship between the company and one of its directors
regarding the terms of his office, including the granting of a release, insurance,
undertaking to indemnify or an indemnification pursuant to permission to
indemnify, and a contractual relationship between the company and one of its
directors regarding the terms of his employment in other positions
(hereinafter: the terms of office and of employment), must, in a public
company, be approved by the audit committee, then by the board of directors
and then by the general meeting;



An extraordinary transaction (i.e., one which is not pursuant to market
conditions or which is not carried out in the regular course of business or
which is significant for the company) of a public company with a controlling
shareholder or an extraordinary transaction between a public company and
another person in which controlling shareholder has a personal interest, and a
contractual relationship between a public company and a controlling
shareholder regarding the terms of his position and his employment (and
Amendment 3 added a requirement for approval with respect to the terms of a
position and of employment of a relative of a party controlling the company),
must be approved by the audit committee, then by the board of directors, and
then by the general meeting, and only if one of the following conditions is
met:
(a) The majority of the votes cast at the general meeting include at least a
third of all of the votes of shareholders who do not have a personal
interest in the approval of the transaction, and who are participating in
the voting; the votes of abstaining shareholders will not be counted
among the total votes cast by the said shareholders.

(b) The total number of opposing votes from among the said shareholders
in sub-paragraph (a) does not exceed one percent of the total voting
rights in the company.
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The board of directors and then the company‘s general meeting must approve
a substantial private placement of shares regarding which one of the following
conditions is met:
a) It is a placement which confers twenty percent or more of the total
voting rights in the company, the consideration for which is neither in
cash or securities listed for trading on the stock exchange, or which is
not carried out pursuant to market conditions, and as a result of which
the holdings of a substantial shareholder in the company‘s securities will
increase significantly, or as a result of which a person will be come a
substantial shareholder, after the issue;
b) As a result of the placement a person will become a controlling
shareholder in the company;



Mergers – There are special provisions dealing with a merger between
companies (Companies Law, Sections 314-327).



A merger requires the approval of the board of directors and of the general
meeting of each one of the merging companies.



A vote at the general meeting of a merging company whose shares are held by
the other merging company or by a person who holds twenty five percent or
more of any type whatsoever of the means of control in the other merging
company may not approve the merger if opposition is voiced by the
shareholders who hold a majority of the voting rights among those
participating, other than abstainers, and who are not associated with the other
merging company or to the person with such holdings, or to anyone acting on
their behalf, including their relatives or corporations controlled by them.



A court may approve a merger even if it was not accepted by the required
majority, but it may not approve a request to approve a merger unless the court
is persuaded that the merger proposal is fair and reasonable, taking into
consideration the valuation of the merging companies and the consideration
offered to the shareholders.

In the context of the duty of disclosure in financial statements – institutional entities
are required to specify the composition of their boards of directors and of the
directors‘ committees, and to provide relevant details regarding the members of the
board of directors and of the committees.
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For its part, the Israel Securities Authority adopted directives related to corporate
controls and good corporate governance. The new provisions require disclosure in
public company filings, primarily in its MD&A (Board of Directors) reports. The
more recent of these include:

For disclosure requirements in the Securities Law, see below in Chapter V.

Israel Securities Authority – An Overview
The Israel Securities Authority (ISA), established under the Securities Law, is the
primary regulator of public companies in Israel. Its mandate, as stated in the law, is to
protect the interests of the investing public.

The ISA has a wide range of responsibilities and powers and is responsible for
overseeing both the primary and secondary markets.

Within the framework of this mandate the ISA is charged, inter alia, with handling
the following issues:


Issuing permits to publish prospectuses for public securities offerings of
corporate issuers, as well as prospectuses for mutual fund units;



Examining corporate filings including current reports; quarterly and annual
periodic financial statements; filings concerning related-party transactions, private
placements; tender offer disclosures; etc.



Regulating and supervising the activities of the mutual fund industry
including on-going monitoring of mutual fund filings;



Overseeing the fair, orderly and efficient conduct of secondary markets;



Licensing and supervising portfolio managers, investment advisers and
investment marketing agents. This includes examining compliance as well

preparing disciplinary complaints against these investment professionals for
adjudication by the disciplinary committee;


Investigating violations under the Securities Law, the Joint Investment Trust
Law – 1994, the Regulation of Investment Advice and Investment Portfolio
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Management Law – 1995 and violations of other laws related to violations of the
aforesaid laws;


Supervision over compliance of portfolio managers and non-bank members
of the stock exchange to the Prohibition of Money Laundering Law – 2000.

The ISA drafts and initiates virtually all primary and secondary legislation pertaining
to securities law in Israel. In addition, it cooperates with other government
departments and the other authorities that regulate the Israeli financial system in
formulating policies and laws pertaining to capital market activity.

The ISA also collaborates with the Institute of Certified Public Accountants in Israel,
in operating and financing the Israel Accounting Standards Board, which is charged
with setting accounting standards for Israeli companies.

The Minister of Finance appoints the chairman of the ISA and its commissioners.
Commissioners are selected from the public, the civil service and the Bank of Israel,
Israel's central bank.

The plenum meets once a month. It also performs its functions through permanent and
ad hoc committees, which facilitate the formulation and implementation of ISA
policies.

The ISA's staff currently numbers approximately 150 employees, primarily
professionals in the fields of law, accounting and economics. In addition, it finances a
team of prosecutors at the Tel Aviv District Attorney's office, who are permanently
assigned to ISA cases.

The ISA is not dependent on government financing. Its budget is funded entirely by
annual fees payable by entities regulated under the Securities Law and the Joint

Investment Trust Law. This budget is approved by the Minister of Finance and the
parliamentary (Knesset) Finance Committee.

The three primary laws for which the ISA is responsible give a good indication as to
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the areas and issues upon which its regulatory activity is focused.
The Securities Law – 1968 is the statute that created the ISA. It relates primarily to
the offer of shares and bonds to the Israeli public but also covers such duties and
powers of the ISA as supervision of the rules and activities of stock exchanges along
with general enforcement.
The Joint Investment Trust Law – 1994 ("the Joint Investment Trust Law") is the
central pillar of the regulatory regime governing mutual funds.

The Regulation of Investment Advice, Investment Marketing and Investment
Portfolio Management Law – 1995 ("the Investment Law") sets out the main
regulatory requirements relating to the provision of investment advice and portfolio
management services.

The Governing Board of the ISA
The makeup and independent nature of the ISA governing board is described below in
section 1.3.4 of this chapter.

Meetings of the Governing Board
Meetings of the governing board are held approximately six times per year. An
agenda to which are attached detailed explanations of the issues to be voted upon at
the meeting are circulated to all members of the board and all ISA staff a week prior
to the meeting.

The agenda is prepared by the Chairman and his staff and includes the issues that
pertain to the day to day work of the ISA and are raised by the various Department
Heads.

The work of the ISA is carried out by two types of functionaries: members of the
governing board and employees. The Chairman is the only member of the board that
works full time for the ISA. Meetings are attended by members of the board, the
quorum being five, as well as employees of the ISA who have an interest in the
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matters being voted on. In practice, any employee wishing to take part in the
discussions of the board may attend and be heard by the board. Meetings are also
open to any employee wishing to simply hear the proceedings. Voting is by a simple
show of hands by the members of the board. Meeting proceedings are recorded and
transcribed.

Members and Employees
The Chairman of the governing board of the ISA is also in effect the ISA's chief
executive officer. This is a full time job (as opposed to the other members of th e
governing board) and the Chairman's post carries significant influence over the policy
of the ISA in all areas of its operation along with a public profile within Israel and its
capital market. The Chairman represents the ISA nationally and internationally and
signs agreements in the ISA's name.

The employees of the ISA are strictly speaking not civil servants since the ISA is not
a government department but a corporation owned by the government. However, the
Securities Law specifies in Section 10 that "the engagement, appointment, terms of
employment, remuneration and benefits of employees of the ISA shall be those of
civil servants."

The restrictions mentioned above in relation to who may be appointed to the board
also apply to all employees, although employees are appointed internally and not by
the Minister.

Strict rules on the right to purchase securities apply to both board members and
employees of the ISA. Broadly, all securities held by a person at the time of his or her
appointment must be declared and any transaction thereafter requires a permit from
the Minister in the case of a board member and from the Chairman in the case of an
employee.

ISA Departments
The ISA is organized along functional lines into ten departments responsible for its
day to day work. These are:
 Corporate Finance Department
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 Department of International Affairs
 Department of Supervision over the Secondary Market
 Economics Department
 Enforcement Department
 Information Systems Department
 Investigations Department
 Legal Counsel Department
 Investments Department
 Research & Intelligence Department
Below is a brief outline of the duties of each department.

The Corporate Finance Department
The Corporate Finance Department handles all the reports and disclosures that
corporations submit under the Securities Law
The Department‘s staff, which includes a high percentage of accountants and lawyers,
carries out real time monitoring of annual, interim and immediate (i.e. event
triggered) reports.

This monitoring includes an assessment and examination of the reports from a legal,
accounting and economic perspective, with emphasis on the level of disclosure in the
reports, compliance with the requirements of the Securities Law and the detailed
regulations stemming from it and enforcement of applicable accounting rules.

The department's staff analyses complex and often interrelated legal and accounting
issues and identifies any failures that require the intervention of the Authority.

A special effort is devoted to preventative action on the basis of intelligence
information and the Department works closely in this respect with the Research and
Intelligence Department of the Authority.
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The Department was one of the driving forces behind the setting up of Magna, the
Authority's electronic web-based reporting infrastructure (see Information Systems
Department below) and provides ongoing support for companies using the system.

As the department responsible for monitoring all disclosures by public companies the
Corporate Finance Department is heavily involved in the enforcement process. By
means of sophisticated auditing tools, the enforcement measures it has at its disposal
and its cooperation with both the Research and Intelligence Department and the
Investigations Department, the Corporate Finance Department is responsible for the
high quality of reporting by public companies in Israel and the protection this gives to
investors.

Among its other functions, the department is involved in examining and authorizing
prospectuses of corporations and bodies that offer securities to the public in order to
ascertain, inter alia, whether the level of disclosure therein meets the standards set by
law and regulation.

With regard to immediate reports, the department typically examines reports about
transactions with controlling shareholders, private offerings, purchase offers, debt
arrangements and merger reports.
Within the framework of dealing with these reports the Department‘s staff is required
to deal with complex valuations of companies or share prices. When faced with such
tasks the Department examines the economic models underlying the valuations, the
degree of fact disclosure, the assumptions adopted for the purpose of the valuation
and the reasonableness thereof. It is constantly on guard to ensure fair disclosure.

The Department works closely with the Authority's Legal Counsel to provide support
for legislative procedures and initiatives and is the source of much of the legislation in

this area. In addition the department is involved in providing support for civil
proceedings to which the Authority is a party.

The Department also represents the ISA before the Israeli Accounting Standards
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Board, articulating the ISA's position on a variety of accounting issues including
standardization.

As part of its service to the reporting community, the Department allows reporting
bodies and their accountants and lawyers to contact it in order to receive a pre-ruling,
within a supervised framework, on matters relating to reporting in order to ascertain
the Department‘s position before the accountant and/or lawyer submits the formal
report to the ISA.

The Department of International Affairs
The Department of International Affairs is responsible for the implementation of the
ISA's policy of integrating the Israeli capital market with global markets. Its main
focus is naturally on regulatory integration and harmonization, however the
department does also seek to enhance foreign investor activity in Israel and to
encourage foreign financial institutions to become active in the Israeli market. A
strong example of the ISA's commitment to integration is the recent adoption of IFRS
accounting standards for public companies. This is also being augmented by the
implementation of the XBRL international reporting language.

The ISA has prioritized its policy of international integration as a strategic goal and
therefore the international dimension is considered in relation to all regulatory issues.
The Department of International Affairs thus takes an active part in the formulation
and preparation or legislative initiatives and is one of the main sources within the ISA
of new policy formulation on a wide range of issues. This work often involves
research into various aspects of securities law in markets around the world involving
direct contact and assistance from foreign regulatory authorities.

The department represents the ISA in international forums. The most important of
these is the International Organisation of Securities Commissions (IOSCO) in which
the ISA is an active participant. The ISA is a member of a number of important

IOSCO committees. These are the Screening Group, responsible for screening
applications to become signatories to the IOSCO Multilateral Memorandum of
Understanding Concerning Consultation and Cooperation and the Exchange of
Information (MMoU), the Monitoring Group which is mandated to monitor the
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MMoU and its influence on inter-authority cooperation and the IOSCO Task Force on
Corporate Governance. In addition the ISA together with the Polish regulatory
authority was recently mandated within the Enforcement Forum to create a
questionnaire on "fit and proper" requirements for corporate personnel. In addition,
the department organized the ISA's successful bid to host the 2009 IOSCO Annual
Conference which will take place in Tel Aviv in May/June 2009.

On a day to day basis, the department centralizes the handling of all the international
aspects of the ISA's work. The department is responsible for general contacts with
international supervisory bodies and foreign securities authorities, for example
requests for assistance both from and to the ISA, under the IOSCO MMoU are
coordinated by the department.

Department of Supervision of the Secondary Market
The Department of Supervision of the Secondary Market coordinates and carries out
the control and supervision pertaining to the proper and fair management of the TASE
and of trading in securities listed thereon. The department's authority and the scope of
its duties stem primarily from Chapter 8 of the Securities Law. This Chapter defines
the supervisory authority of the ISA vis-à-vis the TASE, its trading rules and internal
procedures, the activities of its board of directors and management, and the stability
and ongoing activities of the exchange.

The department is also responsible to ensure ongoing oversight of the activities of the
Stock Exchange Clearing House (SECH) which acts as central depository and is a
wholly owned subsidiary of the TASE, including compliance of the SECH with the
requirements imposed upon its payment system.

The Department of Supervision also ensures that TASE's own supervision of its
members is being effectively carried out, is concentrating on major issues and uses the

appropriate auditing tools in order to minimize possible failures and risks in the
activities of the stock exchange members.

In their role as observers, the representatives of the Department of Supervision
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endorse the rules regulating the activities of the TASE's board of directors, the various
TASE departments and its various committees.

Another important aspect of the department's work is direct supervision of trading on
TASE. The purpose of this supervision is to ensure the maintenance of orderly trading
and to identify and analyze irregular transactions adversely affecting the trade on the
stock exchange which might indicate market manipulation or the use of insider
information in breach of the Securities Law. Trade supervision is carried out by
means of computerized monitoring and control systems developed by the ISA. Upon
becoming aware of suspicious trading activity the department passes the information
to the Intelligence Department which then widens further the investigation and
decides whether the circumstances warrant passing the file to the Investigations
Department. The Intelligence Department also provides professional assistance and
information to the Office of the District Attorney and other ISA departments.
Within the framework of the ISA‘s supervision over the proper and fair management
of the stock exchange, the ISA‘s recommendation to the Minister of Finance is
required as a precondition to making any changes in the stock exchange regulations.

Economics Department
The Economics Department‘s role is to provide information and advice on economic
matters to the Chairman of the ISA and the various departments. Unlike most ISA
departments, the Economics Department was not established in order to implement
and enforce specific requirements under the law but in response to the need within the
ISA for high quality and timely economic information.
The department takes an active part in various aspects of the ISA‘s work including
supervision of trading on the stock exchange, formulation of the stock exchange rules,
work on new kinds of financial instruments and preparation of the ISA‘s annual
budget.

The department is also involved in the development and maintenance of databases and
computerized indices connected with TASE trading. These are used by the ISA for
assessment of the impact of ISA decisions on trading and various other events. The
department is involved in the development, operation and supervision of the
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computerized systems for identifying unusual or suspicious activity in securities
trading, and it is continually inspecting the system in order to test its effectiveness and
its suitability for new financial instruments, new trading technologies, and the
sophisticated trading methods of investors.

In addition, one of the important tasks of the department is practical research,
focusing on an analysis of developments in the capital market as a whole and TASE
in particular. The research work is used, inter alia, for supervising the capital market
and occasionally forms a basis for legislative initiatives. Research issues have
included, inter alia, an examination of the efficiency of the capital market vis-à-vis
the publication of information to the public, the effectiveness of the methods of
trading on the stock exchange and the effect of the control structure in companies on
the share prices and business results.

Enforcement Department
The task of the Enforcement Department is to examine events and cases that are
discovered in the course of the ISA‘s work, or from other sources, which justify the
ISA taking enforcement measures.

The Department provides legal guidance for the work of the Investigations
Department, coordinates between various departments of the ISA on matters where
enforcement is required, maintains contacts with the District Attorney‘s office
regarding criminal investigations and the filing of indictments, assists with criminal
proceedings and also provides assistance for civil proceedings that are handled by the
Tel-Aviv District-Attorney or by the State Attorney, where the ISA is a party.

In addition, the personnel of the Enforcement Department are involved in the
legislative process, particularly in the field of criminal enforcement, both at the
Ministry of Justice and at the Knesset. They participate in various economic
enforcement forums where senior personnel in a number of bodies that investigate

economic offenses within Israel discuss joint issues and solve joint problems. The
Enforcement Department assists securities authorities abroad in providing
information, in so far as possible, under Israeli law and often within the scope of
MoUs relating to the exchange of information.
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Two additional areas of activity in which the department is involved are trading
control and class actions.

The department evaluates explanations given for unusual trading activity. In those
instances where unusual activity occurs and the company‘s explanation is deemed
insufficient, the matter is referred to the Reporting Center for further clarification. In
cases where there is a prima facie suspicion that an offence has been committed, the
case is referred to the Research and Intelligence Department for consideration of
whether to take further proceedings.

The ISA is authorized by the Securities Law to finance class actions. The Director of
Enforcement's role in this process involves formulating recommendations to the
members of the ISA's Board. These recommendations will relate to applications the
ISA has received to finance class actions, monitoring the proceedings of the actions
and examining the necessity for the attendance of the Attorney-General‘s office in
connection with class action cases that have ramifications for the efficiency and
effectiveness of the class action mechanism.

Information Systems Department
The department is responsible for developing and maintaining a number of computer
systems that are crucial to the work of the ISA. These are the ISA‘s official Internet
site, the data systems for managing investigations (AGATHA) which is used by the
Enforcement Department; the web based electronic reporting system (MAGNA)
which is used by all those reporting on the capital market, the general public and the
employees of the Authority; the operating system which holds most of the information
on the various subjects handled by the Authority — information about corporations,
mutual funds, investment counsel and portfolio managers, trading figures, trading
supervision and identifying unusual activity on TASE, data which is used for
economic research and bookkeeping information.

Investigations Department
The role of the Investigations department is to investigate any suspicion of an offence
under the Securities Law, the Joint Investment Trust Law, or the Investment Law.
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An investigation file is transferred for processing by the Investigations Department on
instruction of the ISA chairman. It is completed when the investigation file is sent to
the District Attorney, together with a recommendation to file an indictment or to close
the file. The recommendation by the ISA‘s chairman is made following consultation
with the directors of the Investigations Department and the Enforcement Department.

The Department also conducts legal investigations under Chapter 9B of the Securities
Law, at the request of foreign regulators in accordance with international MoUs on
information sharing and under the International Legal Assistance Law, 5758-1998.

Legal Counsel Department
The Legal Counsel Department is responsible for all legal aspects of the ISA's activity
and is headed by the Chief Legal Advisor.

The staff of the Legal Counsel Department is divided into various units that assist in
the ongoing activity of the ISA and are involved in preparing primary and secondary
legislation.
The ISA‘s lawyers are involved in examining prospectuses and financial statements of
corporations and mutual funds, and they typically deal with immediate reports under
the Conflicting Interests Regulations, the Private Offerings Regulations and the
Purchase Offer Regulations.

In addition, the lawyers at the ISA participate in regulating the activities of the stock
exchange and in supervising and regulating the activities of investment advisors and
investment portfolio managers. They also take part in the advisory process conducted
by various government departments with the ISA.

The Legal Counsel Department provides legal advice to ISA management and staff in
all the areas under the ISA‘s responsibility, including the representation of the ISA
before the courts in certain matters and providing support for civil proceedings to
which the ISA is a party.
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The Investment Department
The department deals with the Licensing and Supervision of Investment Advisors and
Investment Portfolio Managers and with the supervision of Mutual Funds.

The licensing and supervision of investment advice and investment portfolio
managers is done pursuant to the Regulation of Investment Law, with supervision
being dealt with by the Prohibition of Money Laundering Law as well.

In the context of granting licenses, the department arranges professional
examinations, handles requests for exemptions from examinations, and coordinates
the registration of apprentices. In the context of supervising licensees, the department
arranges inspections under the Investment Law and the Money Laundering Law,
supervises the filing of reports by licensees with the ISA, and deals with suspected
breaches of the law.

The department initiates and handles draft amendments to the Investment Law and the
regulations enacted there under. In addition, the department has been involved in
assisting with legislation, enforcement and implementation of anti-money laundering
measures. Within this framework the department cooperates fully with other
supervisory bodies (the Bank of Israel, the Ministry of Justice, the Ministry of
Finance and the police) and assists the Ministry of Justice in preparing documents that
are sent to international bodies (the FATF and the IMF) for the purpose of examining
Israel‘s compliance with international standards on the question of the war against
money laundering.

Mutual Fund Supervision
Typical supervisory measures of the department include examining mutual fund
prospectuses that are filed with the ISA in order to receive a publication permit; an
electronic warning system that on a monthly basis identifies deviations from the

provisions of the law relating to permitted holdings of funds; monitoring a
computerized daily warning system that examines the reasonableness of the daily
change in unit prices; examination of immediate (i.e. event triggered) reports filed
with the ISA by mutual funds; initiating legislation that regulates mutual fund activity
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and imposing civil fines for breaches of instructions.

The computerized warning system is based on monthly reports that are filed with the
ISA by mutual fund managers for each fund that they manage and on additional data
in the possession of the ISA.

The monthly reports include data regarding the assets held by the funds on the last
trading day of each month and their activity during the month.

The Department's employees, with the assistance of the legal department, prepare the
infrastructure for changes in legislation that regulates the activity of the funds. The
need for such adjustment is a result of changes in the capital market, for example, the
integration of the Israeli market in the global capital markets; the introduction of new
financial instruments into trading on TASE and changes in TASE trading methods.

Research & Intelligence Department
The function of the department is to locate and expose criminal activity on the capital
market in order to forestall it, when possible, or in order to adopt enforcement
measures. In addition, the department channels information, when needed, to various
departments in the ISA. This information assists the other departments in carrying out
their duties.

The department carries out ongoing data collection from various sources relating to
the capital market. The data is examined, analyzed and assessed by members of the
department, using computer systems and databases in Israel and abroad. As a result of
the initial assessment, further intelligence actions are taken, if necessary, to
corroborate, authenticate or refute the information that was examined, while ensuring
the secrecy of the investigation and its nature.

The collection, analysis and assessment of data is done in order to determine if there
is a prima facie suspected breach of legal provisions that the ISA is responsible to
enforce, and in order to identify the parties suspected of the breach.
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If evidence is found to support such a suspicion, the facts and the legal basis are
presented to the ISA‘s chairman, together with a recommendation to refer the
handling of the case to the Investigations Department, or, alternatively, to adopt other
enforcement measures.

ISA Accountability
The framework for accountability of the ISA for its decisions and actions is designed
to protect those persons and companies that are subject to ISA regulation as well as
any third party that believes it has been injured by any decision or action of the ISA.
Redress for such entities is to the District Court. The Securities Law in section 14A
declares that "someone who considers himself injured by a decision of the ISA may
appeal it to the District Court."

Similarly, under the Joint Investment Trust Law, many of ISA decisions are subject to
appeal by the person or entity affected. For example, refusal to grant a license to a
mutual fund or trustee of a mutual fund, refusal to grant permission for an entity to
hold more than thirty percent of the means of control in a mutual fund manager,
revocation of a fund or trustee license, an order to liquidate all or part of the means of
control in a fund, disqualification of voting rights or the right to appoint directors of a
person holding the means of control without a proper license, disqualification of votes
cast by a person that holds the means of control of a fund without a proper license,
cancellation of the appointment of a director of a fund, refusal to grant a permit to
publish a mutual fund prospectus, an order of the ISA to include specified information
in a prospectus, an order to provide to the ISA a written explanation, details,
information or documents with regard to a prospectus and an order to amend a report.

All these decisions of the ISA and others are subject to section 95 of the Joint
Investments Trust Law which sets out standard appeal procedures to the court.

In terms of accountability to political organs, the ISA whilst often working with the
Minister of Finance and the Knesset (particularly the Knesset Finance Committee
which is the parliamentary standing committee responsible for securities legislation)
is not directly accountable to the these organs for its decisions. The Minister is not
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empowered by the law to overturn decisions of the ISA when overseeing the market
and, as mentioned above, this power lies with the courts alone.

The ISA is required to publish an annual report of its activities to the Minister and the
Knesset Finance Committee; however it is not required to report or explain its
decisions and actions to the Minister or Knesset Finance Committee on an ongoing
basis. Broadly speaking, the law is more concerned with maintaining a separation
between the ISA and the political sphere. This situation is complemented by the wide
powers granted in the law to challenge the ISA in court.

1.3 Historical influences on the current corporate governance system
The many changes that the Israeli capital market has undergone since the mid-1980s
can be divided into five categories: 1
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1. Integration into the global capital market: In the 1990‘s, restrictions on
movements in the capital market were gradually removed. At the beginning of
2005, taxation on domestic and foreign investments was brought into line. This
allowed for a great flow of foreign investment and capital into the Israeli
economy. At the same time, Israelis investments abroad grew in significant
quantities, in order to spread risk in the globalization era.
2. Allocation of sources: The capital market has moved from a situation where it
was controlled by the government – in its allocation of credit to industries and in
companies' ability to raise funds, as well as setting the asset portfolios of
institutional investors and others – to a situation today where savers and investors
allocate their resources based on consideration of yield, risk and liquidity. Today,
the government competes in the market for funds, creating benchmarks.
There is one remnant of the old era: The pension funds must still invest 30 percent
of their assets in specially designated bonds.
3. Increasing competition and reducing potential conflict of interest: The
competition for granting credit and managing the public's assets has increased and
the potential conflict of interest in the capital market has fallen markedly. The
Bachar reforms (as detailed below) greatly reduced the banks' involvement in the
capital market.
4. Taxation: As part of the income tax reforms, many distortions in the field of tax
concerning investors and various assets were removed. There still remains a
difference in taxation between indexed and unindexed interest rates, and capital
gains from indexed and unindexed assets.
5. Development of sophisticated financial instruments: The capital market has
become more complex and sophisticated. More sophisticated financial instruments
and trading methods have been developed. The capital market – which in the past
comprised mainly CPI-indexed government bonds, most of which were nontradable – today offers a range of financial instruments: long-term unindexed
bonds, corporate bonds, options, futures and others. After the legislation of the
1

Taken from a speech of the Governor of the Bank of Israel, Mr. Stanley Fisher, made at 13/6/07.

Financial Agreements Law, a significant obstacle to the development of the Repo
market was removed. At the same time, the method of trading on the stock
exchange has changed from multi-party trading to two-party electronic trading,
and market makers have also begun operating.
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These changes reflect, among other things, the increased proportion of tradable assets
in the public's monetary assets portfolio, from 34 percent in June 1995, for example,
to 52 percent in March 2007. The share of Israelis' assets abroad also grew in this
period, from 1 percent of the total portfolio to 8 percent. Trading volumes on the
capital and forex markets have grown. Share volumes jumped from NIS 124 million a
day in June 1995 to some NIS 2 billion a day in June 2007. At the same time, trading
volumes of government bonds have ballooned from NIS 56 million a day to some NIS
2 billion a day. Trading volumes in the forex market have jumped from $241 million a
day to $2.2 billion a day in the same period.

Since the enactment of the Law to Encourage Competition and Reduce Concentration
and Conflicts of Interests in Israel's Capital Market (Legislative Amendments) – 2005
("The Bachar Reform"), the potential for conflicts of interest between institutional
investment management and other banking or investment banking activities has been
greatly reduced. The law mandated the divestment of mutual and provident fund
management from the commercial banks. These, through the universal banking
system dominated commercial banking, consumer credit, investment banking, asset
management and investment advisory services industries. Since enactment of the law,
virtually all mutual fund management activity has been divested from the bank and
approximately 65% of the provident funds have been divested.
The Companies Law – 1999 went into effect at the beginning of 2000. The law was
innovative and codified within it many provisions regarding corporate governance. In
contrast to many countries in which most of the provisions relating to corporate
governance are included in voluntary codes with which there is no legal obligation to
comply (other than a requirement to "adopt or disclose", meaning explain in the event
of non-compliance with such provisions), in the Israeli legal system, the provisions
relating to corporate governance are established in the Companies Law which is a

binding statute and non-compliance with its provisions constitutes grounds for a civil
suit.

The Ministry of Justice and the Securities Authority are currently compiling a new
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addition to the Companies Law that apart from the corporate governance principles
determined in the Companies Law, will include recommended principles for corporate
governance whose adoption will be voluntary and will prescribe a disclosure
requirement regarding their adoption.

Please note that, as of today, an ISA publication recommends the form of disclosure
in respect of the adoption of corporate governance regulations which the Securities
Authority regards as suitable. Apart from the matters stipulated in the Companies
Law, the disclosure is subject to the company‘s discretion and is not mandatory.

PART C
CHAPTERS OF THE PRINCIPLES
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Chapter I:
Ensuring the basis for an effective corporate governance framework
1.3.1 – Principle 1.A
“The corporate governance framework should be developed with a view to its impact
on overall economic performance, market integrity and the incentives it creates for
market participants and the promotion of transparent and efficient markets”.

This principle focuses on the overall corporate governance framework. As the
methodology states, principle 1A is concerned with how the markets and the
corporate governance framework functions as a whole, which includes factors such as
the operation of the stock exchange, market surveillance etc. (Methodology for
assessing the implementation of the OECD principles of corporate governance,
Section 34).

1. Market Surveillance
As mentioned above, the ISA is responsible to ensure the maintenance of orderly
trading in the market. This mission is carried out by the Department of Supervision of
the Secondary Market, who coordinates and carries out the control and supervision
pertaining to the proper and fair management of the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange
(TASE) and of trading in securities listed thereon. The department's authority and the
scope of its duties originate primarily from Chapter 8 of the Securities Law. This
Chapter defines the supervisory authority of the ISA vis-à-vis the TASE, its trading
rules and internal procedures, the activities of its board of directors and management,
and the stability and ongoing activities of the exchange.

The department is also responsible to ensure ongoing oversight of the activities of the
Stock Exchange Clearing House (SECH) which acts as central depository and is a

wholly owned subsidiary of the TASE including compliance of the SECH with the
requirements imposed upon its payment system.

The Department of Supervision also ensures that TASE's own supervision of its
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members is being effectively carried out, is concentrating on major issues and uses the
appropriate auditing tools in order to minimize possible failures and risks in the
activities of the stock exchange' members.

In their role as observers, the representatives of the Department of Supervision
endorse the rules regulating the activities of the TASE's board of directors, the various
TASE departments and its various committees.

Another important aspect of the department's work is direct supervision of trading on
TASE. The purpose of this supervision is to ensure the maintenance of orderly trading
and to identify and analyze irregular transactions adversely affecting the trade on the
stock exchange which might indicate market manipulation or the use of insider
information in breach of the Securities Law. Trade supervision is carried out by
means of computerized monitoring and control systems developed by the ISA. Upon
becoming aware of suspicious trading activity the department passes the information
to the Intelligence Department who will widen the investigation and decide whether
the circumstances warrant passing the file to the Investigations Department. The
Department also provides professional assistance and information to the Office of the
District Attorney and other ISA' departments.
Within the framework of the ISA‘s supervision over the proper and fair management
of the stock exchange, the ISA‘s recommendation to the Minister of Finance is
required as a precondition to making any changes in the stock exchange regulations.
In addition, the ISA‘s approval is also required when the stock exchange proposes to
enact rules that include details regarding various items in the regulations.

2. The Operation of the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange
Investments in Israeli publicly traded securities centres exclusively on the Tel Aviv
stock exchange (TASE) which is the only licensed stock exchange in Israel.

Governance Structure of the TASE
TASE is a Limited Liability Company. TASE is limited by its members guarantee
with no share capital.
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Pursuant to the Israeli Securities Law, 1968, the TASE obtained a license form the
Minister of Finance to operate a stock exchange, and become subject to the
supervision of the Israel Securities Authority.

The TASE is managed and administered by a Board of Directors comprising of 16
directors.

Under the Law, the majority of the Board must be directors unrelated to TASE
Members. (―External Directors‖)

Five External Directors are selected by an appointment committee headed by a judge,
as stipulated by the Law. One director is appointed by the Minister of Finance, and
one director is appointed by the Governor of the Bank of Israel.

The Chairman of the Board of Directors is elected by the Board, with the approval of
the Chairman of the Israel Securities Authority. The Chairman must fulfill the
qualification requirements for an External Director. In addition, the CEO of the TASE
is a non voting director, and must comply with the qualification requirements for an
external director.
Seven directors are selected by the TASE members, according to the TASE‘s Articles
of Incorporation.

A range of financial investments are traded on TASE:
Shares
Securities convertible into shares – warrants and convertible bonds issued by the
issuer of the shares in question and call options on shares usually issued by
intermediaries.

Debt – Government bonds of various types, Makams (T-bills) and corporate bonds.
The four types of bonds offered by the government are:
Shahar -

Unlinked fixed-rate bonds.

Gilon

Unlinked floating-rate bonds. The floating rate is determined

-
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according to a weighted average of yields to maturity of
Makams (Israeli T-Bills) at 3-12 months to maturity.
Galil

-

Gilboa -

CPI-linked fixed-rate bonds.
US Dollar-linked bonds.

A Makam (Israeli Treasury Bill) is a short-term loan issued by the Bank of Israel and
backed by the Israeli government with a maturity of less than one year. T-Bills are
zero-coupon bonds issued at a discount.
Debt is rated in Israel by two rating firms – Maalot (affiliated with S&P) and Midroog
(affiliated with Moody's).
Index products – Several types of index products are traded on TASE. By far the
most popular and successful are basket certificates but also available are commodity
certificates, reverse certificates, covered warrants and complex certificates. The term
complex certificates includes certificates that track multiple indices, leveraged
certificates on a given index or index-linked notes tracking variable indices
Derivatives – traded on the MAOF market and cleared through the MAOF Clearing
House, these include traded options on the TA-25 Index, the Shekel-Dollar exchange
rate, the Shekel-Euro exchange rate, and the TA-Banks Index, futures on the three
month interest rate and Shahar bonds,

Trading on TASE
(Information below can be found on TASE website: www.tase.co.il)
TACT (Tel-Aviv Continuous Trading) is the TASE‘s automated system for
continuous and simultaneous trading. All securities and derivatives detailed above
trade via the TACT system. The system is based on a computerized order book

accessible to all investors (order-driven), similar to the trading systems used by
European stock exchanges.

TACT was launched in 1997, and gradually replaced the previous method of
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integrated trading on the floors and computerized systems. TACT-Derivatives was
introduced in October 1999.

TACT enables transparent trading, so that at anytime all investors can see the same
detailed and accurate picture of trading in real time.

Continuous trading is carried out between the various TASE members, who transmit
trading orders on behalf of their customers. TASE members‘ central computers are
connected to the trading computer, so that for example bank branch employees can
transmit orders online. Most TASE members (banks and non-deposit taking
intermediaries) enable their customers to transmit trading orders via the Internet and
through other computerized means.

TACT employs backup systems to ensure trading may continue without malfunctions
and interruptions. These include a hot backup facility located off-site, at a distance
from Tel Aviv.

TASE operates a system called TACT-Institutional for trading bonds and convertible
bonds issued to institutional investors only without a prospectus.

Trading on the TACT-Institutional system uses a method similar to trading in bonds
issued to the public (TACT-Bonds), but only institutional investors participate. The
establishment of the TACT-Institutional system represents the implementation of the
Bachar Committee recommendations that refer to the need for a trading system that
allows institutional entities to trade in bonds of this type among themselves.

Listing of bonds on the TACT-Institutional system does not involve compliance with
any regulatory obligations on the part of the issuers. The TACT -Institutional system
provides liquidity to bond holders and improves flexibility in their investment
management, while preserving anonymity during trading.

The TACT system includes a number of mechanisms designed to protect investors:

Circuit breakers
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TASE uses ―circuit breakers‖ which are general trading halts in cases of a sharp
fluctuation in the TA-25 index whereby all trading is interrupted.

In the case of a plus or minus 8% change in the TA-25 index relative to the base
index, a temporary halt for 45 minutes occurs in trading in equities, convertible
securities as well as derivatives of shares and stock indices. However, if the change
reaches plus or minus 8% again after the trading halt, there will not be another such
halt.

In case of a plus or minus 12% change in the TA-25 index relative to the base index,
trading in equities, convertible securities and derivatives of shares and stock indices is
halt until the end of the trading day. The TASE CEO may also halt trading in other
securities traded on the TASE.

Trading Halts on specific securities
When an essential announcement is published regarding a specific security, a 45minute trading halt occurs, in order to allow investors time to reconsider their orders
in light of the new information.

The trading halt may be extended by an additional 45 minutes, or to the end of the
trading day. During the extension of the trading halt, only limit orders may be
submitted, as well as orders to amend or cancel orders submitted before the trading
halt. Other types of orders are rejected.

Unusual orders
Price fluctuations are unlimited during the continuous trading. In order to prevent
errors in trading as a result of mistyped orders during the continuous trading phase,
the TACT system has filters that block orders at unusual prices (suspected errors).
These must be approved by a TASE trading supervisor before entering the exchange.

An order is considered unusual if there is a difference of 35% or more between the
order price and the price of the last transaction executed

Illiquid Securities
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In line with the recommendations of the Committee for Studying Options for
Minimizing Fraud in the Capital Market – set up by the Israel Securities Authority
(ISA) in cooperation with TASE – a list of illiquid securities has been established in
order to reduce the risk that price manipulation will occur in relation to such
securities.

The list of illiquid securities is updated twice a year on the basis of the liquidity of the
securities over the six months preceding the record dates on which the list is updated.
The list has been operational since August 12, 2007.

A security will be entered in the illiquid securities list if a combination of the
following three conditions exists:
 The median trading volume for the six months in question was less than
NIS 2,000.
 The daily trading volume for the six months in question was less than NIS
20,000.
 The security has been traded on TASE for more than six months.

A security will not be included in the illiquid securities list if one or more of the
following conditions applies:
 A market-maker has been appointed for the security.
 The security is included in the maintenance list (see below).
 The security has been suspended.

Warrants for a stock included in the illiquid securities list will also be included in the
list.

Securities may be added or removed from the list at any time if for example, an
intermediary starts or ceases acting as a market maker for that security.

Continuous trading in securities on the illiquid securities list do not take place and
these securities are traded in a call-auction phase twice a day, during the opening
phase and the closing phase.
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Maintenance List
TASE also employs Maintenance Rules. These are the minimal requirements that a
security must meet in order to remain listed on TASE. The Maintenance Rules are
based on TASE‘s listing criteria (see below). Non-compliance with them can result in
the transfer of a security to the Maintenance List and may lead to its delisting from the
TASE.

Securities on the Maintenance List are traded in a limited format and are marked by
the letter ―M‖ added to the company name and the security name.

Under the Maintenance Rules, each class of a listed company's share must comply
with all of the following requirements:
 Public-Float Value – no less than NIS 5 million.
 Public-Float Rate – no less than 15% of the share capital (only if the publicfloat value is less than NIS 15 million).
 Equity – no less than NIS 2 million, based on the released last four successive
financial statements (only if the public-float value is less than NIS 24 million).

Short selling
Equities, Index Linked Notes (ILNs), bonds, and T-bills can be sold short on the
TASE. Short selling balances have steadily increased over recent years.

The main reasons for the growth in short selling volumes are related to the increased
supply of securities for loan. This is the result of a number of factors including greater
awareness by financial institutional of the advantages of earning borrowing fees on
the balance of securities they hold and the fact that TASE allows the creation of
lending pools by TASE members. In the latter case the financial institutional can
agree a ―general loan note‖ with customers allowing the customers to place securities

they own within the pool and also borrow other securities from the pool. This method
allows lending transactions to be handled without the need for a separate agreement
for each deal.
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TASE members report to the TASE each week on all short sale transactions, as well
as on short sales covered.

TACT and Market makers
In 2003, the TACT system was adapted to the integration of market makers in the
trading process. The market makers place buy and sell orders (quotes) into the order
book at a maximum spread and a minimum amount, throughout all trading hours on
the exchange. Market makers operate under the existing TACT rules, with no priority
whatsoever over other investors in terms of trading or information, as in most
European markets. At the close of 2007, seven TASE members were making markets
for more than 400 securities.

3. Disclosure and Transparency
Disclosure
See a detailed description of disclosure requirements and procedures in Chapter
V.

Transparency of the Legislation Process

Effective Consultation with Public Representatives
Israel‘s legislative processes are transparent and all government entities are allowed to
make comments to government representatives and to the Ministers Committee on
Legislative Matters. The processes also allow the public in general and relevant
entities to make comments to government representatives and to the legislature during
Knesset committee debates.

In Israel, the government has the power to initiate legislation (hereina fter: "a
government proposed bill"), as do members of the Knesset (hereinafter: "the private
member‘s bills").

A government proposed bill is distributed as a memorandum among the government
ministries, who have the right to make their comments within 21 days from the date
on which the memorandum is published (other than in special circumstances in which
the period for comments may be shortened). After the comments are examined and
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formulated, the Ministers Committee for Legislation discusses it, and after the
committee approves it, it is published as a proposed bill in the government register, to
allow the general public to offer comments. The proposed bill includes explanatory
notes. After it is published, the proposed bill is placed before the Knesset and after a
period of time which is intended to allow the Knesset members to study the bill, it is
put up for a first reading in the Knesset plenary. After the first reading it is given to
one of the Knesset committees for discussion and the public may make its comments
during the discussion. After the discussion in the Knesset committee, the proposed bill
is again placed before the Knesset and put up for its second and third readings before
the plenary.
A private member‘s bill is submitted for review by the relevant government
ministries, which in turn transmit their comments to the Ministers Committee for
Legislation. The Ministers Committee effectively determines the government‘s
position regarding the proposed bill – whether or not to support it in a preliminary
reading. The proposal is submitted to the Knesset plenary for a preliminary reading
and afterwards, if it is approved, it is published in the government register, along with
explanatory notes, and submitted to a Knesset committee for discussion and for
preparation for a first reading. The other stages of its treatment are identical to those
of a government proposed bill.

Regulations are enacted by the responsible minister. There is no formal process for
distributing draft regulations to the general public, although in most cases, the
professionals involved distribute the draft to the relevant parties through the website
of the government entity which has formulated the regulations, so as to receive the
public‘s comments. Most of the regulations that are enacted pursuant to the Securities
Law require the approval of the Knesset Finance Committee.

All regulations enacted pursuant to the Companies Law require the approval of the
Knesset Committee on the Constitution, Law and Justice. Interested parties from the
general public may participate in the Knesset committee discussions.
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1.3.2 – Principle I.B
“The legal and regulatory requirements that affect corporate governance practices in
a jurisdiction should be consistent with the rule of law, transparent and enforceable”.
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Enforcement of Securities Laws and Companies Law
The Securities Authority is responsible for the enforcement of the Securities Law –
1968, the Joint Investment in Trust Law – 1994 and the Regulation of Investment
Advice and Investment Portfolio Management Law – 1995. It is also responsible for
administering the sections of the Prohibition of Money Laundering Law – 2000,
which pertain to the obligations of investment advisors, portfolio managers and nonbank stock exchange members

Violations of the Securities Law are subject to criminal prosecution. The ISA can
replace criminal prosecution with civil fines in some cases.

As for the other two laws, various administrative mechanisms have been adopted to
address violations. They have been put into force with regard to the supervision of
mutual fund managers and trustees and of licensed investment advisers and portfolio
managers.

Criminal enforcement
There are a large number of criminal sanctions that apply if various provisions of the
Securities Law are breached. The ISA is the body that in many cases discovers that an
offence has been committed and in all cases has the responsibility to investigate and
prosecute offences. The prosecuting attorneys, although stationed within the offices of
the State Prosecutor (The Tel-Aviv District Attorney's Office (tax and economic
crimes)), are ISA employees and work exclusively on securities related prosecutions
in conjunction with the ISA. Such offences are prosecuted before the courts and the
ISA does not have any jurisdiction to impose criminal sanctions.

The ISA has certain additional powers under the Securities Law designed to support
its ability to supervise the market and take enforcement action. Section 56A of the
Law empowers the ISA to demand from any person, including financial institutions,

any information or document that is related to the business of any corporation which
is subject to the Law or the Joint Investment in Trust Law -1994 including any
reports, books, accounts, certificates or any other document pertaining to their
businesses.
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The Investment Advice Law specifically refers to all the investigatory powers granted
to the ISA in sections 56A, 56B, 56C and 56E of the Securities Law and authorizes
the ISA to utilize them in order to fulfill its supervisory functions over investment
advisors, investment marketers and portfolio managers.

These sections of the Securities Law include certain powers normally reserved only
for the police such as the right to interrogate any person in a connection with a
violation and to order any such person to appear and submit to the ISA any item and
information relating to the said violation. Another police power available is the right
to apply to the courts for a warrant to search premises or any person.

The ISA is also empowered to carry out an on-site inspection of regulated companies
without a warrant and demand documents and information in order to protect
investors' interests. This power does not apply to a stock exchange, bank or an insurer.
For information to be obtained from banks or their clients, the ISA must get a court
order provided it can show grounds for this request.

The ISA may also apply to the courts for an injunction when it has reasonable
grounds to believe an offense is going to be committed.

Pursuant to section 56C (a) of the Law, when a suspicion of a possible violation of the
law is raised, a person designated by the ISA Chairman may interview any person
who, in his/her opinion, is connected to the investigation, and request any such person
to appear before him as witnesses and submit any information pertinent to the
investigation, including information pertaining to beneficial ownership of non-natural
entities.

Penalties under the Law
Securities Law – 1968
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Article

Violation

Maximum Penalty

52C

Insider trading

5 years imprisonment or fine up to 5
times that set in Article 61(A)(4) of
the Penal Code (202,000 NIS)

52D

Use of inside information by outsider

1 year imprisonment or fine up to
twice that set in Article 61(A)(4) of
the Penal Code (202,000 NIS)

53(a)

Violations of prescribed legal obligations,

3 years imprisonment or fine up to

failures to disclose or misleading

four times that set in Article 61(A)(3)

disclosure in prospectus, periodic or

of the Penal Code (67,300 NIS)

immediate filings with an intent to defraud
53(b)

Failure to comply with selected provisions

1 year imprisonment or fine up to

Of the Law

three times that set in Article 61(A)(2)
of the Penal Code (26,100 NIS)

53 (b1)

Violations by Israel Securities Authority

6 months imprisonment

Employees
53(c)

Infractions of various provisions of the Law

Fine up to three times that set in
Article 61(A)(1) of the Penal Code
(12,900 NIS)

54(a)(1) Inducing or attempting to induce another

5 years imprisonment or fine up to

to engage in a securities transaction based

five times that set in Article 61(A)(4)

on false or misleading claims or omissions

of the Penal Code (202,000 NIS)

54(a)(2) Stock price manipulation

5 years imprisonment or fine up to
five times that set in Article 61(A)(4)
of the Penal Code (202,000 NIS)

The Law for Regulating Investment Advice, Investment Marketing and Investment
Portfolio Management – 1995

Article

Violation

39 (A)

Engaging in investment advice, investment 2 years imprisonment or fine up to
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Maximum Penalty

marketing or investment portfolio

five times that set in Article

management without a license

61(A)(3) of the Penal Code

or employed a person not duly licensed
39 (B)

39 (C)

Violations by licensees of restrictions on

1 year imprisonment or fine up to

rights to personal securities holdings and

five times that set in Article 61(A)(2)

Transactions

of the Penal Code

Violations of licensee disclosure

Fine up to three times that set in

Requirements

Article 61(A)(1) of the Penal Code

Penal Code – 1977

Article

Violation

Maximum Penalty

392

Embezzlement by a manager

7 years imprisonment

393

Embezzlement by an authorized party
7 years imprisonment

415

Fraudulent acquisition

5 years imprisonment

418

Forgery

1 year

Forgery with intent to defraud

3 years

Severe forgery

5 years

420

Use of forged documents

Equivalent to Article 418 above

423

Falsification of corporate

5 years imprisonment

Documents
424

Manager/employee crimes
against corporations
1. Obstruction of corporation's
ability to meet obligations
2. Obstruction of proper
management of corporation

5 years imprisonment or fine

1 year imprisonment or fine
424A

Non disclosure of information and
3 years
publication
imprisonment
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of misleading information by a senior officer in
the corporation
425

Fraud and breach of duty in a

3 years imprisonment

Corporation

Companies Law
There is no criminal enforcement of the Companies Law. The Law uses an approach
based on contractual type obligations and hence on the ability of the individual
shareholder to independently enforce his rights as stipulated by the law, rather than on
a regulatory enforcement.

The Israeli Securities Authority, as a body who represent the public investors in
Israel, renders the indirect enforcement of the Companies Law, through the regulation
of disclosure requirements within its jurisdiction.

Civil Enforcement
Imposing fines
The Securities Law empowers the ISA to impose fines on regulated persons and
entities in certain circumstances. If the ISA has reason to believe that a regulated
entity has by its act or omission, breached any of a list of provisions, it may impose a
fine. The authority to impose fines is a relatively recent addition to the supervisory
measures at the ISA‘s disposal. All fines collected by the ISA are transferred to the
Treasury with no profit to the ISA itself.

The list of provisions the breach of which may result in a fine relate mainly to failures
to provide information to the ISA and the public and includes:
 An offer of securities to the public other than pursuant to a prospectus
authorized by the ISA.
 Failure to publish an amendment to a prospectus as ordered by the ISA.

 Failure to make public any report, notice, explanation, information, opinion or
document as required under Securities Law reporting requirements.
 Failure to submit any information demanded by the ISA to be included in
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financial statements or other report.
 Failure to make public the result of an offer of securities.
 Failure to place a public announcement in a newspaper when required.
 Failure to provide copies of documents for the public at the issuers head
office.

The ISA must inform the suspected offender in writing that it attends to impose a fine
and give the suspected offender an opportunity to refute the claims against it. If the
ISA decides to go ahead with the fine it must be paid within 30 days from the date of
its imposition. Late payments incur additional financial penalties.

As with all actions of the ISA the offender may appeal the fine to the courts although
this will not interrupt the said 30 day period unless the court so orders.

With regards to administrative proceedings for violations under the Regulation of
Investment Advice and Investment Portfolio Management Law -1995 (heretofore
Investment Advice Law), a number of administrative and disciplinary mechanisms
exist.
1) The ISA can impose administrative fines on investment advisors and portfolio
management firms and individuals that are delinquent in meeting filing
requirements.
2) A recently enacted amendment to the Investment Advice Law enables the ISA
to impose civil fines rather than initiate criminal prosecution or disciplinary
procedures.
3) For more serious violations of the Investment Advice Law, an external threemember Disciplinary Committee is convened to adjudicate proceedings.
(Investment Advice Law, Section 32). The committee is chaired by a person that is
qualified to serve as a District Court judge. The other two members are public
figures who are not civil servants or employees of the Israel Securities
Authority.

The ISA investigates alleged violations and, if warranted files a formal
complaint to the Committee, which is entitled to undertake one of five courses
of action: 1. issue a warning; 2. reprimand the licensee; or 3. impose a fine that
cannot exceed five times the amount set in Paragraph 61(A)(1) of the Penal
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Code; 4. suspend the licensee's license for a period of up to two years; 5.
revoke the license for a period of up to ten years.
4) The ISA has the authority to suspend or revoke the license of an investment
advisor/portfolio manager for any one of a number of reasons:
(a)

the license was granted to him on false pretense;

(b)

the licensee has ceased to meet one of the conditions upon which the
license was granted;

(c)

the licensee breached one of the conditions of the license;

(d)

a court or the Disciplinary Committee determined that the licensee
violated either the Investment Advice Law or other securities-related
laws

(e)

the licensee was declared bankrupt or legally incompetent, and if a
corporation, a temporary liquidation order has been issued or receiver
appointed, or decision of voluntary liquidation has been approved.

(f)

the licensee is convicted of a violation of a law other than the
Investment Advice Law if this violation has adverse implications for
the advisor's integrity and good standing.

(g)

the ISA believes that circumstances exist, which render the applicant
unfit to hold a license, as applicable, pertaining to professional
requirements, and in case of a corporation – circumstances exist, as
mentioned above, in regard to one of its corporate officers or
controlling shareholder;

Violations of the Prohibition against Money Laundering Law – 2000
The Israel Securities Authority is responsible for administering the Prohibition against
Money Laundering Law insofar as it pertains to ISA-regulated entities and activities.

Mutual Funds
Within the framework of civil enforcement of violations to the Joint Investment in
Trust Law, (heretofore ―JITL‖) the Israel Securities Authority levies civil fines as part

of its on-going supervision of the mutual fund industry (JITL, Section 114). Fines are
levied on fund managers or fund trustees when infractions of the JITL and its
regulations are committed in good faith. When violations are deemed intentional and
severe criminal proceedings are launched, although very few criminal proceedings
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have been initiated to date. The ISA initiates the administrative procedure and is
responsible for all aspects of it. The fine resulting from the process is paid to the
Treasury and not the ISA.

There are broadly three levels of fines depending on the provision of the law that has
been breached. Below are listed some examples of breaches at each level.
Section 114(a) – the ISA may impose a fine of NIS 38,700 for, inter alia, the
following breaches:


Failure to submit on time a copy of any report or notice as required by the
JILT;



Calculation of the value of the fund assets using a valuation method that does
not accord with section 43(b) of the JITL;



Failure to provide fund distributors with copies of the fund prospectus.

Section 114(b) – the ISA may impose a fine of NIS 77,400 for, inter alia, the
following breaches:


Employment by a fund manager of any person whose role includes making
investment decisions if that person is simultaneously employed in a similar
role by a different fund manager;



Publication of a fund prospectus prior to receipt of the ISA permit to do so;



Carrying out securities lending and/or short selling of fund assets other than as
authorized under section 63 of the JITL;

Section 114(c) – the ISA may impose a fine of NIS 154,800 for, inter alia, the
following breaches:


Sold or redeemed fund units at prices other than as determined in section 42 of
the JITL;



Holding ownership of the means of control of a fund without having received
an ISA permit;
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Investing in assets that are not in accordance with the stated investment policy
of the fund.

The procedure of investigating and administering the proceedings is as follows: the
staff responsible for civil fines compiles the information from accessible sources, such
as the monthly mutual fund filings, prospectuses, immediate reports, the media and
other information which is forwarded from the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange. The law
also empowers the ISA to appoint non-ISA staff (outsourcing) to audit a fund
manager or trustee (JITL, Section 97(c) and 129(b1)). The ISA then sends a letter of intent
to levy a fine to the mutual fund managers/trustees that are responsible for the alleged
infractions. The managers/trustees are given an opportunity to contest the charges and
can plead special circumstances in order to avoid imposition of the fine. These
arguments are submitted to the ISA's fine committee, which is comprised of ISA
members. The committee has the sole authority to exempt the fund manager/trustee
the payment of the fine as a result of the special circumstances stipulated. If the
committee rejects the manager/trustee's arguments, a citation is issued.

Aside from imposing fines, the ISA has a number of enforcement measures at its
disposal:


Authority to petition the courts to dismiss a trustee if the ISA believes its
actions are harmful to unit holders (JITL, Section 11(c)).



Authority to revoke the license to act as a fund manager and to demand that
the funds, managed by the disqualified manager be transferred to another fund
manager (JITL section 15(a) and (c), Section. 11(c));



Suspension from office of a corporate officer who has been indicted ( JITL,
Section 23a));



Request the court to remove from office a corporate officer who participated in
the debate and vote on an issue in which he or she has a personal interest ( JITL,
Section 81A);



Cancellation of the permit to hold the means of control in a fund manager
(JITL, Section 23(d)) and an order to transfer the aforesaid means of control to a

third party, or to abstain from exercising the rights stemming from the said
means of control (JITL, Section 23E(a) and (b), Section 23G(c));


Authority to halt the offer of units to the public. The chairman of the ISA, in
consultation with the Chairman of the Stock Exchange is authorized to halt the
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offer and redemption of units for a period of up to three days. This period may
be extended to seven days following consultation with the Capital Markets,
Insurance and Saving Commissioner. Further extensions of these time periods
require the approval of the Minister of Finance (JITL, Section 48);


Authority to petition the courts to wind up a fund ( JITL, Section 104).

The mutual fund industry generally functions in an orderly manner and the need for
strong intervention is relatively unusual, though imposed when needed.

Arbitration:
The Arbitration Law – 1968, regulates the institution of arbitration and applies also to
issues relating to the Companies Law and the Securities Law, provided that the matter
is can legally be agreed upon between the parties ( Arbitration Law, Section 3).

Israel does not have a statutorily established institution to govern arbitration dealing
with matters relating to the Companies or Securities Law. Parties may agree to
arbitration among themselves and there is no official data regarding the frequency that
arbitration is used.

Subject to the qualifications described below and barring a differing stated intent, an
arbitration ruling binds the litigants in the same manner as a judicial act does
(Arbitration Law, Section 21).
A court may cancel all or part of an arbitrator‘s ruling at the request of one of the
litigants, and may supplement it, amend it or return it to the arbitrator subject to any
of the following conditions ( Arbitration Law, Section 26):
(1)

The arbitration agreement was invalid;

(2)

The ruling was given by an arbitrator who was not properly appointed;

(3)

The arbitrator acted without authority, or deviated from the powers given
him by the arbitration agreement;

(4)

A litigant was not given the opportunity to present arguments or to
present evidence;
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(5)

The arbitrator did not make a decision regarding one of the matters
submitted to him;

(6)

The arbitration agreement stipulated that the arbitrator must give reasons
for his ruling, and he did not do so;

(7)

The arbitration agreement stipulated that the arbitrator must rule in
accordance with the law, and he did not do so;

(8)

The arbitrator‘s ruling was tardy ;

(9)

The content of the ruling conflicts with public policy;

(10) The legal basis exists for the court to cancel a ruling even when there is
no further right to appeal.

The court may reject a petition for cancellation even if one of the above-mentioned
grounds exists, if it believes that no injustice has been caused.

Specialized department in the District court in Tel Aviv for Securities and
Companies Law litigation
The ministry of justice, the ISA and the administration of the courts are currently
considering the possibility of amending the Courts Law, and establish a specialized
department in the District court in Tel Aviv.

The Jurisdiction of the specialized department would include all claims derived from
Companies Law, Securities Law, Mutual Fund Law, Investment advisors and
Portfolio managers Law, including Criminal Files, Civil Flies, Class Actions,
Derivatives Suites, and Administrative Files.

The Regulatory System – Predictable and Comprehensible
Pre-ruling Procedure – A pre-ruling request is a specific request by a particular
enquirer for receiving the ISA's opinion regarding a potential transaction. A pre-ruling
request relates to an array of facts pertaining to a certain transaction or activity and it's
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binding the ISA only regarding these particular facts. In case the matter is within the
ISA's jurisdiction, the pre-ruling request is submitted to the ISA prior to the carrying
out of a planned transaction, in order to obtain a directive, position or answer
pertaining to the action in question and proceed accordingly.

A pre-ruling request is usually a complex question, entailing broad or innovative
aspects, an answer to which is not self evident. The ISA will exercise discretion
regarding the urgency and necessity of answering pre-ruling requests.
Pre-ruling requests are divided into two main categories:
1. Request for the ISA's directive in regard to a transaction or a future deal
planned by a requestor (pre-ruling);
2. Request for a no action letter: ISA consent not to take future enforcement
measures, under certain circumstances described by a company in its letter.

As of June 2008 there is no obligation to adopt the ISA's position as presented in the
pre-ruling; the applicant however must notify the ISA of the adoption of a position
different from that expressed by the ISA.

In the event that the applicant gives notice of their intent to act differ from the ISA's
position as stated in the pre-ruling, the ISA must determine whether the matter
requires or justifies enforcement of its position upon the company. Largely,
enforcement involves the issuance of an order to an entity under ISA supervision to
correct the relevant action, or if the action has not yet been executed, an order to act in
a manner congruent with the ISA's position.

Filing pre-ruling requests with the ISA
Those interested in receiving the ISA's response to a pre-ruling request, as described
above, are invited to apply to the ISA for a pre-ruling. If the applicant is a corporation
supervised by the ISA, or the query pertains to such a corporation and is filed on its
behalf, the request must be filed through the Magna system. If the applicant is

unrelated to a corporation or other entity under ISA supervision, and is not applying
on behalf of such an entity, the request must be filed with the ISA through other
reliable channels.
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Content of pre-ruling requests
The pre-ruling request must include a full description of the relevant facts to the
matter discussed in the request, the applicant‘s opinion with respect to the legal or
accounting issue raised in the request, and the applicant's proposed solution to the
issue. The request must be filed in writing.

Pre-ruling queries to the ISA must include the following details:
1. Names of those affected by the request: Name of the entity discussed in the
request; and if such entity does not yet exist, names of the parties on behalf of
which the request is filed. Name of the applicant or of the person on whose
behalf the request is filed.
2. Full, detailed description of the factual background and data relevant to a
decision on the issue discussed in the query.
3. Details and analysis of accounting or legal documents (including professional
opinions) that pertain to the issue‘s resolution and were relied upon by the
applicant, including the name of the consultant who wrote the opinion upon
which the application is based.
4. Details of the dilemmas raised by the issue and various possibilities for
resolution.
5. Details of the applicant's proposed solution and its reasoned justification.
6. Applicant’s commitment to notify the ISA in advance of the adoption of a
position different from that expressed in the pre-ruling response.
7. Declaration that the applicant is aware that the query and the ISA's response
will be posted, in full, on the ISA's website.

Requests may include the following requests:
1. A request by the applicant to publish the query and the response without
noting the names of those pertaining to the matter discussed in the pre-ruling.
2. A request by the applicant to delay publication of the query and the response.
3. A request by the applicant not to publish the query and the response.

Queries containing such requests must include a description of the circumstances
justifying non-publication or delayed publication that relate to the considerations that
will guide the ISA in its decision regarding these requests.
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Handling of pre-ruling requests by the ISA
The procedure for handling pre-ruling queries by the departments of the ISA will
include the following stages:
1. Professional examination of the issues discussed in the request and of the
applicant's proposed solutions to these issues.
2. Decision regarding a broader discussion within the ISA with respect to queries
concerning complex or exceptionally precedent-setting issues.
3. Decision by ISA regarding the issue raised in the pre-ruling request and
delivery of a response in writing that includes the ISA‘s decision in full.
4. Decision regarding the applicant's request for procedural deviation regarding
the

query‘s

publication

and

the

response

on the ISA's

website.

The ISA must consider fully or partially refraining from publication and/or
delaying publication of a pre-ruling query and its response when one of the
following conditions applies:
A. The pre-ruling query refers to a personal or private manner of an
individual, rather than a business or commercial matter.
B. The publication of the names of those involved or the circumstances of
the matter constitutes material damage to the reputation of a person
(including a corporation), and the publication of said matter or names
is not essential to the purpose of the publication, as perceived by the
ISA in its decision regarding the publication of pre-ruling requests.
C. The pre-ruling query discloses a commercial secret or business
information, the disclosure of which may cause harm to the applicant
(Securities Law, Section 19).
D. The pre-ruling query refers to ongoing transactional negotiations.
E. Under the following circumstances:
 The pre-ruling query involves special, extraordinary circumstances,
or the response does not constitute a lateral precedent relevant to a
large number of supervised entities; and

 The ISA has not received similar queries on the same matter.
In addition, in circumstances in which the query concerns a
corporation‘s future activities, the applicant may notify the ISA
during the period of suspended publication, if in fact a delay was
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requested, that the corporation no longer intends to execute the
action in respect to which the request was submitted to the ISA, and
that the applicant requests non-publication of the query and its
response.
In such cases, the ISA shall decide whether to accede to the
applicant's request, and whether it is necessary to publish the ISA's
position, as provided to the corporation, in the form of a general
guideline in SLB format, to be published on the ISA's website,
detailing the ISA's position on that matter.
5. Delivery of the ISA's response to the applicant.
6. Immediate publication of the query and the response on the ISA's website, in
full format (unless a decision has been made with regard to limited publication
of the names of those involved).

Great importance is attributed the timing of the pre-ruling request. Filing the request
well in advance of the planned date of the relevant action‘s execution allows for it to
be given appropriate consideration, as well as providing for timely delivery of the
ISA's response so as to enable the applicant to act accordingly.

ISA Staff Decisions (SAB's & SLB's)
The positions of the senior staff at the Authority take the form of professional
guidelines which they present to the public in advance on how the Authority interprets
and applies the provisions of the relevant laws. These positions are intended to make
it easier for the public to act vis-à-vis the Authority and to receive its professional
guidelines.
All the positions of the Authority‘s staff are published on the Authority‘s website in a
format that is accessible to all those under its supervision. In addition, any person can
obtain a current update on the Authority‘s publications by registering on the site for
the purpose of receiving the Authority‘s warnings and updates by email.

The publication of the senior staff‘s positions on the Authority's site is intended to
bring to the public's attention issues that have arisen and on which the Authority‘s
staff have stated an opinion, in cases that have been brought to the Authority's
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attention and which in view of their nature the Authority believes could arise at many
other supervised entities that are subject to its jurisdiction. The purpose of this type of
publication is to inform the public of the manner in which the Authority operates in
such cases and in particular, the considerations that guided it in adopting the
professional position which it applied. In this way, the supervised entities will be able
to know in good time the manner in which the Authority is likely to employ the
powers that are vested in it under the law.

Since the positions are published, they are constantly open for the public's response
and comments, and can be changed in a flexible manner. The Authority does indeed
ensure that updates are made as necessary.
In themselves, the staff‘s positions have no binding legal/normative validity, and are
not binding on the public in the sense of creating a new norm. These positions take
the form of a description of the positions of the professional entity responsible for the
area, and no more than that. Any supervised entity that believes its position is
different is not required to act in accordance with that position, and can dispute it in
the ways determined under the law, such as petitioning a court of law. However, a
supervised entity that acts in contravention to the staff‘s position is naturally violating
the interpretation of law as determined by the Authority's staff. The supervised entity
is quite free to ask the Authority to employ its discretion in the case in point, and to
change its position or not to apply it in special cases.
The staff‘s positions are effectively divided into areas: One area concerns decisions
regarding legal matters, which are known as SLB (staff legal bulletins) and are
detailed above, and the other concerns positions regarding accounting matters, which
are known as SAB (staff accounting bulletins). SAB decisions, which concern the
application of general and accepted principles of accounting and disclosure, along
with those of presentation and reporting in the financial reports, are taken following
an examination of financial reports, processing of prospectuses, review of requests for

initial guidelines or other reports that have accounting implications, and in accordance
with the facts relevant to the circumstances of the case in point. Noted alongside each
decision is the date of its publication, in order to clarify and emphasize that the
decision was formulated in the spirit of the reporting and accounting principles
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prevailing at the time.

1.3.3 – Principle I.C
"The division of responsibilities among different authorities in a jurisdiction should
be clearly articulated and ensure that the public interest is served".
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The division of responsibilities among the different authorities
Three main authorities regulating the capital market in Israel are:
Israel Securities Authority
The Supervisor of Banks (within the bank of Israel)
The Supervisor of the Capital Market (the Capital Markets, Insurance & Savings
Division of the Treasury)

The Israel Securities Authority is responsible for investors' protection and regulates
disclosure by public companies. It is also responsible for regulating and supervising
the mutual fund industry and for licensing and supervising portfolio managers,
investment marketing agents and investment advisors. The Supervisor of the Capital
Market Division is responsible for supervision and regulation of insurance companies,
provident funds, pension funds and insurance agents. The Supervisor of Banks is
responsible for supervision and regulation of the activities of banking corporations.

This separation enables the regulators to take advantage of the special expertise
required for more effective enforcement of complex and highly specialized laws
governing financial services.

In order to create a framework for cooperation and the exchange of information
between the financial market regulators and to exchange information between them,
the three regulators (the Supervisor of Banks, the Israel Securities Authority and the
Capital Markets, Insurance & Savings Division of the Treasury) signed a
Memorandum of Understanding.

The stated objectives of the MoU include:


to advance the coordinated, efficient, fair and uniform supervision of the
Israeli financial system;



to strengthen the stability, transparency and fairness of Israeli financial
markets; and
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to advance the implementation of best supervisory practises commonly
accepted around the world.

The text of the MOU is hereby attached:

Memorandum of Understanding concerning cooperation and exchange of
information between the Supervisor of Banks, the Israel Securities Authority
and the Capital Markets, Insurance & Savings Division of the Finance Ministry
1. Objectives and principles
1.1 The objective of this Memorandum of Understanding is to create a framework for
cooperation and the exchange of information between financial market regulators –
the Commissioner of Banks, the Israel Securities Authority and the Capital Markets,
Insurance & Savings Division of the Treasury (henceforth – the regulators);
1.2 The objective of this Memorandum of Understanding is the advancement of
coordinated, efficient, fair and uniform supervision strengthening the stability,
transparency and fairness of the Israeli financial markets, as well as the development
and improvement of the aforesaid markets, all in order to strengthen the investing
public's trusts in these markets;
1.3 Under this Memorandum of Understanding the regulators shall act to advance the
implementation of best supervisory practices, commonly accepted around the world;
1.4 This Memorandum of Understanding does not supersede or detract from any
existing legislation and/or regulation (henceforth "regulation" – exercising of the
regulatory authority);
1.5 This memorandum of understanding does not supersede or detract from any
existing authority and/or responsibility granted by law to each of the aforesaid
regulators;
2. Coordinating Committee
2.1 In order to promote the cooperation and coordinate the exchange of information
between the regulators a Coordinating Committee (henceforth – the committee) shall
be established in accordance with the objectives and principles articulated under this
Memorandum of Understanding;
2.2 The Committee shall be comprised of three Supervisors;

2.3 The Committee shall meet as required and not less then once a month and shall
discuss, inter alia, the relevant tendencies and changes within their respective sectors
– including all the implications of any proposed legislative and regulatory changes
along with all other issues relevant to the Supervisors' spheres of responsibility;
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2.4 The Committee shall establish either a sub-committee for work on specific issues,
or permanent sub-committees for preparation of matters to be discussed by the
Committee;
2.5 The authority to invite other bodies participate in the discussions shall rest with
the Committee;
2.6 Discussions of the Committee and of the sub-committees shall be recorded and
published according to provisions stipulated by the Committee;
2.7 The committee shall create a schedule and establish methods of cooperation
between the Supervisors, as well as rules regarding the following:
2.7.1 Functioning of the Committee: Frequency of meetings, its own schedule and
that of its sub-committees, the procedural rules for conducting meetings (including the
rules for establishing the agenda), the means of reporting to the Committee, etc.
2.7.2 Mechanisms for cooperation and exchange of information: Defining the scope,
ways and means of the proposed cooperation and the exchange of information,
including – means of communication and cooperation among the mid-ranked
supervisors; establishment of the information exchange system (scope, timetable,
etc.); defining methods for acting during times of crisis; etc.
3. Financial markets supervision policy
3.1 The Supervisors agree that any new regulation and/or legislation, even when
sectorial, may affect other sectors of the economy, their stability and competitiveness
in relation to world financial markets;
3.2 Each Supervisor shall report on any significant new regulation and/or any
significant new legislative amendments that may significantly affect sectors within
other Supervisors' sphere of influence, or sectors of the relevant financial markets in
general, prior to its publication; and shall provide other Supervisors with the
opportunity to voice their opinion regarding the proposed regulation during the
discussions of the Committee or in another forum;
3.3 The Supervisors agree that, where required, there is a need to establish further
joint mechanisms pertaining to the supervision, regulation and legislation related to
financial markets.
4. Sharing of information
4.1 The Supervisors agree that complete sharing of information, in real time, is
essential for promoting the objectives of this Memorandum of Understanding.
4.2 The Supervisors agree to share the information at their disposal, which may be
required by other supervisors to carry out their duties, with the aforesaid supervisors;

providing this does not have an adverse effect on the supervisory and/or investigative
process;
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4.3 The Supervisors agree not to disclose confidential information to third parties
unless the agreement of the Supervisor who disclosed the aforesaid information has
been obtained in advance;
4.4 The Supervisors will examine ways of optimizing the gathering of information
from supervised entities, including ways of joint gathering of information in order to
reduce the burden on the supervised entities;
4.5 The Committee shall stipulate rules pertaining to the sharing and transfer of
information – by taking into consideration the rules of confidentiality and the
proposed use of the aforesaid information.
5. Mutual assistance
5.1 The Supervisors agree to assist one another in implementing coordinated and
integrated supervision over the financial markets, including: collection, analysis and
processing of information, enforcement, compliance, etc.

Other authorities operating in the Israeli Capital Market include:
The Companies Registrar –
A party wishing to register a company must submit a copy of its by-laws and of the
first directors‘ declaration of their willingness to serve as directors to the Companies
Registrar.

A private company must submit an annual report to the Companies Registrar that
includes details of the company's share capital, details of directors, of the auditing
accountant, and of the company‘s CEO. Additionally, a private company must report
to the Companies Registrar regarding matters such as changes in the by-laws, increase
or reduction of registered capital, allotment or transfer of shares, mergers, etc.

A public company must report to the Registrar of Companies only regarding the
following matters:
-

A decision to change its name (which requires the Registrar‘s approval).

-

A change in the address of the registered office.

-

Merger

-

Transformation of the company into a private company or into another entity
that is required by the Securities Authority to submit reports.

All other reports of a public company, including the filing of association documents,
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are made to the Securities Authority.

The Israel Association of Public Companies
This is a registered non-profit organization established some 15 years ago by a group
of CEO‘s and board chairmen of public companies as well as legal professionals, in
order to represent the interests of public companies before the government, its
agencies and the Knesset.

There are currently hundreds of Israeli public companies who are members of the
association, whose shares are listed for trade on the Tel Aviv stock exchange and on
other stock exchanges throughout the world. The association represents a broad and
comprehensive cross-section of economic activity which is conducted by large,
medium and small companies, whose areas of activity cover all sectors of economic
activity in the Israeli economy.

The association provides services to its members which include, inter alia, the
distribution of information regarding legislative and regulatory activity, legal advice,
opinions and position statements, initiatives and the organization of day-long
seminars and professional conferences, and the publication of a quarterly journal.
Israeli Accounting Standards Board (IsASB) –
The accounting standards are set in Israel by the Israel Accounting Standards Board
(IsASB). This voluntary organization was established in 1997 as a result of an
agreement between the Israel Securities Authority and the Institute of Certified Public
Accountants in Israel, which empowers the IsASB with the right to establish
accounting standards.

The Institute of Certified Public Accountants in Israel (ICPAS)
Auditing standards are formulated by The Institute of Certified Public Accountants in
Israel (ICPAS), which is the professional association of CPAs in Israel.

The ICPAS is a voluntary organization, which includes 11,000 accountants who
constitute more than 90% of all those engaged in the profession in Israel, as well as
some 170 international associates
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The Institute‘s main efforts are dedicated to the advancement of the professional
standards of accountancy is Israel, updating its members regarding professional
developments in Israel, establishing professional norms and standards in the areas of
accounting and auditing, establishing appropriate ethical and behavioural rules for the
profession and carrying out disciplinary judgment of its members regarding ethics.

The Institute was established in 1931, and as of the current time it has published 85
professional opinions in the area of accounting, of which 34 are auditing standards
and auditing guidelines. It is involved in tax legislation and follows all stages of such
legislation. It maintains contact committees with the Israel Securities Authority, the
tax authorities, the Supervisor of Banks, the Commissioner of Insurance, the
Investment Centre, the institutions of higher education and with many other parties.

The Institute, in cooperation with the ISA, has established an independent accounting
standards board which publishes rules for financial reporting and which prior to the
introduction of IFRS bound the entire business community and still bind private
companies that use Israeli GAAP. The Institute also serves as a consulting body for
the regulatory bodies dealing with the banks, insurance companies, government
companies and others.

The Institute of Certified Public Accountants has professional committees that deal
with accounting rules and auditing standards, an advisory council, a committee for the
interpretation of behavioural rules and more than 250 additional professional and
organizational committees dealing with various topics. Some 1,400 volunteer
members are active in these committees. The Institute is a member of two
international organizations for accounting standards and is a member of the
International Federation of Accountants. The Institute also maintains regular contact
with the European Accounting Association and with other organizations.

In order to protect the public and maintain the proper level of professional service, the
Institute carries out disciplinary hearings as well as committees whose function it is to
handle complaints filed by those who receive accounting services.
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(For additional details regarding ICPAS see Chapter V, Section 5.3.3).

The Institute of Internal Auditors in Israel
Represents the internal auditing profession in Israel

(For further details see Chapter V).

1.3.4 – Principle I.D
“Supervisory, regulatory and enforcement authorities should have the authority,
integrity and resources to fulfill their duties in a professional and objective manner.
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Moreover, their rulings should be timely, transparent and fully explained”.

The securities market regulator in Israel is the ISA. Its mandate, as stated in the law,
is to protect the interests of the investing public.
The ISA has the authority, integrity and resources to fulfill its duties in a professional
and objective manner.

The ISA's governing body has a maximum of thirteen members, who are drawn from
the public and/or civil service. At least one is an employee of the Bank of Israel,
Israel's central bank. Members of a stock exchange or securities traders and brokers
and their employees are prohibited from serving as members of ISA. Individuals
whose business activities may engender conflicts of interest are also prohibited from
membership in the ISA.

Members are appointed by the Minister of Finance.

Five members at a meeting constitute a quorum. Resolutions are passed by a simple
majority of those present.

The Chairman of the ISA is appointed by the Minister of Finance for a 5-year term
and can be reappointed for additional 3-year terms. After being appointed, the
chairman operates independently, as his functions and duties are defined by law. He
cannot be dismissed by the Minister.

The ISA reports to the Minister of Finance and the Finance Committee of the Knesset,
Israel's parliament.

The laws administered by the ISA (Securities Law-1968, Regulation of Investment
Advice, Investment Marketing and Investment Portfolio Management Law – 1995,
and the Joint Investment Trust Law-1994) – do not grant authority to anybody other

than the Israel Securities Authority, its chairman or employees authorized to act on its
behalf. According to the principles of administrative law in Israel, any authorized
entity must exercise its authority by itself and is not entitled to transfer its discretion
to another body or to exercise its authority upon the orders of another. From a
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statutory standpoint the ISA is completely independent.

The checks and balances inherent in the Israeli legal system, however, enable the
involvement of other government and judicial bodies in the following areas:


Primary and secondary law. Securities regulation in Israel is primarily enacted
as secondary legislation. Within this process the ISA is by far the most
influential player, deciding what issues should be put into regulation,
formulating the purpose and boundaries of the regulation, drafting the
regulation and explaining the need for the regulation to the Knesset Finance
Committee and Minister. However, the power to actually enact the regulation
rests with the Minister of Finance and the Knesset Finance Committee. It is
their approval alone which gives the regulation force.



The courts can overturn an ISA decision on appeal.



Certain authorities related to the secondary market and its operations are
delegated to the Minister of Finance: licensing of stock exchanges; closure of
stock exchanges; approval of suspension of exchange activity for more than one
day; approval of stock exchange by-laws (after consultation with the ISA and
approval of the Knesset Finance Committee).



The ISA's budget is subject to approval by the Minister of Finance and the
Knesset Finance Committee.



The Attorney General, as chief prosecutor for the state, is authorized to instruct
the ISA to open an investigation. To date this has not happened.

Resources
The ISA has 171 employees.

The majority of the professional staff is comprised of attorneys, accountants and
economists, many with advanced degrees in business administration as well a multiple
degrees. They receive in-house training on corporate governance issues.

The ISA's budget for 2008 is 116 million NIS (approximately 29 million USD).

The Israel Securities Authority is funded entirely by fees levied on regulated entities
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and receives no allocations from the government budget. Fee schedules are set by the
Minister of Finance and approved by the Finance Committee of Israel's parliament,
the Knesset.

An illustration: the Bezeq case
An illustration of the ISAs ability to achieve compliance with its rules and regulations
without pursuing official measures is the investigation into the operations of the
Bezeq Board of Directors. The investigation focused on approval of stock options and
irregular bonuses for executives and resulted in an internal report commissioned by
Bezeq in March 2007 (Danziger Report).

The external examiner, Yoram Danziger, investigated the matter of compensation
granted to officers in Bezeq since its privatization (including approval of the stock
option plan for employees and managers and approval of grants for officers), along
with the matter of restatement in the Group's financial statements as of December 31,
2004 and December 31, 2005. The report found that Yaakov Gelbard, CEO of Bezeq,
personally negotiated compensation and bonus packages with high-ranking executives
in the company, thus circumventing the Board of Directors and in violation of the
Companies Law (section 92) which stipulates that the Board of Directors must approve
a company‘s wage policy. Though the report found that he had not acted in a criminal
manner, Gelbard announced his resignation on April 30, 2007.

Due to the success the ISA has had in forcing companies to provide a heightened level
of disclosure regarding activities deemed as requiring enhanced public awareness,
Bezeq commissioned the external report independently. In the wake of Bezeq case,
more companies in Israel, such as Bank Hapoalim, have of their own accord engaged
the ISA in talks to forestall the need for appointing an external examiner to investigate
their own activities. Companies now tend to broaden transparency throughout the
market. .

Following the proceedings at Bezeq, the Knesset Finance Committee approved an
amendment to the Securities Law Regulations proposed by the ISA. The amendment
requires companies to provide detailed disclosure regarding compensation for senior
corporate officers as part of their immediate and periodic reports.
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Rule Making Powers
Supervisory rule making. In the field of its supervision of issuers of equity securities
and debt the ISA has limited formal rule making powers. Some relatively minor
matters (e.g. the format of reports mentioned above) are within the ISA's power but
all important issues require the Minister of Finance's support to be become regulation,
as mentioned above.

However the realities of the market often require swifter intervention than the
secondary legislation process can supply and the ISA can in some circumstances
employ semi-formal methods to influence market participants. An important example
of a semi-formal method is the publication by the ISA on its website of staff legal
bulletins (SLBs) and staff accounting bulletins (SABs) (see above section 1.3.2.).
Similarly the ISA sometimes publishes actual cases that have arisen (rather than just a
statement of the ISA's position as with SLBs and SABs) and how they were ruled on
by the ISA. This has a similar influence within the market.

Mutual funds. The situation in relation to the mutual fund market is based upon more
formal rule making powers. Section 97(b) of the Joint Investment Trust Law states
that in order to fulfil its supervisory duties over the mutual fund manager and the
trustee, the ISA is empowered "to instruct mutual fund managers and trustees, their
corporate officers and employees to adjust their conduct in order to ensure proper
management of mutual fund managers and trustees and uphold the interests of the unit
holders." The same section also specifies that "such instructions may be issued to all
mutual fund managers and trustees or to a specific class of them."

Investment advisors, marketers and portfolio managers. In relation to investment
advisors and marketers and portfolio managers the rule making power of the ISA is
clearly spelled out. Section 28 of the Investment Law provides the ISA with direct
rulemaking powers. It states that the ISA is authorized, for supervisory purposes, to

issue rules instructing licensees and their corporate officers and employees on good
management and operating practices in order to ensure proper management and the
preservation of the interests of the licensees' clients. Here also such rules may be
made to apply to all licensees or to certain groups of licensees.
Page | 84

Chapter II:
The rights of shareholders and key ownership functions
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2.3.1 – Principle II.A
“Basic shareholder rights should include the right to: 1) secure methods of ownership
registration; 2) convey or transfer shares; 3) obtain relevant and material
information on the corporation on a timely and regular basis; 4) participate and vote
in general shareholder meetings; 5)elect and remove members of the board; and 6)
share in the profits of the corporation”.

Secure Methods and Ownership Registration
Share Registration
The Companies Law-1999 requires that a company maintain a shareholders registry
and keep it at its registered office (Sections 124, 127).
A public company is defined as ―a company whose shares are listed for trading on a
stock exchange, or have been offered to the public pursuant to a prospectus and are
held by the public‖ (Companies Law, Section 1).

Such a company is also required to maintain a registry of principal shareholders at its
offices (Companies Law, Sections 124, 128, 129). These registries are open to free review by
any individual through the Israel Securities Authority electronic filing system
MAGNA: www.magna.isa.gov.il (Securities Regulations (Electronic Signature and Reporting) –
2003, Section 16).

For more on the MAGNA system, see below section 2.3.1.3.
Public companies‘ duty to disclose information is imposed by the Securities Law1968 and information regarding shareholders is obtained through the Israel Securities
Authority as authorized by the Securities Law (Section 36).

The Securities Law requires all companies (public and private) that have either
offered securities to the public by prospectus or are traded on the TASE (―reporting

corporations‖) to submit an immediate report to the ISA and TASE if a change occurs
in the shareholders registry. The filing is accompanied by an updated presentation of
registered shareholders, including details regarding the quantity and type of shares
held by them (Securities Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Reports) -1970, Section 31e).
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The Securities Law requires an "interested party" in a public company to report their
holdings and changes in them to the company. For its part, the company must publicly
disclose these holdings and those of all principal shareholders in an "immediate
report" through the ISA electronic filing system MAGNA (Securities Regulations (Periodic
and Immediate Reports) – 1970 (regulation 33 (a)).

The term "Interested Party" is defined as someone who holds 5% or more of the
corporation‘s issued share capital or of the voting power therein, someone who is
entitled to appoint one or more of the corporation‘s directors or its general manager,
someone who holds office as a director of the corporation or as its general manager,
or a corporation in which a person as aforesaid holds 25% or more of its issued share
capital or of the voting rights therein or is entitled to appoint 25% or more of its
directors. (Securities Law, Section 1).

According to an amendment to the Securities Regulations, enacted in May 2008,
senior officers of the corporation have also to report their holdings and changes in
them to the public company, which is then obligated to file an immediate report.

Each report summarizes the transactions made and presents the updated status of
ownership. In addition, a report outlining current ownership structure must be
submitted weekly for all weeks in which a change in holdings has occurred.

Banks and insurance companies are exempt from filing for each individual
transaction, but must file the weekly ownership structure report. Should cumulative
changes in the holdings of banks or insurers exceed 1% since the previous ownership
structure report, the change must be disclosed in an immediate report. In addition, the
ownership structure must also be disclosed in the company's periodic financial reports
and in prospectuses.

According to sec. 127 – 130 of the Companies Law, A company must keep a register
of shareholders. A public company must keep a register of substantial shareholders in
addition to the standard register of shareholders.
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The register of shareholders and the register of substantial shareholders are open for
inspection by any person.

The following shall be entered in the register of shareholders:
1. In respect of shares registered under a person‘s name–
(i)

the name, identity number and address of the shareholder, as presented
to the company;

(ii)

the amount and class of shares held by each shareholder, indicating
their nominal value, if any, and if any amount of the consideration
fixed for a share is not yet paid, the amount unpaid;

(iii)

the date of allotment of the shares or the dates of their transfer to
shareholders, as the case may be;

(iv)

where the shares are marked with serial numbers, the company shall
note next to the name of each shareholder the numbers of the shares
registered in that person‘s name;

2. In respect of bearer shares –
(i)

indication of the fact of the allotment of bearer shares, the date of their
allotment and the number of shares allotted;

(ii)

the numbering of the bearer share and of the share warrant;

A company whose shares are listed for trading on the stock exchange in Israel may
register a nominee company in its shareholders registry. A nominee company is
formed to hold and administer securities or other assets as the registered owner on
behalf of the beneficial owner. A nominee company is not considered a shareholder
and the shares registered in its name are owned by those who are entitled to them.

In Israel there are four nominee companies which are subsidiaries of the following
banks: Bank Hapoalim, Bank Leumi, Bank Discount and Mizrahi Tefachot. The
securities certificates remain with the nominee companies. The nominee company
lists the TASE Clearing House as the entity in whose name the shares are held. The

Clearing House maintains securities accounts for each of its members. These are
omnibus accounts with no sub-accounts relating to the holdings of individual clients
of the members. The members‘ books are where the details of the actual owners of the
shares (i.e. the actual investors) may be found. Under the Companies Law the person
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in whose favour securities are recorded in the Clearing House member‘s books is the
true beneficial owner of the shares and therefore entitled to all the rights attached to
the security, such as the right to receive dividends and vote at general meetings
(Companies Law, Sections 132, 177).

As a result of this operational structure, public companies have no way of knowing
who many of their shareholders are since this information is held by the Clearing
House members and not publicly available. Only shareholders classified as Interested
Parties are known to the companies since they must report their holdings, as detailed
above.

Trusteeship
According to Israeli law, shares may be held in trust. In such a case, the law provides
that a shareholder who is a trustee shall report such to the company, and the company
will register the trustee in the shareholders registry, indicating their status as a trustee;
for legal purposes they will be deemed the shareholder (Companies Law, Section 131).
This provision does not apply with respect to a trusteeship holding shares registered in
the name of a nominee company, since at any rate, with respect to such shares, the
registry does not reflect the holdings of the shareholders whose shares are held
through a stock exchange member.

Evidence of Share Ownership
The Companies Law provides that a shareholder in a private company is the party
who is registered as such in the shareholders registry, or the party who holds a share
deed. A shareholder in a public company is any one of the following:
1.

A person for whose benefit a share is registered with a member of the
stock exchange and is included in the shares registered in the register
of shareholders in the name of a nominee company.

2.

A person registered as a shareholder in the shareholders register.

3.

A party that holds a share warrant.

(Companies Law, Sections 176, 177)

The law also provides that the shareholders registry is prima facie proof of the
correctness of that which is recorded therein, and that in the event of a discrepancy
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between the shareholders registry and a share certificate, the evidentiary weight of the
registry shall prevail over that of the share certificate (Companies Law, Section 133).

The Companies Law states that a shareholder who is registered in the shareholders
registry is entitled to receive a certificate from the company certifying the
shareholder‘s ownership of their share. The law also states that a nominee company is
entitled to receive a certificate from the company attesting to the number of shares
and type of shares registered in its name in the shareholders registry (Companies Law,
Section 178).

A shareholder in a public company who wishes to vote at a general meeting has an
unconditional right to receive confirmation of share ownership from the stock
exchange member through whom his share is held (Companies Regulations (Proof of
Securities Ownership for Purposes of Voting at General Meetings) -2000, Section 1).

Companies Registrar
The Companies Registrar in Israel functions under the Companies Law. The law
requires that every private company submit an annual report, including a listing of
shareholders and the shares they own to the Registrar. Reporting corporations that
issue debt securities are subject to this requirement. Additionally, such a company
must report to the Registrar regarding allotment and transfer of shares.

Convey or Transfer of Shares
Clearing and Settlement Process
When a company issues shares with the intention that they be traded on the TASE, it
allots the shares in the name of one of the nominee companies that will deposit the
shares in the vault of a coordinating bank (the owner of the concerned nominee
company) to the credit of the TASE clearing house (TASECH). TASECH shall
register the shares on its books to the member's credit which in turn shall register the
securities on its books to the credit of the customer. Only the books of the TASECH

members contain the names of the customers who are the beneficial owners of the
shares

The securities held by the nominee company are generally the majority of the
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particular company‘s securities, but not necessarily all of them. The exception is the
case of a shareholder who wishes his shares to be registered in his own name and not
the name of the nominee company. Such shares, which are registered directly on the
company‘s books, cannot be traded on the TASE until the certificates have been
registered in the name of a nominee company. Such registration, which is called
“deposit”, is effected through the Clearing House. Similarly, the reverse act of
“withdrawal”, namely the registration of a share in the name of its real holder and
the de-registration of the nominee company, is also performed through the Clearing
House.

Currently shareholders may have shares registered in their own name and hold the
certificates outside of the TASECH. However, before such shares can be sold on the
TASE, they must first be deposited with the TASECH. This requires the shares to be
re-registered in the name of the nominee company of the issuer concerned. Before
securities can be deposited, however, confirmation must be obtained from the issuer
that the certificate that is being used to cover the deposit is valid; thereby eliminating
the possibility for the deposit‘s being subsequent rejection by the issuer. Shares can
also be withdrawn from the nominee bank by the reverse process, also undertaken by
the nominee company and the TASECH, although this tends to be rare. It is important
to note that there cannot be a sale, or any other kind of transaction, until the
underlying certificates have been checked and confirmed by the issuer and deposited
with the nominee company and recorded in TASECH‘s system.

Recently, the TASE has been authorized to require companies to register all share
capital in the name of a nominee company, thus eliminating the shareholder‘s option
of registering a security in their own name ( Securities Law, Section 46(a)(2)(i)).In order to
implement this authorization the TASE's board of directors approved an amendment
to the TASE's Rules and Regulations. The amendment is yet subject to the approval of
the authorities.

The requirement to register all share capital in the name of a nominee company shall
apply only to new companies that wish to list their shares for trading on the TASE for
the first time ("new companies").
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As for shares of a company which is already listed for trading on the TASE ("listed
company"); pursuant to amendment, a beneficial owner of shares who is already
registered in the name of a nominee company will not be permitted to withdraw the
shares and have them registered in his own name on the company books. Yet, if a
shareholder is already registered in the company books as the owner, he will not be
required to register the shares in the name of the nominee company, although he will
have to do so if he wishes to sell them on the TASE.

When investors buy or sell shares on the TASE, no change is made with respect to the
share certificate in the books of the nominee company. If the transaction is performed
through the same Clearing House member, there will only be a change in the
member‘s books and the balances of the other Clearing House members will remain
unchanged. If the transaction is made between customers of different members, the
balances of the involved Clearing House members will be changed in the Clearing
House‘s records.

Set out below is a schematic chart that describes the activities performed when a new
company (i.e. Company X – Lucky Industries, Ltd.) lists shares on the TASE. 2 The
company‘s capital is composed of 1,000 shares: 900 shares are held by investors who
act through TASE members and the remaining 100 shares are held by Mr. Israeli
directly in the company.

2

The chart describes the current situation. Following the approval of the amendment discussed above,
a new company will be required to register all its share capital in the name of a nominee company.

Chart 1: The Listing Process of “Lucky Industries” Shares
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Share Capital – 1,000 Shares

LUCKY INDUSTRIES BOOKS:

Nominee Company With Bank Y:

Mr. Israeli:

900 Shares

100 Shares

COORDINATING BANK:

NOMINEE COMPANY

Stock Certificate for 900 Lucky

Bank Y’s Nominee Company allotted 900 Lucky

Industry Shares, deposited in

Industry Shares and a share certificate issued for

Bank Y (Coordinating Bank) on

them. The Nominee Company registers in its

behalf of the Nominee Company.

records its right to the shares on behalf of the
TASECH

In the TASECH, 900 Shares are registered
to the Credit of its members.

The TASECH :

TASECH
Members:

CUSTOMER
Deposits:

Member Alpha

Member Beta

400 Shares

300 Shares

Customer A – 100

Customer B – 300

Shares

Shares

Member Gamma 200 Shares

Customer C –

300 Shares

Customer D – 200
Shares

According to Chart 1, the 900 shares of customers A, B, C and D are held through
TASECH members. Those shares may be traded on the TASE immediately and they
are held at bank Y (i.e. the Coordinating Bank) and registered in the name of bank Y
nominee company. The other 100 shares are held directly by ―Mr. Israeli‖. He, as
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noted earlier, preferred his shares to be registered in Lucky Industries‘ books in his
own name and he physically holds the share certificate.
If ―Mr. Israeli‖ wishes to sell his shares on the TASE, he will have to deposit the
certificates with a TASE member and register them in the name of the nominee
company.

The deposit will be effected in the following way: Mr. Israeli, who holds the share
certificate, will submit an application form to a member of the TASE, accompanied
by a share transfer deed and the share certificate. The TASE member will transfer the
application, together with the transfer deed and share certificate, to the nominee
company through the Coordinating Bank.

The nominee company will forward the application form, together with the share
transfer deed and certificate, to Lucky Industries, which will confirm the validity of
the certificate, register the securities in the nominee company‘s name and issue a new
certificate.

The nominee company will register the securities in its books to the credit of the
TASECH. The nominee company will deposit the securities in the coordinating bank
and send the TASECH a deposit order to the credit of the TASECH member.
TASECH shall register the deposit on its books to the member's credit which in turn
shall register the securities to the credit of Mr. Israeli.
In the example above, after the deposit has been completed, all the company‘s share
capital will be registered in the name of the nominee company. The share capital that
is deposited in the TASECH to the credit of the TASE members will be increased by
the size of the deposit.

―Mr. Israeli‘s‖ shares will be held in trust for him by the TASE member with whom
he chose to deposit his shares. If he wishes to sell them on the TASE, he will be able
to do so immediately by means of a simple transaction.
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If ―Mr. Israeli‖ does deposit all 100 of the shares, which were registered in his name,
with TASECH member Gamma, the picture in Chart 2 will emerge at the end of the
process:

Chart 2: The Process Of Depositing Shares To The Credit Of The Nominee
Company
Share Capital – 1,000 Shares
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Bank Y Nominee Company – 1,000
Shares

THE COMPANY’S BOOKS:

COORDINATING BANK:

NOMINEE BANK

Share Certificate for 1,000 Shares of

Bank Y Nominee Company is allotted 100 Shares

Lucky Industries Deposited at Bank Y

of Lucky Industries and a further share certificate for

(Coordinating Bank) for the Nominee

100 shares of Lucky Industries is issued to it. The

Company.

Nominee Company enters its right to the Shares in its
records (a total of 1,000 shares).

THE
TASECH

In the TASECH, 1,000 Shares are registered to the credit of
its members.

THE
TASECH

Member

MEMBERS:

400 Shares

Alpha

Member Beta

Member

300 Shares

300 Shares

Gamma

CUSTOMER

Customer A – 100

Customer B –

Customer C –

Customer D –

Customer E

DEPOSITS

Shares

300 Shares

300 Shares

200 Shares

(Mr. Israeli) –
100 Shares

Payment and Settlement System
Over the last three years the Bank of Israel, together with the commercial banks, the
paper-based clearing house (Bank Clearing House), the banks' automated clearing
house (―Masav‖, in its Hebrew acronym), and the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange clearing
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house, has been promoting a comprehensive reform of the payment and settlement
systems in Israel.

The essence of the reform is the establishment of an advanced, efficient Real Time
Gross Settlement (RTGS) system (to be known by its Hebrew acronym ZAHAV)
which became operational in July 2007. The new system acts as an intraday
settlement system where all payments are carried out in real time, resulting in
immediate and final settlement.

Functioning within the RTGS system, the TASECH calculates the net value of each
bank‘s transactions and transfers the net results to the RTGS system for settlement.
The Clearing House settles all securities-related transactions and provides additional
services such as interest, dividend and debenture redemption payments. In recent
years, the TASE has acted to match the timing of the transfer of a security with the
timing of the settlement, in order to reduce risk. Since the introduction of the RTGS
system, the transfer of the payment is simultaneous with the transfer of the security
(DVP—delivery versus payment). As part of the RTGS system, the TASECH
operates an intraday credit system, which provides the Bank of Israel with collateral
for the intraday credit advanced to participants in the system.

The Connection between Listed Companies and Their Shareholders
The applied method as detailed above, whereby the process of security registration is
done through nominee companies, is very efficient, saves expense and allows for the
clearance to be performed rapidly. This system also allows for the efficient and easy
transfer of payments between companies and their shareholders. It should
nevertheless be noted that there is one major disadvantage of this system – the
absence of any direct connection between the company and its shareholders. Since the
shareholders hold their shares through the nominee company, the company cannot
know who many of its shareholders are and cannot transfer information to them
directly. In order to overcome this difficulty, the practice in Israel is as follows: all the

information which the company is legally obligated to publish (i.e. the annual and
quarterly statements, the directors‘ reports and the resolutions of the board of
directors) is sent by the company to the ISA via the MAGNA system and to the
TASE, which then disseminates it to its members. It is through them that the
Page | 97

information reaches the company‘s shareholders and the public at large. The
company‘s reports to the ISA and TASE allow the Clearing House and its members to
efficiently exercise the rights attached to the securities on their clients‘ behalf.

Only a shareholder physically holding certificates will receive information directly
from the company. Nevertheless, said shareholder will have to be in direct touch with
the company when exercising rights attached to their securities.

OTC Transactions
When an OTC transaction in shares that are registered on TASECH books to a
member's credit is effected between customers of different TASE members, both
members must apply to the TASECH to clear the transaction. The TASECH clears the
securities and the consideration involved in the transaction.

When a client wishes to transfer shares held by one TASE member to another a
transfer application is submitted to the TASECH through the member with whom the
account is operated. The application contains the details of both TASE members and a
list of the securities being transferred. In the transfer transaction the balance of the
transferring member in the TASECH is reduced and the balance of the receiving
member is increased accordingly. The transfer does not involve any financial
consideration and no financial transaction is registered as a result of this activity. A
transfer between a customer‘s different accounts with the same TASE member does
not alter the member‘s balances in the TASECH and the TASECH is therefore not
involved in such transactions.

Transferability of Shares
The Companies Law establishes a presumption that shares are transferable, but allows
companies to include, in their by-laws, provisions which restrict the transfer of shares
pursuant to conditions established in the by-laws (Section 294).

However, the TASE by-laws (Section 66b) provide that one of the conditions for
registering shares or other securities for trade is that the company‘s incorporation
documents do not limit the transfer of the shares listed for trading. Therefore, for all
practical purposes, publicly traded shares must be free of self-imposed restrictions on
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transferability and there is no way to limit who may or may not become a shareholder.
Exceptions do exist to this rule of transferability. In IPOs the TASE requires that the
transferability of the shares held by pre-existing shareholders be "locked-up" for
designated periods of time following the IPO. Similarly, the law temporarily restricts
the resale of publicly traded shares placed in private placements (Securities Law, section
15c). In addition, shareholders are able to use part or all of their securities portfolios to

guarantee bank loans or place other restrictions on third-party contractual
arrangements.

Obtain relevant and material information on the corporation in a
timely and regular manner
Publication of Relevant Company Information in a Timely Manner
A private company must submit an annual report to the Companies Registrar, which
includes information concerning, inter alia, the following matters: the date on which
the annual meeting was held, the distribution of the company‘s share capital, the
shareholders and the shares they own, bearer shares in circulation, details of the
serving directors, details of directors who have ceased to serve since the date of the
previous annual report, of the auditing accountant, and of the company‘s CEO.
If the company‘s by-laws do not restrict the transferability of shares or do not prohibit
a public offering or do not limit the number of shareholders to fifty, the company
must add to the annual report a copy of the balance sheet that was included in the
financial statements.

The Registrar maintains registers and files all company documents submitted to it in
the particular company‘s file. The registers that the Registrar maintains and the
company files are open to the public, and any person may view them and obtain
certified copies of what is recorded in them. Information regarding details that appear
in the register may be obtained at the Registrar‘s office or through the Registrar‘s
website (Companies Law, Section 140).

According to the Companies Law, when a company is incorporated it must submit a
copy of the by-laws and the declaration by the first directors of their willingness to
serve as directors (Companies Law, Section 9).
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The matters regarding which a private company must report to the Companies
Registrar, in addition to its annual report, are as follows:


Changes to the by-laws.



A change in the address of the registered office.



A notice that the company does not have an auditing accountant.



Appointments to the board of directors and changes in its composition.



Allotment of shares.



Transfers of shares.



Mergers.



Transformation of a private company into a reporting corporation as defined in
the Securities Law;



Transformation into a private company.

When submitting its annual report, a private company must attach the balance sheet
included in its financial statement if at least one of the following conditions is met:


Its by-laws do not restrict the right to transfer its shares;



Its by-laws do not prohibit the offering to the public of the company‘s shares
or debentures;



Its by-laws do not limit the number of shareholders to fifty, aside from
company employees.

(Companies Law, Section 175).

Reporting to the Companies Registrar by public companies:
In addition to reports that are filed pursuant to the Securities Law, a public company
must report to the Companies Registrar pursuant to the Companies Law, with regard
to only the following matters:


A decision to change its name.



A change in the address of the registered office.
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Mergers



Transformation of the company into a public company.

Liens on the assets of public and private companies and any assignment of the
company‘s rights are registered with the Companies Registrar. There is also an
obligation to submit various reports to the Companies Registrar regarding proceedings
for a company‘s dissolution or liquidation, such as: the delivery of a copy of an order
of dissolution (Companies Ordinance, Section 270), an order of liquidation (Companies
Ordinance, Section 315), directors‘ declarations regarding solvency in a voluntary

liquidation (Section 322) and more.

Shareholders' rights to obtain information
The invitation to a general meeting of a private company must specify the agenda and
provide a reasonable specification of the issues to be discussed. If an amendment to
the by-laws is on the agenda, the amendment‘s proposed language must be specified
(Companies Law, Section 68). Regarding a public company, the notice regarding the

convening of the general meeting must include the agenda, the proposed resolutions
and the arrangements regarding voting by proxy ballot (Companies Law, Section 69). If a
notice specifies the text of a resolution or if it includes a summary of and a reference
to the full text of a resolution which is on the a general meeting‘s agenda, the general
meeting may only adopt a resolution which is different than the text of the resolution
so specified if the change is minimal or if it benefits the company more than the
original resolution) (Companies Regulations – Changes in a Resolution Specified in the Notice
Regarding the General Meeting), 5764-2004).

The board of directors of a private company must present the financial statements that
it has approved to the general meeting as well as a report which includes the board‘s
explanations regarding the events and changes that have taken place concerning the
state of the company‘s affairs and that have impacted the financial statements.
The reports are to be kept at the company‘s registered office for at least seven years
from the time they are prepared, for review by the company‘s directors and
shareholders.

A shareholder in a private company may receive a copy of the financial statements
and of the auditing accountant‘s opinion regarding those statements.
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In a private company, copies of the financial statements are sent to all to those who
are entitled to receive notice of general meetings, no later than fourteen days before
the date on which the annual meeting is to be held – unless provided otherwise in the
by-laws (Companies Law, Section 173).

All public companies that are required to file reports to the Israel Securities Authority
must file an immediate report notifying the public of the meeting and posting its
agenda and the resolutions placed before the shareholders. This disclosure
requirement is in addition to and does not replace corporate obligations under the
Companies Law. The details that must be included in the immediate report are
stipulated in Regulation 36b of the Securities Law Regulations (Periodic and
Immediate Reports) – 1970:
(1) The type of meeting;
(2) The location where the meeting is to be held;
(3) The date of the meeting and the time when it is to be convened;
(4) Details regarding agenda items, i.e. a description of the nature of the topic to
be discussed, stating the main facts required in order to understand
resolutions to be voted upon at the meeting, as well as the text of every
proposed resolution or a summary of its main points;
(5) The place and times when it is possible to review resolutions if the full text
was not included in the description of agenda items;
(6) The type of resolution required for each of the matters on the agenda, when
the matter is extraordinary;
(7) The reference date for share ownership, entitling shareholders participation
and voting rights as stipulated in section 182(b) of the Companies Law;
(8) If the agenda includes matters on which it is possible to vote by means of a
proxy ballot as stipulated in section 87 of the Companies Law, the amount
or value of shares required to participate in the proxy vote;
(9) The quorum required for holding the meeting;

(10) If the agenda of the meeting includes a proposal to appoint directors, details
pertaining to the candidate should be presented. If the proposal pertains to
the extension of an incumbent director's tenure, incorporation of this
information by reference to the last filed periodic report suffices, providing
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no material change has occurred since the filing of the periodic report.

Reporting companies as defined in Securities Law submit incorporation documents,
financial statements and all immediate (current reports) filings on public file on the
ISA MAGNA website (www.MAGNA.isa.gov.il). They submit financial statements
to the ISA upon their approval by the board of directors. These filings are open for
public review. The company must present annual reports to the annual general
shareholders meeting (although there is no legal requirement that shareholders
approve the reports).

Additional financial information
Reporting companies are required to submit immediate reports regarding any change
in the shareholder‘s registry (Securities Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Reports—1970),
Section 31e). The filing is accompanied by an updated presentation of registered

shareholders, including details regarding the quantity and class of shares held by
them.

As described above, the ISA operates an interactive website, MAGNA
(www.magna.isa.gov.il) through which all filings and reports are received and
disseminated electronically to the public in real time, free of charge to noncommercial users. MAGNA uses electronic signature technology to ensure the
authenticity of reports submitted to it. All communications with MAGNA are made
using standard forms which enable convenient access to the information on the
website. The database is searchable by keyword and/or various criteria. Financial
information can be compared between reporting periods and for a given period,
between companies. The system also allows the user to download data on an entire
industry at once. Since public disclosures loaded onto MAGNA are immediately
available to the public, MAGNA functions as both the reporting site of the ISA and
the public distribution system for the Israeli market.

Securities Regulations require the filing of immediate reports of "any event or issue
deviating from the regular course of business due to their nature, scope or possible
outcome that has a potential material impact on the corporation, along with any event
or issue that could have a significant impact on that corporations‘ securities prices"
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(Securities Law Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Reports) –1970, Section 36). These are

submitted to the ISA via the MAGNA system.

There are heightened disclosure requirements applicable to related party transactions.
Shareholders in public companies are entitled to demand that the company make
available for their review any document that pertains to any action or transaction that
is subject to shareholder approval as a related party transaction. ISA may authorize
the company to refuse such a request if it is not submitted in good faith or if the
document contains a trade secret or patent or if disclosure of the document will injure
the company‘s welfare in some other manner (Securities Law, Section 36c(a)).

The Law does not define "related party transactions". However, when using this term,
the reference is to transactions with Interested Parties and transactions with
controlling shareholders which require special approval under the Companies Law.
The following transactions are included:
1.

A transaction between the company and an officer or with another person
in which a company officer has a personal interest.

2.

The grant of an exemption, insurance, undertaking to indemnify or
indemnification under a permit to indemnify an officer who is not a
director.

3.

A contract between the company and one of its directors regarding
employment terms, including the granting of loans in that context, and a
contract between the company and one of its directors regarding terms of
employment in other positions.

4.

An extraordinary transaction of a public company with a controlling
shareholder; a transaction with another person in which the controlling
shareholder has a personal interest, including a private placement; a
contract between a public company and a controlling shareholder or with a
relative of such a shareholder, if he is also an officer in the company –
regarding the terms of his service and his employment, and if he is a

company employee but not an officer – regarding his employment by the
company.
5.

A private placement of 20% or more of the company's voting rights to an
interested party or a private placement as a result of which a person will
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become a controlling shareholder.
(Companies Law, Section 270).

An ―extraordinary transaction‖ is defined as a transaction not in a company‘s ordinary
course of business, a transaction that is not undertaken in market conditions or a
transaction that is likely to materially influence the profitability of a company, its
property or liabilities; (Companies Law, Section 1). There is no definition for "materiality"
in the law.

Securities Law Regulations require immediate disclosure of transactions with
controlling shareholders. The company should give notice of a transaction with a
controlling shareholder and the terms thereof and of the convening of a general
meeting for the purpose of approving it within 14 days of the date of its approval by
the board of directors, by three methods: (1) Filing an immediate report (transaction
report); (2) Publishing an announcement (3) Sending the transaction report by
registered mail to a shareholder who is entitled to vote at the general meeting, per
request (Securities Regulations (Transactions between a Company and a Controlling Shareholder) –
2001, Section 2).

Companies are required to issue an immediate report regarding Interested Party
transactions and changes in holdings, thus ensuring timely and updated information
regarding significant beneficial ownership (Securities Regulations (Periodic and Immediate
Reports) –1970, section 33(a)).

Since the MAGNA site has a distribution area through which anyone may access any
public report that has been filed with the ISA and public disclosures loaded onto
MAGNA are immediately available to the public, practically speaking it functions as
both the reporting site of the ISA and the public distribution system for the Israeli
market. Therefore, in the case of nearly all Israeli disclosure requirements, by

submitting a report to the ISA via MAGNA, the company also fulfils its obligation to
make the disclosure available to the public.

Besides publication of financial information through MAGNA, The Companies Law
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requires companies to keep minutes of board meetings (Section 108).

There is however no express requirement to make these minutes available to
shareholders, except when they address issues pertaining to related party transactions.
In private companies shareholders are entitled to view board meeting minutes when
these pertain to matters on the agenda of the general meeting.

The company may refuse the request of the shareholder if in its opinion the request
was not made in good faith or the documents requested contain a commercial secret or
a patent, or disclosure of the documents could harm the company‘s best interests in
some other way. (Companies Law, Section 185).
The shareholders‘ general right to receive information and inspect books includes
minutes of general shareholders meeting, the shareholders registry, articles of
incorporation, financial statements and public filings. Denial of these rights can be
redressed in court. The available options for redress in court are discussed in Chapter
I of this report. Shareholders have the right to view the minutes of the general
meetings with no limitations (Companies Law, Sections 90c, 184 and 265).

TASE members are required to supply proxy materials to shareholders in public
companies traded on the TASE whose accounts are held with them. This is in addition
to the company‘s obligation to publicize these materials through their disclosure (and
electronic distribution) to the ISA and TASE. The company is entitled to add channels
through which it notifies its shareholders. Stock exchange members must distribute
the proxy ballots and position statements to shareholders by electronic mail at no cost.
A shareholder asking to receive material by way of regular mail may be asked to pay
only the postage costs. These provisions are intended to lower the cost of shareholder
participation in order to enhance shareholder involvement in the general meetings
(Companies Regulations (Proxy Voting and Position Statements) -2005, Section 4).

The Proxy Regulations place a strong emphasis on the schedule, providing that the
shareholders‘ and directors‘ position statements are distributed with adequate time
remaining prior to the vote and enabling the shareholders to make an informed
decision regarding the position statements. Shareholder position statements must be
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presented to the ISA no later than one day following their receipt by the company. All
position statements are published on the ISA and TASE websites and sent by the
company to the shareholders registered in its books no later than five days after their
receipt, and to all shareholders registered with TASE members by those members also
no later than five days following their receipt. This way, all shareholders obtain
material information in a timely manner (Companies Regulations (Proxy Voting and Position
Statements) -2005, Section 6).

Participation and voting in general shareholder meetings
A company must convene an annual shareholders meeting each year, no later than
fifteen months from the previous annual meeting (Companies Law, Section 60).

A private company is required to deliver a notice to all participating parties regarding
the convention of a general meeting between seven and forty-five days prior to the
meeting date, unless the by-laws provide otherwise (Companies Law, Section 67).
A public company is required to deliver a notice regarding the general meeting at least
twenty-one days prior to the date of its meeting, to the shareholders registered in the
shareholders‘ register, unless the by-laws provide otherwise. Additionally, a notice
regarding the general meeting must be published twenty-one in advance (in two
widely distributed newspapers, and in other ways to be chosen by the company,
including through the internet (Companies Law, Section 69).

Convention of an extraordinary meeting
A private company‘s board of directors may call an extraordinary meeting, in
accordance with a resolution, and the request of any of the following:


A single director;



One or more shareholders, who hold at least ten percent of the issued capital
and at least one percent of the voting rights in the company, or one or more

shareholders who holds at least five percent of the voting rights in the
company.

A board of directors which is asked to call an extraordinary meeting shall convene it
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within twenty one days from the date on which the request is submitted, for a date
indicated in the invitation, and provided that with regard to a public company, the
meeting must be convened no later than thirty-five days from the date on which the
notice is published.

If the board of directors does not call a meeting which was requested by shareholders,
the requesting shareholder, along with a portion of the shareholders who together
have more than half of the voting rights, may call the meeting independently. If a
general meeting is called in this manner, the company must cover the reasonable
expenses expended by the requesting shareholders and the directors who were
responsible for the meeting not being called will be required to reimburse the
company for such expenses.

If the board of directors neglects to call an extraordinary meeting which was
requested as stated, the court may, upon the requesting party‘s application, order that
the meeting be called. If the court gives such an order, the company will bear the
reasonable expenses incurred by the applicant in the court proceeding, as determined
by the court, and the directors who were responsible for the meeting not being called
will be required to reimburse the company for such expenses.

The legal quorum established in the law for general meetings is at least two
shareholders who hold at least 25% of the voting rights, who must be present within
half an hour from the time established for the meeting. If the required quorum is not
present, by default the meeting is postponed for a week, with time and place
remaining the same, unless otherwise stated in the invitation. At a postponed meeting,
if a legal quorum is not present within half an hour, the meeting may be held
regardless of the number of participants. The company‘s by-laws may establish
different provisions regarding this matter (Companies Law, Sections 78-79).

A general meeting at which a legal quorum is present may decide to postpone
discussion regarding matters on the agenda, postponement is extended beyond
twenty-one days, notices and invitations for the postponed meeting must be delivered
as if it were the original one (Companies Law, Section 74).
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In the case of a private company, the invitation to a meeting must indicate the date
and place, its agenda and a reasonable specification of the issues to be discussed. In
the case of a public company, the notice delivered to each shareholder in the
shareholders‘ register must include the agenda, the proposed resolutions and the
arrangements regarding proxy voting. The notice published in the newspapers must
include the following details: the type of meeting, the place and time at which the
meeting will be held, a specification of the issues on the agenda, a summary of the
proposed resolutions, and details regarding the option to view the full text of the
proposals at the company‘s office, the majority required for the adoption of the
resolutions, the record date concerning the entitlement of shareholders to vote at the
general meeting, and details regarding the date of a postponed meeting, in cases in
which the meeting is not held within twenty-one days of the original meeting
(Companies Law, Sections 68-69, Companies Regulations (Notice Regarding a General Meeting),
2000, Section 4). A public company whose shares were offered solely in Israel or are

traded exclusively in Israel must hold its general meetings in Israel (Companies Law,
Section 73).

Election and removal of Members of the Board
Directors are appointed at the annual general meeting unless otherwise provided in the
by-laws (Companies Law, Section 59).

A public company is required to appoint two external directors who are not connected
to the company or a controlling shareholder in any way (Companies Law, Section 239).
The power to appoint external directors is conferred upon the general meeting
provided that one of the following conditions is met:
1.

The voting majority at the general meeting includes at least one-third
of all the votes of shareholders who are not holders of control in the
company (abstentions not included);

2.

The total number of votes opposing the appointment from among the
shareholders shall be no greater than one percent of the total voting rights
in the company.
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The Ministry of Justice and the ISA are currently considering the possibility of
amending the Companies Law and changing the majority required in the general
meeting to a regular majority (instead of one third of all the votes of those
shareholders that do not have a personal interest in the approval of the transaction,
who are present at the meeting) and raising the limit of opposing votes from 1% to
2%.

The law provides that the general meeting may at any time dismiss a director unless
the by-laws provide otherwise. If the company‘s by-laws provide that a director shall
be appointed other than by the general meeting, removal is executed through the same
means, unless otherwise provided in the by-laws (Companies Law, Section 230). The
exception to this rule is with respect to an external director – with regard to whom
section 254 of the Companies Law provides that such a director will serve for 3 years
and the company may appoint him for a further period of three years. The general
meeting may, by the majority required for the director‘s appointment, terminate his
service only if he has ceased to meet one of the conditions for his appointment, or i f
the board of directors establishes that he has breached his duty of fidelity.

Share in the profits of the corporation
Regarding a company whose shares are not listed for trading on the stock exchange,
there can be a variety of options. Such a company may have shares or other securities,
each of which has differential rights (Companies Law, Section 285). Regarding a company
that seeks to list its shares for trade on the stock exchange, Section 46a of the
Securities Law prohibits the registration for trade of shares or securities that can be
converted into or exercised as shares unless the company‘s share capital consists of
only one class of securities, which grant equal voting rights in proportion to their par
value. This condition does not apply to special State shares – i.e., shares that the
government has decided that it must have in order to protect an essential interest, and
which grant the government special rights established in a resolution prior to the

general listing. With regard to companies that were listed for trading on the exchange
prior to the enactment of section 46a (in 1990), the statute provides that all additional
offerings shall be restricted to shares with superior voting rights.
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Dividend distribution by default is decided upon by the board of directors, though
companies in their by-laws may adopt an alternative method from the following:


At the general meeting, following the presentation of the board of directors‘
recommendation;



By the company‘s board of directors, after the general meeting has determined
the maximum amount for distribution.



In any other manner established in the by-laws, provided that an appropriate
opportunity is given to the board of directors to determine, before the
distribution is carried out, that the distribution is not a prohibited one.
(Companies Law, Section 307)

Regarding the determination of the dividend amount to be distributed, the law
provides that a dividend may be distributed only out of the company‘s profits (the
profits test), and only if there is no reasonable concern that the distribution will
prevent the company from being able to meet its existing and expected obligations
(the solvency test) (Companies Law, Section 302).

The general meeting may be involved in the decision to distribute a dividend, but the
entity that determines the amount or the maximum of the distribution shall be the
board of directors, which is also responsible for ascertaining that the distribution
passes both the profits and the solvency tests. Court approval is required for a
distribution not made out of profits (Companies Law, Section 303).

For Legal recourses available to shareholders see chapter 3.

2.3.2 – Principle II.B
―shareholders should have the right to participate in, and to be sufficiently informed
on, decisions concerning fundamental corporate changes such as: 1) amendments to
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the statutes, or articles of incorporation or similar governing documents of the
company; 2) the authorisation of additional shares; and 3) extraordinary
transactions, including the transfer of all or substantially all assets, that in effect
result in the sale of the company‖.

Shareholder involvement in fundamental corporate changes
Amendment of company by-laws can only be executed by the general meeting of
shareholders. The company‘s by-laws may establish provisions regarding the
conditions required for an amendment of the by-laws, but the shareholders may not be
denied the right to take part in a decision regarding this matter (Companies Law, Sections
20, 57).

Authorization of additional shares
A company‘s registered share capital is established in the company‘s by-laws
(Companies Law, Section 33). The general meeting has the power to enlarge or reduce

registered share capital, subject to the provisions of the law. The company may not
stipulate alternative provisions regarding this matter (Companies Law, Sections 57-58).

The board of directors possesses the authority to issue new shares, though the
company‘s registered share capital provides the upper bracket amount limiting any
issuance (Companies Law, Sections 92, 288). The general meeting may assume this
authority as well, if permitted by the company‘s by-laws, but in such a case, all
responsibilities pertaining to the board of directors regarding the exercise of this
authority apply mutatis mutandis to the shareholders (Companies Law, Section 50).

Extraordinary transactions, including the transfer of all or
substantially all assets, which in effect result in the sale of the
company
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In principle, extraordinary transactions, even if material and including the sale of the
company‘s business activities, do not require shareholder approval, unless a prior
contractual commitment to obtain such approval (e.g. in the company's by-laws or in a
prospectus) is adopted by the company. In some cases, shareholder approval is
required given the structure of the transaction. If the transaction involves an allocation
of shares, or if a principal shareholder is a party to the transaction or has an interest in
it, the law may require shareholder approval. If the company's activity is sold for cash,
shareholder approval is not required. In practice, companies rarely seek shareholder
approval for these types of transactions unless required by law.

Mergers
Regarding mergers in the context of which all the target company‘s assets and
liabilities are transferred to the acquiring company and as a result of which the target
company is liquidated, the Companies Law provides as follows, in summary:


The merger requires the approval of the board of directors and of the general
meeting of each of the merging companies (other than in cases in which the
merger has no real substance).



The directors of a merging company who are considering whether to approve a
merger will discuss and determine, taking the companies‘ financial situation
into consideration, whether in their opinion, there is a reasonable concern that
due to the merger the absorbing company will not be able to meet its
obligations to its creditors.



Notices of the merger will be sent to the Companies Registrar and to the
company‘s substantial and secured creditors.
(Companies Law, Sections 314-324)

A court may, at the request of a merging company‘s creditor, order that a merger be
stayed or prevented if the court finds that there is a reasonable concern that due to the
merger the absorbing company will not be able to meet the merging company‘s
obligations. The court may give instructions to protect the creditors‘ rights.

Notwithstanding the required approval of a merger by the general meeting, voting
rights belonging to the other merging company or to an entity holding at least a 25%
controlling share in that company shall not be taken into account if a majority of all
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the other shareholders opposes the merger (Companies Law, Section 320(c)).

Privatization and tender offers
For details regarding special and full tender offers, see below section 2.3.5.

Court approval for structural changes
Regarding a company merger or reorganization, a court may order the convening of a
shareholders‘ meeting or of a creditors‘ meeting, and the court may establish
instructions regarding the manner in which the meetings will be held, including
special majority requirements for class meetings (by share class, by types of creditors,
etc.) The majority required for approval is the majority of those participating in the
vote, other than abstainers, who together hold 75% of the value represented at the
entire vote.
If the required majority is achieved and the court approves the program, it is given
legal force. The court, in the order that approves the program, establishes provisions
that will apply to the merger, including the transfer of assets, allotment of shares,
transfer of legal proceedings, liquidation of the transferring company, and any other
matter required for the execution of the reorganization or the merger.

2.3.3 – Principle II.C
―Shareholders should be furnished with sufficient and timely information concerning
the date, location and agenda of general meeting, as well as full and timely
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information regarding the issues to be decided at the meeting‖.

For details regarding annual meetings, see above section 2.3.1.4.

Shareholders opportunity to ask questions to the board including the proposal of
resolutions
One or more shareholders who hold at least one percent of the voting rights may ask
the board of directors to include any appropriate subject in the agenda of a future
general meeting (Companies Law, Section 66). The shareholders are also permitted to
demand that a general meeting be called and propose resolutions for discussion. In a
private company, this right is conferred upon shareholders who hold at least ten
percent of the issued capital and one percent of the voting rights, or who hold ten
percent of the voting rights. In public companies, the right is given to shareholders
who hold at least five percent of the share capital and one percent of the voting rights,
or five percent of the voting rights (Companies Law, Section 63). In the event that a
subject is added to the agenda of the general meeting, an updated agenda must be
published, since the general meeting may only adopt resolutions that have been listed
in the agenda.

Effective shareholder participation in key corporate governance decisions
Regular directors are appointed by the annual general meeting, unless the by-laws
provide otherwise. External directors are appointed by the general meeting by a
special majority, as mentioned above.

Approval for terms of compensation for a director, including the granting of a
release, insurance or indemnification, requires the endorsement of the audit
committee, the board of directors and the general meeting.
In a public company, the approval of terms of compensation for a controlling
shareholder, or for the relative of such a party, requires the approval of the audit
committee, the board of directors, and the general meeting. (At the general meeting,

there are special rules for adopting the resolution – a third of those who are not
affected by the approval must approve.)

Unexceptional terms of compensation for an officer who is not a director require
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the approval of the board of directors unless the by-laws provide otherwise.
Extraordinary terms of compensation of an officer who is not a director, and the
granting of a release, insurance or indemnification to such an officer, requires the
approval of the audit committee and the board of directors.

Shareholders right to vote in person or in absentia
In a private company, shareholders may vote either themselves or through an agent,
unless the by-laws provide otherwise. They may also vote through a proxy ballot if
this is provided for in the by-laws.

In a public company shareholders may vote themselves or through an agent.
Shareholders may also vote by proxy ballot at general meetings when the agenda
includes the appointment or dismissal of directors, the approval of transactions with
controlling shareholders or officers, and mergers.

Proxy voting is allowed by sending a proxy ballot by mail or via the Internet if
reasonable measures have been taken to secure the information.

Shareholders can take civil action either individually or within the framework of a
class action as a remedy for false statements in proxy materials. For public
companies, invitations to shareholder meetings and the dissemination of proxy
materials require immediate public disclosure. As such, the inclusion of misleading or
false statements could be subject to criminal enforcement as well as civil action.

2.3.4 – Principle II.D
―Capital structures and arrangements that enable certain shareholders to obtain a
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degree of control disproportionate to their equity ownership should be disclosed‖.

One Share/One Vote
In Israel, the principle of 'one share/one vote' is anchored in the Securities Law.

The law provides that no stock exchange may permit the registration for trade of
shares or securities that can be converted into or exercised as shares unless the
company‘s share capital consists of only one class of securities granting equal voting
rights in proportion to their par value. Thus, the law does not permit the creation of
superior ranking multiple voting shares or voting caps. For voting purposes, all shares
are equal. This condition does not apply to special State shares; i.e., shares that the
government has decided that it must have in order to protect an essential interest (in
Israel State shares are referred to as ―golden shares‖). The government designates
―golden shares‖ prior to the listing of all other shares so that all trades are aware of
their existence (Securities Law, Section 46b).

Companies that first issued shares prior to the adoption of this rule in 1990 are
allowed to maintain multiple classes of shares differentiated by voting rights,
provided that in any new issue they only issue shares bearing the best voting rights
from amongst the existing classes of shares. As a result of this rule the vast majority
of listed companies in Israel follow the one share/one vote principle. Companies can
issue "preferred shares" that provide a larger portion of the profits in exchange for
voting rights. This instrument, however, is hardly used.

Structure of Ownership and Control
"Control" is defined in the Securities Law as the ability to direct the activity of a
corporation, excluding an ability deriving merely from holding an office of director or
another office in the corporation. A person is presumed to control a corporation if he
holds half or more of any means of control over the corporation (Securities Law, Section
1).

―Means of control‖ in a corporation is defined as any one of the following:
(1) The right to vote at a general meeting of a company or a corresponding body
of another corporation;
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(2) The right to appoint a general manager or directors of the corporation.

Thus, the law defines an effective control test. Holding of 50% or more automatically
confers control; however it is not the only means of effective control.

Structures of chained ownership provide a practical example of an effective control
test. In those cases, the assessment of ultimate ownership, as overseen by the ISA, is
based on the ability of an entity to exercise decision-making power. This is an
effective control test rather than a quantitative calculation of that entity's indirect
holdings in the company. Therefore, a shareholder in an entity controlling a publiclyowned subsidiary will be considered an ultimate owner of that company only if they
have control over the parent company.

The percentage of ownership that is ascribed to the ultimate owner is based on the
assumption that control in the parent entity is equivalent to 100% ownership, such that
an owner controlling an entity that has a 20% interest in a company, will be assumed
to hold the entire 20%, regardless of their actual holdings in the controlling entity.
The Companies Law defines the term ―controlling shareholder‖, in a more expansive
way, for the purpose of regulation of Transactions with Interested Parties (chapter V).
According to this definition, a "controlling shareholder" is a holder of control (as
defined above in the Securities Law), including a person who holds 25% or more of
the voting rights in the company‘s general meeting if there is no other person who
holds more than 50% (Section 268).

In Israel the pyramid structure is quite common, as illustrated below. Pyramid
structures are structures of holdings and sub holdings through which ownership and
control are built up in layers. They enable certain shareholders to maintain control
through multiple layers of ownership, while at the same time sharing the investment
and the risk with other shareholders at each intermediate ownership tier.

Illustration of Pyramid Structure in Israel*
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Regarding disclosure requirements for Interested Party trading, see above section 2.3.1.1
and Chapter V.

* Graph from: http://www.bankisrael.gov.il/deptdata/mehkar/papers/dp0802h.pdf

Shareholder Agreements
Shareholders may conclude agreements among themselves, subject to the duties
imposed upon them under the Companies Law. These duties include acting in good
faith and in a customary manner toward the company and other shareholders; to avoid
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exploiting their power in the company and acting unfairly towards it (Companies Law,
Sections 189, 192).

Shareholder agreements can relate to board of director selection; right of first refusal;
'tag along' agreements in which one shareholder agrees to sell together with another,
and voting in general shareholders meetings. According to the ISA's interpretation of
the Companies Law, issuers are required to disclose shareholders agreements if one of
the parties to the agreement is an Interested Party or will become an interested party
as a result of this agreement. Immediate disclosure is required when a change occurs
in the number of shares (or convertible securities) that an Interested Party holds in the
corporation or if a contract is drawn up and following implementation will cause such
a change. Disclosure is made according to the Securities Regulations (Periodic and
Immediate Reports -1970, section 33(a)).

According to ISA directive, a shareholder voting agreement creating a controlling
block in a company must be accompanied by a ―special tender offer‖. A control block
is defined as 25% or more of company shares. Such a tender offer is required if a
control block is created unless another shareholder has similar holdings, or in a case
where a purchase would award the buyer with more than 45% of voting rights, unless
another shareholder already holds at least 45% of those rights (Companies Law, Section
328).

According to the Companies Law, a special tender offer requires that a majority of
shareholders approves the offer. Therefore the offer cannot be directed at a particular
group of shareholders and the buyer is prevented from circumventing the main body
of shareholders when acquiring a control block in the company. The ISA also
instructed that the agreement cannot be negotiated as pertaining to only a portion of
the shares held by the agreeing parties. Rather, all shares must be taken into account
when calculating the total value of the voting block and the requirement for a special

tender offer. The rationale behind this statute is to prevent one from acquiring control
disproportionate to their equity ownership. 3

For more on tender offers and control purchase, see below Principle II.E.
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Enforcement measures have already been detailed in Chapter I.

3

http://www.isa.gov.il

2.3.5 – Principle II.E
―Markets for corporate control should be allowed to function in an efficient and
transparent manner. 1. The rules and procedures governing the acquisition of
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corporate control in the capital markets, and extraordinary transactions such as
mergers, and sales of substantial portions of corporate assets, should be clearly
articulated and disclosed so that investors understand their rights and recourse.
Transactions should occur at transparent prices and under fair conditions that
protect the rights of all shareholders according to their class. 2. Anti-take-over
devices should not be used to shield management and the board from accountability‖.

In an economic system where the voting stock (shares) of companies are publicly
bought and sold through a stock exchange, the term "market for corporate control"
refers to the process by which ownership and control of companies is transferred from
one group of investors and managers to another. The effectiveness of the market for
corporate control depends, inter alia, on the prevalence of potential tender offerors
who monitor the market to locate inefficient corporations, on the efficiency of the
capital markets that provide the large sums needed for takeovers, and on the existence
of a legal regime that makes it difficult for the current controlling owners to prevent
takeovers. Beyond these factors, the most important basis for the existence of a
market for corporate control is the quantity of shares that may be acquired at the time
of the takeover attempt. When a person holds effective control of the company with
less than 50% of the outstanding shares, it is possible to gain a larger percentage of
holdings and take control. By holding an absolute majority of shares, however, a
controlling owner can render the company immune to takeovers. It makes no
difference how inefficient the controlling party will then be; so long as it holds an
absolute majority, the controlling interest cannot be usurped other than through a
consensual, private transaction. In Israel, most companies, public and private, remain
closely held by controlling shareholders, thus to a large extent preventing the
development of markets for corporate control.

M&A Governance
Mergers and acquisitions of companies are regulated in the context of the Companies
Law, Securities Law and Antitrust Law.

For details on Companies Law regulations regarding mergers, see above section
2.3.2.3.
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The Securities Authority supervises compliance with the provisions of the Securities
Law regarding disclosure of mergers and acquisitions. The Securities Regulations
require that changes in the holdings of an Interested Party in a public company be
disclosed to the ISA and the TASE through the automated filing system (Securities
Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Reports) -1970, Section 33(a)).

If the transfer of control involves a tender offer, disclosure requirements cover the
entire tender process, from the time the decision is made and approved by the
company through execution. All reports filed with the ISA are automatically
disseminated to the public at large through the automated filing system.

Merger and acquisition activity (of both private and public companies) is regulated by
the Israel Antitrust Authority under the Antitrust Law – 1988. The law requires prior
notification for approval for all mergers under any one of the following conditions:
a)

One of the parties is a monopoly as defined by the law;

b)

The merger creates a monopoly;

c)

The combined sales turnover of the merging companies, in the fiscal year
preceding the merger, exceeded 150 million NIS.
(Antitrust Law, Section 17(a))

Tender Offers
Israel's Companies Law governs practices regarding transfer of control, along with
minority shareholders' rights associated with such a transfer. As noted above in
Principle II.D, section 328 of the Companies Law establishes two thresholds which
necessitate the issuance of a ―special tender offer‖. The Law requires entities
acquiring 25% or more of the voting rights in a public company, if no other
shareholder holds at least a 25% interest, to issue a "special" tender offer to all
shareholders. A second threshold is set at 45%. If no other entity already holds more
than 45% in a public company, any transaction which brings a shareholder‘s holdings
to 45% or more requires a special tender offer. Private placements resulting in one of

the two types of acquisition or transfer of control are exempt from tender
requirements, if the transaction is approved by a general shareholders meeting. Other
transactions exempt from this requirement include acquisitions from parties holding
more than 25% control of voting rights or more than 45% control in cases in which
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the acquisition results in the acquirer attaining 45% or more interest in the company.
The special tender is accepted only if approved by a majority of the shareholders
responding to the tender that are not affiliated with either a principal shareholder of
the offeror or a controlling shareholder in that company. If the tender is accepted,
shareholders who did not respond have 4 days to accept the offer.

The law requires shareholders acquiring shares that bring their holdings to 90% or
more to issue a "full" tender offer, which in effect makes the company private. If the
tender is accepted, and less than 5% remain in the hands of non-respondent minority
shareholders, the Law mandates compulsory sale of these remaining shares. If the
tender is rejected, the acquirer is unable to increase their holdings above 90%
(Companies Law, Section 336). Shareholders objecting to the compulsory sale can appeal

to the court regarding the valuation of the proceeds from the compulsory sale, but not
the sale itself. Should the price be successfully contended, the revised price will be
binding for all share holders participating in the tender and not only those who
initially rejected the offer (Companies Law, Section 338).
The Securities Regulations (Tender Offers) – 2000, include additional provisions
regarding tender offers. Regarding all tender offers, the Regulations provide, inter
alia, as follows:
-

a tender offer will be irrevocable and may not be qualified, other than
in the circumstances set out in the Regulations;

-

A tender offer will be made to all holders of securities of the class the
purchase of which is being tendered;

-

A tender offer will be made in writing;

-

A tender offer and the acceptance thereof will be pursuant to equal
terms made to all offerees holding securities of the same class;

Regarding disclosure, the Regulations provide that the offeror must make a schedule
available to the tendered company, the TASE and the ISA containing all information

that may be important to a shareholder considering a response to the offer. The
schedule should include all the details of the transaction (amount and type of
securities the offeror has undertaken to purchase, plans for future transactions or
mergers regarding the tendered company etc.). After submitting the schedule, the
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offeror must report the submission in the newspapers. The ISA can declare the
submitted schedule lacking sufficient information and require the offeror to amend it
within one business day or postpone the transaction date. The board of directors of the
tendered company must submit a report regarding the proposed transaction no later
than 5 business days prior to the scheduled transaction date. This report shall be open
to all shareholders who wish to be privy to it.

An extended report on disclosure requirement and procedures is available in Chapter
V.

Redress during change of control
The Companies Law stipulates that any transfer of control not executed in accordance
with the regulations of either special or full tender offers is subject to challenge
(Sections 333, 340). Excess voting rights are considered null and void as long as the

shares remain in the control of the violating shareholder. Such violations also
constitute cause for civil suits by the other shareholders, assuming they can prove
damages. Regulation of and compliance with tender offer requirements is supervised
and enforced by the Israel Securities Authority.

In a case where a controlling shareholder sells his shares to a third party, the
controlling shareholder is obligated to act fairly towards the company (Companies Law,
Section 193). This duty protects minority and non-voting shareholders during the sale of

a company. The Supreme Court interpreted the duty to act fairly towards the company
in the Kosoy case, where it restricted the sale of shares to a purchaser who brought the
company to insolvency. The Court found that at the time of the sale the controlling
shareholder could foresee that the actions of the purchaser would cause the company
to become insolvent and therefore compelled the seller to return to the company those
sums that it lost as a result of the purchaser's actions.

Transactions – Fair Conditions and the Role of Board Members
According to the Companies Law, when a special tender offer is made, the board of
directors of the target company must recommend its opinion to the offerees regarding
the advisability of the special tender offer. This protects minority shareholders from
Page | 125

unfair transactions. If the board refrains from expressing its opinion regarding the
advisability of the offer, it must publicize its reasons for its so refraining. The board
of directors shall also disclose any personal interest that each one of the directors may
have in the tender offer or in its consequences (Companies Law, Section 329).

An officer (including a director) in the target company who in their capacity as an
officer acts so as to defeat an existing or expected special tender offer or to limit its
chances for acceptance, will be liable to the offeror and the offeree for damages
suffered as a result of their actions, unless they have acted in good faith and have a
reasonable basis for believing that they acted for the good of the company (Companies
Law, section 330).

An officer may negotiate with the offeror to improve the terms of the offer and they
may negotiate with others in order to formulate a competing tender offer.

Delisting of Shares
Delisting a company is an aspect of the market in corporate control that could be
particularly damaging to some shareholders as well as to stakeholders such as
creditors. In Israel, companies can delist their shares voluntarily or can be compelled
to delist if they do not comply with TASE Maintenance Rules, which are designed to
encourage public companies to increase equity and the public float. Failure to comply
with the Maintenance Rules constitutes cause for the security to be transferred to a
special list, the TASE Maintenance List, on which trade is limited, and may ultimately
lead to the security‘s delisting from the TASE. The basic maintenance requirements
include: maintaining a minimum free float (in absolute monetary terms); a minimum
free float rate; and minimum equity value (based on the previous four financial
statements filed).
Compliance with the requirements for public holdings and shareholders‘ equity is
examined twice a year, each January and July. Public holdings are checked based on

year-end (Dec. 31) and mid-year (June 30) data, respectively. Equity is examined
based on information from the four successive financial statements released prior to
the examination date. When a company does not comply with the Maintenance Rules,
the TASE notifies it and grants it a six-month grace period. This period allows the
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company to improve its status and regain compliance with the requirements by either
raising additional capital or encouraging principal shareholders to offer their shares to
the public. Failure to comply with the Maintenance Rules following the grace period
results in the transfer of company securities to the Maintenance List, as stated above.
The List is displayed on the TASE website so that traders are aware of which
companies are on it. After two years on the List, if the company has not met TASE
requirements for return to the Regular List and to full trading format, the security will
be delisted from the TASE. In order for a company to resume trading its shares on the
Regular List, it must comply with quantitative requirements that are higher than those
required in the Maintenance Rules and become even higher after 12 months on the
Maintenance List.

Criteria Governing TASE Maintenance Rules
A listed company's shares must comply with all of the following requirements:


Public-float value – no less than NIS 5 million.



Public-float rate – no less than 15% of the share capital (only if the publicfloat value is less than NIS 15 million).



Equity – no less than NIS 2 million, based on the four successive most
recently released financial statements (in cases when the public-float value is
less than NIS 24 million).

To encourage R&D companies to list on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange, the exchange
decided to assure them of exemption from its Maintenance List for a period of three
years from their initial offering. This will only apply to companies that meet the
definition of R&D Companies in the TASE Rules and Regulations.

To resume trading after being listed on the Maintenance List, the company must
comply with the following requirements:
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Cause for

Threshold to resume

Threshold to resume trading on

suspension/transf

trading on the Regular

the Regular List and for transfer

er to

List and for transfer of a

of a security from the

Maintenance List

security from the

Maintenance List to the Regular

Maintenance List to the

List after 12 months from the

Regular List within the

date at which the security ceased

first 12 months from the

trading on the Regular List

date at which the security
ceased trading on the
Regular List
A. The public-

The public-float value is

float value is

no less than NIS 7

lower than NIS 5

million.

million.

The public-float rate of

All the conditions detailed
below:
The public-float value and rate
are no less than the amounts

B. The public-

shares is no less than 20%

required from a new company,

float rate is lower

(excluding special rules for

according to the alternatives

than 7.5%, and the

companies facing

specified in Rules &

public-float value

difficulties) or the public-

Regulations of the TASE.

is lower than NIS

float value is no less than

8 million.

NIS 15 million.

C. Equity is lower

Equity is no less than NIS 4

which financial statements

than NIS 2

million.

were prepared.

million, based on

The company has concluded a
12-month period of activity for

Equity is no less than NIS 16

the last four

million.

successive
financial
statements, and
the public-float
value is lower than
NIS 24 million
D. Other causes

Removal of the cause for

Removal of the cause for

(excluding causes

suspension.

suspension.

under Section
6.B.2 or Section
6.B.3 of the TASE
Rules).
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Suspension of trade can ultimately lead to delisting as well. Companies are suspended
when there is concern regarding fairness and propriety of trading relating to their
securities. Causes for suspension include: delinquent filing of financial statements,
insolvency, and uncertainty regarding the company or one or more of its controlling
shareholders. A list of suspended companies is available on the TASE website.
During suspension, the suspended security is not traded, but the company is subject to
all of the obligations applicable to listed companies, such as filing financial
statements, current reports, convening shareholders meetings, etc. During suspension,
the company may act to remove the cause for suspension, thus enabling the
resumption of trade. Securities are suspended for a maximum of two years. If the
conditions for resume trading, in the regular list, are not met, the securities are
delisted from the TASE.

When the value of a convertible bond series held by the public is lower than NIS 1.6
million, or when the value of a corporate bond series is lower than NIS 1.6 million the
securities will be desisted from trading. In addition, if a permanent liquidator has been
assigned to a company, all of its securities will be delisted, no later than 180 days
after the appointment.

A company will delist from the TASE after conducting a tender offer in which all of
the company‘s publicly held shares are acquired. The company is delisted when no
shares remain with the public.

If a company wishes to voluntarily delist without a tender offer, a formal settlement
between the company and its shareholders must be drawn up and then approved by
the court (Companies Law, Section 350). The company's agreement to the settlement prior
to delisting is therefore subject to the approval of the general shareholders meeting
with a required 75% majority of those voting. The shareholders are not entitled to
delegate this authority to the board of directors. Should the above conditions be met,

the TASE board of directors will approve the delisting which will then be executed
within 60 days of the TASE board approval.

Anti-takeover Devices
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In Israel, anti-takeover devices such as ―poison pills‖, ―golden parachutes‖ and
variation of voting rights are uncommon, because, as mentioned above, most
companies are held by controlling shareholders and therefore hostile takeovers are
rare. In most cases of control transfer the transaction is completed outside trade on the
TASE. Many mergers take place between affiliated companies and constitute
corporate reorganizations rather than a transfer of control to third-party shareholders.

2.3.6 – Principle II.F
―The exercise of ownership rights by all shareholders, including institutional
investors, should be facilitated. 1. Institutional investors acting in a fiduciary capacity
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should disclose their overall corporate governance and voting policies with respect to
their investments, including the procedures that they have in place for deciding on the
use of their voting rights; 2. Institutional investors acting in a fiduciary capacity
should disclose how they manage material conflicts of interest that may affect the
exercise of key ownership rights regarding their investments‖.

Fund Manager Voting Policy and Obligations
The manager of a fund that holds shares issued by a public corporation (excluding
foreign securities) is required to participate and vote (i.e. not abstain) at a general
meeting of the corporation, if in their opinion a proposed resolution submitted for the
approval of the general meeting may potentially harm the interest of the unit holders.
Potential harm to the interest of the unit holders includes any transaction with an
Interested Party. The fund manager must provide a detailed report to the ISA and the
TASE regarding their vote at the general meeting ( Joint Investment Trust Law, Section 77).
The report must include: the name and TASE number of the share by virtue of which
the manager participated in the meeting; the value of the share; the decisions voted
upon at the meeting and how the fund manager voted on each decision.
Statistics compiled by the Israel Securities Authority indicate that the participation of
mutual fund managers in voting at general meetings is increasing:
Fund Manager Participation in General Meetings Where Resolutions Were Raised
Requiring a Fund Manager Vote 4
Year

No. of

Less than 30% fund

Between 30% – 70%

Above 70% fund

Meetings

manager

fund manager

manager

participation

participation

participation

No. of

Percentage

meetings

No. of

Percentage

meetings

No. of

Percentage

meetings

2006

547

121

22.1%

88

16.1%

338

61.8%

2007

785

177

22.6%

112

14.3%

496

63.1%

4

Table was taken and translated from ISA 2007 annual report, p. 38.

The Control of Provident Funds Law requires a separation between the management
company and the provident funds that it manages, with the provident funds essentially
constituting an account maintained in trust for the fund members.
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In the insurance industry, the integrity of policy-holder assets for policies which
include an element of savings is insured in a different manner. The Investment
Regulations that apply to insurance companies require that the management of general
insurance be conducted separately from that of life insurance. The law also requires
separate management of policy funds which like defined-contribution pension funds
place investment risk on the insured (hereinafter: "yield dependent policy funds.")
The insurer is subject to fiduciary duties and duties of care with regard to the
management of yield dependent policy funds.

The Investment Regulations require that the board of directors of an insurer establish
separate investment committees – an investment committee for the management of
the yield dependent policy funds and a nostro investment committee. The Investment
Regulations applicable to a management company require the establishment of an
investment committee for each provident fund it manages. Most of the members of an
insurer‘s yield dependent investment committee and of the investment committee of a
provident fund must meet the criteria established by the Companies Law for external
directors. According to the regulations, the investment committees operate in the
framework of the general policy established by the insurer and the main function of
the investment committees is to determine asset allocation, approve transactions and
supervise the execution of the policies established by the investment managers.

The Investment Regulations include conditions regarding the professional abilities
and honesty for members of the investment committees and for investment managers,
and rules regarding the prevention of conflicts of interest, including a prohibition
preventing a member of the yield dependent investment committee serving on the
nostro investment committee as well.

The Investment Regulations require that transactions with parties related to the
insurer, for which the consideration is paid out of the yield dependent liabilities, be

ratified by 2/3 of the external directors, and that their total amount not exceed 7.5% of
assets. It is noted regarding this matter that an investment in companies controlled by
the controlling shareholder of the insurer or of the management company is permitted
only in public companies and that transactions with a controlling shareholder of the
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insurer or with a party holding more than 20% of the means of control in the insurer
are prohibited.

The Control of Insurance Business Law and the Provident Funds Law impose on the
insurance companies and on provident fund managers some of the obligations that are
imposed on public companies, including the obligation to appoint an audit committee,
an internal auditor, and external directors – including external directors with
accounting and financial expertise. The insurance companies and management
companies are also required to appoint an actuary and a risk manager.

Furthermore, the Committee for the Examination of the Necessary Steps for
Increasing the Involvement of Institutional Investors in the Israeli Capital Market
(henceforth: The "Hamdani Committee") submitted its recommendations in January
2008. Initial discussions are now in progress as to whether the recommendations shall
be adopted and incorporated into the law. Regarding participation and voting in
general meetings, the committee recommended (summarily) that:
Institutional investors shall be present at the general meeting and will be
required to vote on a set list of essential resolutions included in the law. The list
will include resolutions such as the approval of transactions with controlling
shareholders or officers (related party transactions); appointment of external
directors; approval of a compromise or arrangement between a company and its
creditors or shareholders and other resolutions requiring a special majority
under the Companies Law.

Disclosure and Management of Conflict of Interest
Since the enactment of the Law to Encourage Competition and Reduce Concentration
and Conflicts of Interests in Israel's Capital Market (Legislative Amendments) – 2005
("Bachar Act"), the potential for conflicts of interest between institutional investment
management and other banking or investment banking activities has been greatly
reduced. The law mandated the divestment of mutual and provident fund management

from the commercial banks, which under universal banking dominated the
commercial banking, consumer credit, investment banking, asset management and
investment advisory services industries. Since enactment of the law, virtually all
mutual and provident fund management activity has been divested from the banks.
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In addition to the structural changes, the issue of conflicts of interest in the mutual
fund industry is addressed in the statutes. According to the Joint Investment Trust
Law any transaction that engenders a potential conflict of interest not only has to be
disclosed, it must be approved by the fund manager's board of directors (Joint
Investment Trust Law, Section 18(6)). Every board of directors of a public company by law

must include at least two external directors, an additional safeguard against conflict of
interest (Companies Law, Section 239).

The law stipulates a closed list of matters potentially involving conflict of interest,
including:


Block trading (other than Israeli T-Bills (MAKAM)) between funds
managed by the same manager in sums exceeding NIS 50,000 or 1% of
the value of the acquiring fund's assets, whichever is the lower.



Subscribing to an offering for which a party holding 5% or more interest
in the fund manager, or a company controlled by said party ("related
parties") is the offeror or underwriter.



Block trading with "related parties" who serve as investment managers
for others of the securities held in their portfolios.

(Joint Investment Trust Law Regulations (Transactions that may Involve a Conflict of Interests and
Substantial Transactions)-1995, Section 2)

Furthermore, the funds' trustee can deem other transactions as bearing potential
conflicts of interest, which necessitate board approval (Joint Investment Trust Law, Section
78(b)).

In addition to the above legal guidelines, the ISA is working on an updated provision
to the Joint Investment Trust Regulations (Prospectus Details, Guidelines and
Structure)-1969 which is currently in final deliberations in the Knesset Finance

Committee. Section 42 of the proposed regulations states that the fund manager must
disclose how he reached the decision on how to vote on any resolution brought before
the corporation‘s general shareholders meeting. He must detail the methods utilized to
ensure that there exists no conflict of interest, including any consultation with or
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utilization of external expert opinions, particularly in cases where the risk for such
conflict arises.

If approved, this update would require significant disclosure relating to voting policy
by mutual fund managers.

Furthermore, regarding management of potential conflict of interest involved in
institutional investor voting policy, the Hamdani Committee made several
recommendations (summarily):
1) Transparency: An institutional investor shall be required to report their
voting policy and give an explanation if and when the actual vote was
made in a manner which might raise suspicion of a conflict of interests.
2) Voting related to connected corporations: the manner of voting for a
corporation which is connected to the institutional investor shall be
decided by the external representatives on the investment committee of the
institutional investor.
3) Institutional investors shall be encouraged to receive support from
professional entities that have the necessary expertise to provide voting
recommendations.

Limitations regarding employees and office holders in a fund manager are set out in
sections 21 and 22 of the Joint Investment Trust Law and these are designed primarily
to pre-empt conflicts of interest that may arise. For example, a director of a mutual
fund manager or a member of an investment committee of a fund manager may not
buy or sell any exchange traded security except by giving a written instruction at least
one day prior to execution of the transaction. Such a transaction may not be settled off
the exchange.

Similar rules apply to all employees of mutual fund managers. Upon taking up
employment the employee must, within seven days of his beginning his employment,

inform the trustee of one of the funds managed by the fund manager of all the
securities that he or she holds. The trustee must also be informed, each time within
seven days, of all securities bought or sold by the employee. The trustee must retain
records of these transactions for at least seven years. The above provisions apply also
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to spouses of the persons in question. The above provisions do not apply to securities
bought or sold for an employee under a blind trust agreement i.e. where the employee
had no input in the investment decision. They also do not apply to anyone who is not
an Israeli resident and who participates in decisions relating only to foreign securities
issued by companies that are not registered in Israel.

Risk Management
Whilst the law and regulations do not explicitly refer to risk management, they do
stipulate limitations on investments which are designed to limit risk. These are set out
in The Joint Investment in Trust Law (Assets that may be Bought and Held by a Fund
and their Maximum Amounts) Regulations -1994, The Joint Investment in Trust Law
(Options, Future Contracts and Short Sales) Regulations -2001 and The Joint
Investment in Trust Law (Credit Transactions) Regulations -2001. Joint Investment in
Trust Law (Options, Future Contracts and Short Sales) Regulations The Options,
Future Contracts and Short Sales Regulations, for example, obligate the investment
committee to stipulate rules for investing in derivatives and supervising the fund
manager's compliance with these regulations.

Amendment 13 when it comes into force will include a requirement that fund
managers appoint an internal auditing committee.

2.3.7 – Principle II.G
―Shareholders, including institutional shareholders, should be allowed to consult with
each other on issues concerning their basic shareholder rights as defined in the
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Principles, subject to exceptions to prevent abuse‖.

The Companies Law stipulates that all shareholders must avoid discriminating against
other shareholders (Companies Law, Section 191).

A controlling shareholder in the company must act fairly towards the company. This
applies also to:
1) A shareholder who knows that the manner in which he votes will be
decisive in respect of a resolution of the general meeting or of a class
meeting of the company;
2) A shareholder who, pursuant to the provisions of the by-laws, has the power
to appoint or to prevent the appointment of an officer in the company or
any other power vis-à-vis the company (Section 193(a)).

A breach of this duty of fairness is treated (mutatis mutandis) as if it were a breach of
the fiduciary duty of an officer (Companies Law, Section 193(b)).

All shareholders, including substantial and controlling shareholders must act in good
faith and in a customary manner when exercising their rights and fulfilling their duties
towards the company and other shareholders (including minority shareholders) and
must avoid exploiting their power in the company, inter alia, in voting at the general
meeting and at class meetings regarding to the following matters:
1. Alteration of the by-laws.
2. Increasing the registered share capital.
3. Mergers.
4. Approval of acts and transactions requiring the approval of the general
meeting such as extraordinary transaction of the company with its
controlling shareholder, or if the controlling shareholder has a private
interest in the transaction.
(Companies Law, Section 192).

Solicitation and tender
The board of directors and any person at whose demand the board of directors
convenes an extraordinary general meeting, may address the shareholders in writing,
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via the company, in order to convince them of how to vote on one of the items to be
discussed at the meeting (hereinafter ―position statement‖); the company shall send
position statements along with voting papers for the meeting (Companies Law, Section
88(a)).

Where a general meeting has been convened with one of the matters to be voted by
proxy, a shareholder of the company may address the company and request that it
send a position statement on behalf of the shareholder to the other shareholders in the
company. In this case the board of directors of the company may also send a position
statement of its own in response to the position statement already sent (Companies Law,
Section 88(b), (c)).

There are no specific provisions that deal with the rights of institutional shareholders
to consult with each other on issues concerning their shareholder rights. Nonetheless,
the antitrust law may prevent collaboration between institutional shareholders.

The Hamdeni Committee recommended that the General Director of the Antitrust
Authority can consider an exemption (with conditions) to this type of collaboration.

Chapter III:
The equitable treatment of shareholders
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3.3.1 – Principle III.A
“All shareholders of the same series of a class should be treated equally”.

3.3.1.1 – Principle III.A.1
“Within any series of a class, all shares should carry the same rights. All investors
should be able to obtain information about the rights attached to all series and
classes of shares before they purchase. Any changes in voting rights should be subject
to approval by those classes of shares which are negatively affected”.
Different classes – Private companies
Section 82 of the Companies Law provides that a company may establish different
voting rights for different classes of shares in its by-laws. A company may have
shares or other securities, each of which has differential rights (Companies Law, section
285).

Different classes – TASE-listed companies
Regarding a company that seeks to list its shares for trade on the stock exchange,
Section 46a of the Securities Law provides that no stock exchange may permit the
registration for trade of shares or of securities that can be converted into or exercised
as shares unless the company‘s share capital consists of only one class of securities,
which grant equal voting rights in proportion to their par value.
This condition does not apply to special State shares – i.e., shares that the government
has decided that it must have in order to protect an essential interest, and which grants
the government special rights as the government has established in a resolution prior
to the other shares being listed for trading.

Nothing in that provision prevents a company from issuing preferred shares (i.e.
shares that grant preference rights for dividends and do not grant voting rights).

According to Article 46 B of the law, the share capital of a company embarking on an
IPO must "consist of one class of shares conferring equal voting rights".

With regard to established companies that were listed for trading on the exchange
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prior to the enactment of section 46a in 1990, the statute provides that they are
allowed to maintain multiple classes of shares differentiated by voting rights, but can
only issue new shares bearing the superior voting rights. All additional offerings shall
be restricted to shares with superior voting rights. Those companies are required to
fully disclose all rights attached to all series and classes of shares.

Companies can issue "preferred shares" that provide a larger share in profits in
exchange for voting rights. This instrument, however, is not commonly used. In any
case in which reporting companies issue shares differentiated by voting rights, this
must be disclosed.

Section 20(c) of the Companies Law provides that the by-laws may not be amended in
a manner which adversely affects the rights of a class of shares without the approval
of a meeting of that class of shareholders, unless the by-laws provide otherwise. Class
meetings are also required to approve any amendment of the by-laws relating to
provisions dealing with the release, indemnification and insurance of company
officers (Companies Law, Section 262). Mergers must be approved by class meetings of
the absorbed company (Companies Law, Section 320(b)).

Director responsibility
The directors‘ duty of care and fiduciary duty is owed to the company and not to its
shareholders. According to this principal, the directors must act independently in the
company‘s best interest and not in the interest of the shareholders behind their
appointment.

Information Disclosure
The following disclosure requirements pertain to all reporting companies and are not
limited to those listed on the TASE. Section 8 of the Companies Law provides that the
by-laws are to be attached when a company is registered with the Companies
Registrar. According to section 21(b) of the Law, the company must send the text of

any change in the by-laws to the Registrar. Section 43 provides that the registers
maintained by the Registrar are open to the public for review.
Public companies‘ by-laws are published on MAGNA and thus available to the
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public.
Thus a potential purchaser may view the company‘s by-laws in order to ascertain
what voting rights are attached to a particular share before purchasing it.

According to the Securities Law, all shareholders holding 5% or more ownership in a
public company are considered "interested parties" and must report their holdings and
changes in them to the public company. For its part, the company must publicly
disclose all Interested Party holdings in an "immediate report" through the Israel
Securities Authority electronic filing system ( Securities Regulations (Periodic and Immediate
Reports) – 1970, section 3(a)). Each report summarizes the transactions made and presents

the updated status of ownership. In addition, a report outlining current ownership
structure must be submitted weekly for all weeks during which a change in holdings
occurred. Banks and insurance companies are exempt from filing for each individual
transaction, but must file the weekly ownership structure report. Should cumulative
changes in the holdings of bank or insurers exceed 1% since the previous ownership
structure report, the change must be disclosed in an immediate report. In addition, the
ownership structure must also be disclosed in the company's periodic financial reports
and in prospectuses.

Varying Voting Rights
Classes of shares and securities may be varied as established in the by-laws. The
following is a specification of different classes of securities. (Note that the name
given to a security is not in itself sufficient to establish what rights are attached to it.
The attached rights are in accordance with the company‘s by-laws.)
Regular shares – these grant a right to vote at general meetings and to participate in
profits that are to be distributed and to participate in the company‘s surplus assets
upon dissolution.

Preferred shares – shares that grant preferred rights relative to those attributed to
regular shares. In principle, preferred rights are manifested regarding early dividend
distribution, at a fixed percentage, with other potential benefits being the right to
participate in surplus assets upon dissolution. Usually, the voting rights of preferred
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shares are subordinate.
Foundation shares – These are generally shares with limited rights to receive a part
of the profits that remain folioing distribution to regular shareholders.
Management shares – Generally grant the right to elect and be elected to the board
of directors.
Deferred shares – Generally confer upon their owners the right to receive a dividend
after a specific amount has been distributed out of the profits to the other
shareholders. Occasionally, these shares do not grant a right to receive a dividend but
only the right to receive a part of the company‘s assets upon dissolution. These shares
do not always grant voting rights.
Redeemable shares – Securities which the company has determined may be
redeemed. Voting rights or profit sharing rights may be attached to them. In the event
that the right to redeem them is limited to a situation in which the company is being
liquidated, they may only be redeemed in accordance with the distribution rules.
(Companies Law, Section 312)
Golden Shares – In the case of golden shares, the State of Israel‘s interests in the
company are defined and a specification is provided of the resolutions which cannot
take effect without the advance written consent of the golden share‘s owner. The
share may carry provisions requiring, inter alia, that directors and officers hold Israeli
citizenship and a permit be acquired to hold and transfer a specified portion of the
shares. There are also provisions relating to the right of the holder of the golden share
to receive information from the company.

3.3.1.2 – Principle III.A.2
"Minority shareholders should be protected from abusive actions by, or in the interest
of, controlling shareholders acting either directly or indirectly, and should have
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effective means of redress”.

Israel's Companies Law provides safeguards and civil remedies for minority
shareholders from abuse by controlling shareholders. The Companies Law protects
minority shareholders from majority abuse in several manners.

Duties towards shareholders
According to sections 192 and 193 of the Companies Law, the shareholders have the
following duties towards the company and towards the other shareholders:


A shareholder will, in exercising his rights and in carrying out his duties to
the company and to the other shareholders, act in good faith and in a
customary manner, and will refrain from exploiting his power within the
company, specifically when voting on certain key issues.



A shareholder will refrain from discriminating against other shareholders.



The following have a duty to act fairly towards the company:
107. The party controlling the company (Controlling shareholders).
108. A shareholder who knows that his vote will be determinative with
respect to a resolution at a company general meeting or a class general
meeting.
109. A shareholder who, according to the by-laws, has the power to appoint
or prevent the appointment of a company officer.

This obligation must be complied with at the time of the sale of control as well.

The laws regarding a breach of contract will apply to a breach of any of the abovementioned provisions, and the injured parties can submit their claims, inter alia,
through a class or derivative action.
Directors' duties to shareholders – The directors‘ duty of care and fiduciary duty is
owed to the company and not to its shareholders. A duty of care or a fiduciary duty is

owed the shareholders only when harm done the shareholders does not stem from
harm done the company.

Handling conflicts of interest in the general meeting
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The Companies Law requires a special majority vote for the approval of certain
transactions regarding which there is a possible conflict of interest.

The approval of a compromise or arrangement between the company and its
shareholders pursuant to section 350 of the Companies Law requires a majority of
75% at each shareholder meeting.
Section 20c of the Companies Law also requires that in cases in which the company‘s
shares are divided into classes, the by-laws may not be amended in a manner that
adversely impacts the rights of a class of shares without the approval of a meeting of
that class (unless the by-laws provide otherwise).

Approval of a transaction with a controlling shareholder –
An extraordinary transaction is defined as one which is not carried out in the
ordinary course of business, a transaction that is not carried out pursuant to market
conditions or a transaction which can have a substantial effect on the company‘s
affairs.
In principle, extraordinary transactions involving controlling shareholders 5, their
relations or parties otherwise connected to them, require approval by the following
entities:
1. the audit committee;
2. the board of directors;
3. the general meeting, provided that one of the following applies:

5

Transaction with a controlling shareholder, or an extraordinary transaction of a public company with
a different person, in which a controlling shareholder has a personal interest, including a private
placement in which the controlling shareholder has a personal interest; and a contract between a public
company with a controlling shareholder or with a relative of such a party, (a relative is defined in the
statute as a spouse, sibling, parent, grandparent, offspring or spouse‘s offspring, or the spouse of any of
these) if he is also an officer in the company – regarding the terms of his service and his employment,
and if he is a company employee but not an officer – regarding his employment by the company.

 in a count of votes, the majority in the general meeting includes at
least one third of all the votes of those shareholders present that do
not have a personal interest in the approval of the transaction
(abstentions are not counted ).
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 total of opposing votes amongst the shareholders referred to in subparagraph (a) is not greater than one percent of the sum voting rights
in the company.

Additionally, the controlling shareholder is required to disclose every transaction he
enters into with the company, even if it is not extraordinary, no later than the Board of
Directors meeting at which the transaction is discussed.

The ministry of justice is currently considering the possibility of amending the
Companies Law and changing the majority required in the general meeting from at
least one third of all the votes of those shareholders that do not have a personal
interest in the approval of the transaction, who are present at the meeting to a regular
majority (more than 50%).
In addition, a proposal to change the rule providing that the total number of the
opposing votes cast does not exceed a certain percentage of the voting rights in the
company, from 1% to 2%, is now being considered.

The following transaction requires the approval of the Board of Directors, followed
by the approval of the General Meeting:
A placement which confers twenty percent or more of the actual voting rights in the
company prior to the issuance and all or some of the consideration is not cash or
securities listed for trading on the stock exchange or is not in accordance with market
conditions, and as a result of which a substantial shareholder‘s holdings of the
company‘s securities will increase, or as a result of which a person will become a
substantial shareholder after the issue, or:
as a result of the placement, a person will become a controlling shareholder of the
company. (Companies Law, section 273).

Transactions involving directors and senior management
Transactions involving company directors or officers are submitted to the following
approval process:
(1) If a regular transaction, dealing with the officer‘s employment terms,
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insurance or indemnification, it must be approved by the board of directors
(unless otherwise stated in the by-laws). If an extraordinary transaction (as
defined above) it requires approval of the audit committee as well as the board
of directors. (In the case of a private company that does not have an audit
committee, the approval of the board of directors is sufficient unless the
approval is of a loan to a director, in which case the approval of the general
meeting is also required.)
(2) A contract between the company and one of its directors regarding the terms
of his service, including the granting of loans in the context of employment
terms, and a contract between the company and one of its directors regarding
the terms of his employment in other positions (hereinafter: "terms of service
and of employment") requires the approval of the board of directors, and
afterwards that of the general meeting. In the case of a public company, the
approval of the audit committee is required prior to that of the board of
directors.

A shareholder who participates in a vote regarding an extraordinary transaction with a
controlling shareholder will notify the company prior to the vote at the meeting or at
the time of the vote – or if the vote is cast through a proxy ballot, then on the back of
the ballot – whether or not he has a personal interest in the transaction‘s approval. If
the shareholder does not give notice as stated, he may not vote and his vote will not be
counted.

The definition of a controlling shareholder for this purpose is more expansive than the
general definition in the statute, and also includes someone who holds 25% or more of
the voting rights in the company, if there is no other shareholder who holds more than
25% of the voting rights.

Invalid transactions
(a) A transaction between the company and an officer or an extraordinary transaction
between a public company and its controlling shareholder is invalid unless it is
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approved in accordance with the above-mentioned provisions, or if there has been
a substantial defect in the approval process, or if the transaction was carried out
in a manner which substantially deviates from the terms of the approval.
(b) A transaction that has not been properly approved will also not be valid vis-a-vis
any other person, if that person knew of the personal interest of an officer or of a
controlling shareholder in the transaction‘s approval, and knew or should have
known that the transaction lacked the approval required pursuant to the abovementioned provisions.

Scope of related party transactions
Ratification of transactions between public companies and controlling entities (or
parties connected to them) is subject to rules set down in the Companies Law. A
controlling entity is one that holds at least 25% of voting rights or has practical
authority within the company. Transactions must be approved by the board of
directors and the audit committee and ratified by shareholders by a majority which
includes at least one third of the company's minority shareholders.

Remuneration of key executives
Standard terms of compensation for an officer other than a director require the
approval of the board of directors, unless the by-laws provide otherwise.
Extraordinary terms of compensation of an officer other than a director, and the
granting of a release, insurance or indemnification to such an officer, require first the
approval of the audit committee, followed by that approval of the board of directors.

Terms of compensation for a director, including the granting of a release, insurance or
indemnification, requires the approval of the audit committee, the board of directors
and the general meeting.

In a public corporation, the approval of terms of compensation for a director who is
also a controlling shareholder, or for their relative, requires the approval of the audit

committee, the board of directors, and the general meeting. Special rules apply for the
adoption of the resolution at the general meeting. A third of those who are not
affected by the resolution must approve. The total number of the opposing votes cast
by the above-mentioned shareholders can not exceed one percent of all the company‘s
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voting rights.

Identification, authorization and monitoring related party transactions and
conflicts of interest.
According to the Companies Law, a director who is aware that he has a personal
interest in an existing or proposed company transaction must, without delay, and no
later than at the board of directors meeting in which the transaction is first discussed,
disclose the nature of their personal interest, including any material fact or document.

In public companies, the entire process of securing and approving 'related-party' loans
must be disclosed in immediate reports. Similarly, the acquisition of shares by
'principals' (principal shareholders, the CEO, directors or parties related to these)
requires an immediate report to the company which then discloses the information to
the public reports these transactions to the public.

The procedures outlined above are binding on all transactions with principals. An
interested director is not allowed to be present at the discussion and is not allowed to
vote in the board of directors or in the audit committee meeting on regarding the
transaction‘s approval. Major shareholders are allowed to vote on the approval at the
general shareholders meeting, however in some cases a super majority is required
which gives greater weight to the votes of minority shareholders.

Qualified Majorities
Authorizing the chairman of the board of directors to act as CEO – A public
company‘s CEO may not serve as its chairman of the board, and the CEO‘s powers
can not be conferred upon the chairman of the board. ( Companies Law, Section 95). The
general meeting may however approve such an appointment as a temporary measure
for up to three years provided that one of the following conditions is met:

1. The majority voting in favor of such authorization at the general meeting
must include at least two thirds of the votes of the present shareholders who
are not controlling shareholders in the company or who act on their behalf.
2. The opposing votes do not exceed one percent of all of shareholders.
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Discussions and consultations with the Securities Authority are currently being held
in order to promote a number of amendments relating to corporate governance, which
were raised, inter alia, as a result of the recommendations formulated by the advisory
committee established by the chairman of the Securities Authority and headed by
Professor Zohar Goshen. In this context, amendments to the Companies Law and to
the Securities Law will be considered, along with the expansion of disclosure duties.
Among the other subjects on the agenda are:
- Section 95 of the Companies Law (which allows the chairman of the board of
directors to serve as the CEO only after such appointment is approved, at least
once every three years, at the general meeting, by at least two thirds of those
who are not controlling shareholders) will also apply to the appointment of a
CEO who is a relative of the chairman of the board of directors.

The rights of shareholders to elect members of the board of directors
The Companies Law provides that the annual general meeting will appoint the
directors, unless otherwise provided in the by-laws (Section 59).
Regarding a company whose shares are listed for trading on a stock exchange in
Israel, any other mechanisms for the appointment of directors must meet the
requirement of section 46b of the Securities Law, which requires that the share capital
of a company whose shares are first listed for trading may include only one class of
shares, which confers equal voting rights in proportion to their par value (excluding
certain exceptions such as a special State share and preferred shares under certain
conditions).

Independent directors on (supervisory) boards
The Companies Law includes a requirement that a public company appoint two
external directors who do not have a connection to the company or to a controlling
shareholder. The power to appoint external directors is conferred upon the general
meeting provided that one of the following conditions is met:

(1) The majority voting in favor includes at least one third of the votes of the
shareholders who are not controlling shareholders. Abstention are not
counted.
(2) The total number of the opposing votes cast by the shareholders mentioned
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in paragraph (1) does not exceed one percent of all the company‘s voting
rights.

The ministry of justice is currently considering the possibility of amending the
Company Law and changing the majority required in the general meeting from at
least one third of all the votes of those shareholders that do not have a personal
interest in the approval of the transaction, who are present at the meeting, to a regular
majority. In addition, it is considering changing the rule allowing maximum
opposition of one percent of company voting rights to two percent.

The company may not stipulate alternate provisions regarding this matter (Companies
Law, Section 58).
The external director‘s term of office is set for three years and it may be extended for
up to three additional years. At the end of this period, there is a two year cooling off
period until the company may employ such a person in any position whatsoever. The
remuneration that an external director may be paid is limited by law.

Composition of the board of directors
Recently the Company Law was amended regarding the composition of the board of
directors. A public company may establish in its by-laws if it has no controlling
shareholders, most of the members of the board of directors will be disinterested
directors; or that if it does have a controlling shareholder, at least one third of the
members of the board of directors will be required to be disinterested directors. The
Securities Authority is currently discussing the possibility proposed that the law
should be amended to impose a duty of disclosure with regard to the adoption of this
provision.

Remedies available to shareholders
Related party approval procedures – Monitoring and Enforcement
Related-party approval procedures are monitored and enforced primarily by the
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shareholders themselves. The Companies Law is given to civil private enforcement
and is not actively supervised by any regulatory agency. The failure to receive proper
approval can invalidate a transaction.

Moreover, shareholders can file either direct or class actions to recover damages
resulting from these transactions. Individual shareholders are entitled to initiate class
action suits on behalf of all shareholders against public companies, their officers, and
directors for any cause under the Securities Law or and Companies Law. The Israel
Securities Authority can provide financial assistance for these suits, but is not
authorized to adjudicate class actions or to conduct administrative procedures or
arbitration on behalf of shareholders. Sanctions are imposed by the court.

In cases of alleged abuse, minority shareholders can petition the court to order the
company to cease, desist and/or prevent abusive conduct and to compel it to change
its bylaws to ensure equitable treatment of minority shareholders. The court's
authority includes the ability to compel majority shareholders to buy out minority
shares.

Section 191 of the Companies Law regulates the right of a shareholder to appeal to
the court in the event of discrimination. If any of the company‘s affairs are managed
in a manner which involves discrimination against all or some of its shareholders, or
regarding which there is a substantial concern that they will be conducted in such a
manner in the future, the court may give instructions as it sees fit in order to remove
the discrimination or to prevent it, including instructions as to how the company‘s
affairs are to be conducted in the future. The court may also require shareholders or
the company itself to purchase company shares.

The monitoring and enforcement of the disclosure of related party transactions is
undertaken by the Israel Securities Authority. Hence, the failure to accurately disclose
any material information concerning approval procedures can lead to enforcement

measures, including criminal prosecution, which can shed light on the infraction and
aid shareholders in their ability to enforce their rights under the Companies Law.

Legal recourses available to shareholders
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a. A lawsuit directly against the corporation for misrepresentation.
Both individual and class action suits are possible.

b. A lawsuit directly against the directors for breach of duty.
Shareholders can directly redress a director's breach of duty in limited cases only. If
the breach of duty relates to disclosure or an attempt to defraud, which are criminal
violations according to the Securities Law, it is possible to file either individual or
class action suits against directors. In most cases, however, derivative action is
required to redress breach of duty. If the breach is of fiduciary duty, as stipulated in
sections 252 and 254 of the Companies Law, shareholders cannot pursue recourse
against directors, since the latter's duty is to the company rather than the shareholders.
The Law does stipulate that these duties to the company do not negate a company's
duties to third parties. The interpretation arising from court rulings on this issue,
however, is that the fiduciary relationship between the directors and the aggrieved
third party should be specific and the general relationship between directors and
shareholders does not meet this criterion. The company rather than shareholder
constitutes the entity eligible to directly file suit against a director, an event which
seldom occurs in practice. Shareholders and directors are entitled to initiate a derivate
action on behalf of the company, should the company fail to take the necessary action
against directors in breach of their fiduciary duties. The Companies Law encourages
derivative actions by limiting the financial liability plaintiffs face when initiating such
an derivative action.

In order to encourage derivative suits, which are an important means of enforcement,
a number of modifications were made in the context of Amendment Number 3, as
follows:
Only a part of the court fee, and not the full fee, is paid at the time that a
derivative suit is filled. Regulations stipulate that when a petition for the
approval of a derivative suit is filed, the petitioner will pay a petition fee of NIS
2000. The rest of the fee will be paid only if the petition is granted and only by

the company itself. This removes an obstacle that had blocked shareholders in
the past – shareholders who refrained from filing derivative suits because of the
high court fee that they were required to pay upon filing the petition.
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c. A shareholder’s derivative action made after an unsuccessful appeal to the
board of directors against a person or entity outside the corporation.
According to Article 194 of the Companies Law, any shareholder or director is
entitled to initiate a derivate action on behalf of a company if that company fails to
exercise its legal rights against directors. In derivative actions, the initiator must first
petition the company in writing to take action and can turn to the court only if its
demand is rejected, ignored or only partially met. All derivative actions require court
approval to be recognized as derivative actions.

d. A class action by shareholders against the corporation, directors, or take-over
“suitors.”
Shareholders can file class actions for any cause related to the infraction of any law
pertaining to securities. In general, any cause for direct individual action can be the
subject of a class action as well.

e. The threshold requirements, under what laws and regulations these can be
pursued, provide examples of such cases, and the outcome.
Regarding a derivative suit, the Companies Law provides as follows:
Any shareholder and any director of a company may file a derivative action if the
conditions established in the Companies Law have been met. The main conditions are
the following:
-

Any person wishing to file a derivative action shall address the company in
writing, demanding that it exhaust its rights by instituting an action.

-

A company that receives a demand may proceed in one of the following
ways:
(2) do any act or pass any resolution resulting in the elimination of the
cause of action.
(3) reject the demand, for reasons specified in the resolution to reject
the demand.
(4) resolve to file a suit.

-

The company must inform the claimant of the way in which it proceeded
within forty-five days of the date of the receipt of the demand, giving
details of the action taken and the entity that passed the resolution,
including the names of those who participated in passing the resolution; if a
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participant or an officer in the company has a personal interest in the
resolution, this shall be stated in the notice to the claimant.
-

A claimant may file a derivative action with the approval of the court, if
one of the following applies:
(1) the act done or the resolution adopted did not eliminate the cause of
action;
(2) the company rejected the claimant‘s demand;
(3) The company notified the claimant that it had resolved to file a suit,
but no suit was filed within seventy-five days of the date of such
notice.
(4) The company did not respond to the demand.
-

A derivative action requires the approval of the court, which shall approve
it if convinced that the claim, and the conduct thereof, are prima facie in the
best interests of the company and that the claimant is acting in good faith.
The court may approve the filing of a derivative action filed before the
deadlines stipulated in the law have passed ,if it is of the opinion that failure
to file the claim on such date would subject it to the statute of limitations,
and it may make the approval conditional upon the fulfillment of the
conditions or filing a derivative action.

-

The law includes special arrangements regarding court fees, expenses and
attorney‘s fees, so as to prevent these matters from blocking claimants who
wish to bring such claims.

-

If the court rules in favor of the company, it may order the payment of
compensation to the claimant, for the effort involved in bringing the
derivative action and in proving it.

-

A claimant may not withdraw a derivative action and may not enter into an
arrangement or settlement with the defendant other than with the court‘s
approval; the application for such approval must specify all details of the
arrangement or settlement including any payment offered to the claimant.
(Companies Law, sections 194-202)

Regarding class actions, until recently, sections 207-218 of the Companies Law
regulated the possibility of filing a class action based on a claim resulting from
ownership, possession, purchase or sale of a security (hereinafter: "a connection to the
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security"). In March of 2006, the main points of the arrangement were transferred to
the Class Action Law – 2006. The following are the main provisions of that law
regarding an action with a connection to a security:
-

A party wishing to file a class action suit pursuant to the provisions of the
Class Action Law – 2006 based on a class action stemming from a
connection to a security issued by the government, or to an option or
futures contract as defined in section 64(b) of the Joint Investment Trust
Law – 1994, or to a security of a public company, may apply to the
Securities Authority to bear his expenses (Section 209 of the Companies
Law). (The representative plaintiff in such a class action may make a
similar application.);

-

The filing of a class action suit requires the court‘s approval;

-

A plaintiff may bring a class action if he has a cause of action that raises
questions of law and fact that are common to all the members of a group
of persons, such action to be brought in the name of that group;

-

When one of the elements of the action is damages, it is sufficient that the
claimant proves that he has suffered damage;

-

The court may approve a class action if it finds that all of the following
conditions have been met:
(1) the suit gives rise to substantive questions of law and fact
common to all of the members of the group, and there is a
reasonable possibility that such questions will be decided in favor
of the group;
(2) a class action is the most appropriate method for settling the
dispute in the circumstances of the case;
(3) There is a reasonable basis for belief that the interests of all the
members of the group will be represented and managed in an
appropriate manner by the claimant; the defendant may not
appeal or seek leave to appeal a ruling regarding this matter;

(4) There is a reasonable basis for belief that the interests of all the
members of the group will be represented and managed in good
faith.
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If the court has approved a class action with a connection to a security,
anyone who is included within the group defined by the court in its ruling
will be considered to have agreed to the filing of the class action in his
name, unless he notifies the court of his wish not to be included in the
group.

-

A plaintiff may not withdraw from an application for approval of a class
action or from a class action other than with the court‘s approval, and may
not receive, either directly or indirectly, any benefit from the defendant or
from another person in connection with such a withdrawal, other than with
the court‘s approval.

-

A plaintiff may not agree to a settlement of a dispute regarding which a
request for class action approval has been filed or regarding which a class
action suit has been approved, except with the court‘s approval.

-

The court will not approve a settlement arrangement unless it finds that
the arrangement is appropriate, fair and reasonable, taking into
consideration the interests of the members of the group, and if the request
for the approval of the settlement arrangement is filed before the class
action is approved, it may approve the arrangement only if it also finds
that there are, prima facie, questions of law and fact that are common to
all the members of the group and that the conclusion of the proceeding
through a settlement arrangement is the most efficient and fair way to
determine the dispute under the circumstances of the case.

-

The court will not approve a settlement arrangement until it receives the
opinion of a person appointed for such purpose who has expertise in the
area dealt with in the request for approval or in the class action (unless the
court believes that such an opinion is unnecessary, due to special reasons,
which shall be recorded).

-

The court will determine the attorney‘s fees to be paid to the counsel for
the class action plaintiff for the handling of the class action, including for
the request for approval; the counsel for the class action plaintiff will not

be paid attorney‘s fees in an amount in excess of the amount established
by the court.
-

If the court rules in favor of all or part of the class with regard to all or
part of a class action suit, including by approving a settlement
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arrangement, it shall order the payment of compensation to the class
action plaintiff unless it finds, for special reasons which shall be recorded,
that such payment is not justified under the circumstances of the case.

Causes for legal action by shareholders
a. Misrepresentation in a prospectus, periodic and other filings
Shareholders can file individual or class action suits against companies for
misrepresentation in a filing. Generally speaking, individual action is impractical
given the financial obligations and complexity involved in this type of litigation.

Class actions, the most tenable course of action, can be filed by any person who has a
cause of action stemming from the acquisition, sale, ownership or holding of a
security. According to Article 52J the Securities Law any of the following can be held
responsible to shareholders for misrepresentation: the issuer, directors, controlling
shareholders, the CEO and outside experts who rendered their professional opinion in
either the prospectus or periodic report. In addition to these, trustees are responsible to
bondholders for damage incurred as a result of Securities Law violations carried out
by them.

b. The violation of laws that allow shareholders to place items on the agenda for
the annual meeting.
According to section 66(b) of the Companies Law, one or more shareholders who
hold at least one percent of the general meeting voting rights may ask the board of
directors to include a particular topic in the agenda at a general meeting that will be
held in the future, provided that the topic is appropriate for discussion at a general
meeting. Non-compliance with the provisions of the Companies Law is grounds for a
civil suit, including one brought through a class action, if damage is caused to all
shareholders as a result of the violation.

Article 91 of the Companies Law stipulates that shareholders are entitled to petition
the court to repeal a resolution approved at the shareholders meeting if approved
contrary to the Law or to the company's by-laws. If a shareholder introduces an item
to the agenda and it is not discussed at the shareholders meeting, the shareholder can
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turn to the court to repeal the decision relating to the tabled item. The Israel Securities
Authority cannot directly intervene in this matter, but can demand immediate
disclosure and explanation of why the shareholder-proposed item was tabled.

c. False statements in proxy materials for the annual meeting.
Shareholders can take civil action either individually or within the framework of a
class action as a remedy for false statements in proxy materials. For public
companies, invitations to shareholder meetings and the dissemination of proxy
materials requires immediate public disclosure. As such, the inclusion of misleading
or false statements could be subject to criminal enforcement as well as civil action.

d. Challenges to the procedure or results of voting at the annual or
extraordinary general meeting.
An application may be made to the court for the cancellation of resolutions or to
obtain compensation in the event that damage is caused.

e. Abuse by insiders through undervalued sales of corporate assets to insiders or
overvalued purchases from them, theft of corporate opportunity, insider trading.
The sale of undervalued assets to insiders constitutes abuse of a conflict of interest,
usurpation of a corporate opportunity or illegal use of inside information.
Transactions with insiders that are not approved according to the Companies Law are
considered null and void (Companies Law, Section 280).

Since, in each of these cases the insider violated the company's rights and caused it
damage, shareholder recourse case is through derivative action. In severe cases of
shareholder deprivation, shareholders can take direct action.

f. Delay or failure to pay dividends authorized by shareholder meetings.

The Companies Law establishes the shareholder right to receive dividends. However,
the law does not stipulate specific means for shareholder enforcement of delinquent or
non-payment. Shareholders can petition the court for this grievance.
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g. Failure to allow inspection of books and records.
The right of shareholders to receive information and inspect books is anchored in
section 184 of the Companies Law. This includes inspection of the minutes from the
general shareholders meeting, the shareholders registry, articles of incorporation,
financial statements and public filings. Denial of these rights can be redressed in court
h. Failure to enter transfer of ownership in the issuer’s share registry.
Failure of a company to register a shareholder in the company registry can be
redressed in court.

i. Procedures for mergers and takeovers such as failure to publicly announce
significant acquisitions which violate the laws.
Failure to disclose merger and acquisition activity carries criminal liability as a
violation of the Securities Law. Accordingly, shareholders can take civil action either
through individual or class action if damages can be established. .

j. Directors/management allowing companies to continue to trade while
insolvent.
According to section 373 of the Companies Ordinance, personal liability may be
imposed, in the context of the company‘s liquidation process, on officers who
managed the company with the intention to deceive its creditors. The case law has
interpreted the phrase ―with an intention of deceiving‖ such that the officers can
beheld personally liable for the company‘s debts even in cases in which the person
acting on behalf of the company did not actually intend to deceive yet foresaw that the
company would not be able to discharge its debts.
Section 54 of the Companies Law also provides that the attribution of an organ‘s
action to the company does not detract from the organ‘s personal liability, and
therefore, in cases in which a company officer has acted in the company‘s name when

he knew that the company was unable to discharge its debts, he remains personally
liable, both as a matter of contract law and as a matter of general tort law.

Section 38c of the Securities Law places civil liability for misleading information
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(including material omissions) in immediate and periodic disclosures as well as other
notices and documents on the reporting companies, their directors, CEOs and
controlling shareholders. These violations also carry criminal liability under the Law.
In addition to any action the ISA would take, shareholders can initiate either direct
individual or class action against the above entities should they fail to disclose
insolvency proceedings (which would trigger a suspension in trade by the TASE
board) and allow their shares to continue to trade. Should shareholders choose class
action as the method of recourse, they can apply to the ISA for financial assistance in
their claim.

Cost of private shareholder litigation
In Israel costs are determined by the outcome of the case and therefore, should a
plaintiff succeed in the action, he is awarded court costs. These costs are designed to
realistically reflect actual costs, but do not always include the amount of time and
effort expended in the case. If the ruling goes against the plaintiff, he is liable for
court costs. In class actions the Israel Securities Authority is authorized to provide
financial assistance and in practice assumes approximately 80% of the costs in the
failed class actions it chooses to assist. There is no set formula for calculating court
costs. More often than not, the assigned costs do not cover actual expenditures.
The ministry of justice and the ISA are currently considering the possibility of
amending the Companies Law and adding the possibility of providing ISA financing
for derivative actions

With regard to a class action suit, the Class Action Law provides that the class action
plaintiff may be paid compensation as follows:
 If the court rules in favor of all or part of the class with regard to all or part of
a class action suit, it shall order the payment of compensation to the class
action plaintiff, taking into consideration the following factors, unless it finds,
for special reasons which shall be recorded, that such payment is not justified
under the circumstances of the case:



the effort invested by the class action plaintiff and the risk he took upon
himself in filing the class action and in conducting it;
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the benefit brought to the members of the class from the conduct of the action;



the degree of importance to the general public of the class action.

(Class Action Law, Section 22)

The court may, for special reasons which shall be recorded, order the payment of
compensation to an applicant or class action plaintiff even if the class action suit was
not approved, or even if there was no ruling in favor of the class in the class action
suit, whichever is relevant.

With regard to a derivative suit as well, section 201 of the Companies Law provides
that in the event of a favorable ruling in the suit, the court may order the payment of
compensation to the plaintiff for the effort invested in filing the petition and proving
it. Section 200 also provides that when a court has awarded expenses in favor of the
defendant, the company will pay the expenses that have been so awarded, unless the
court rules, for special reasons which shall be recorded, that the expenses are to be
paid by the plaintiff, and the court may impose the payment of the plaintiff‘s expenses
on the company and may impose on the plaintiff the payment all or some of the
expenses caused to the company, taking into consideration the ruling and the other
circumstances of the case.

Criminal Liability
Regarding public companies, many of the abuses mentioned above carry criminal
liability, since they frequently involve disclosure violations, which according to the
Securities Law are enforceable both through private litigation (including class action)
and criminal prosecution. See Chapter I, section 1.3.2 above for table delineating
criminal liability and penalties.

3.3.1.3 – Principle III.A.3
“Votes should be cast by custodians or nominees in a manner agreed upon with the
beneficial owner of the shares”.
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Share ownership
The Companies Law provides that a shareholder in a private company is the party
who is registered as such in the shareholders‘ register, or the party who holds a share
deed (Section 176), and that a shareholder in a public company is any one of the
following:
a. A party in whose favor a share is registered with a stock exchange member, if
such share is included among the shares registered in the shareholders register
in the name of a nominee company (which is not considered itself to be a
shareholder, according to the statute).
b. A party which is registered as a shareholder in the shareholder‘s register.
c. A party who holds a share deed (Section 177).
The law also provides that the shareholders‘ register is prima facie proof of the
correctness of that which is recorded therein, and that in the event of a contradiction
between the record in the shareholders register and a share certificate, the
shareholders‘ register is preferred proof as compared to the share certificate (Section
133).

A shareholder who is registered in the shareholders‘ register is entitled to receive a
certificate of ownership from the company. A nominee company is entitled to receive
a certificate from the company attesting to the number of shares and type of shares
registered in its name in the shareholders‘ register (Section 178).

For details regarding share registration on the TASE, nominee companies and trading,
see Chapter 2, section 2.3.1.1.

Delegation of voting rights
Beneficial owners can choose whether to delegate voting rights to the
custodian/nominee or give instructions on a case by case basis regarding how to vote.

Shareholders may grant powers of attorney to others, entitling them to vote on their
behalf. Shareholders can vote directly or through an attorney duly appointed by them.
Shareholders in public companies are able to vote in person, through an appointed
agent or by proxy.
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Nominee ownership
According to Israeli law, shares may be held in trust. In such a case, Section 131 of
the Companies Law provides that a shareholder who is a trustee shall report such to
the company, and the company will register the trustee in the shareholders register,
while indicating his status as a trustee; for the purpose of the Companies Law he will
be deemed to be the shareholder.

This provision does not apply with respect to a trusteeship holding shares registered in
the name of a nominee company, since at any rate, with respect to such shares, the
register does not reflect the holdings of the shareholders whose shares are held
through a stock exchange member.

Custodianship
There is no arrangement relating to custodians. In Israel, a custodianship is created
through banking corporations and stock exchange members over whom there is
supervision. The insurance and provident fund laws require that a custodianship of
securities owned by institutional bodies shall be carried through a bank, a stock
exchange member or a financial institution which has been approved by the
Commissioner of Insurance. A directive issued by the Commissioner of Insurance
provides that financial institutions that are approved for this purpose abroad may act
as custodians in the State of Israel if they are of ranking A or higher.

Custodian activities
In recent years the TASE Clearing House has started providing a special service to
investors who differentiate between securities brokerage and securities custody. Noninstitutional investors usually execute both activities via one of TASE members.
Institutional investors, especially foreign, occasionally make a distinction between a
TASE member who works for them as a broker and another TASE member who
deposits their securities for custody.

TASE member banks perform as sub-custodians that keep the securities and deal with
their routine handling (i.e. current payments, tax payments, etc.)
Page | 163

After a trade on the TASE, the TASE member‘s broker transfers the securities it has
purchased on the exchange for the investor to the TASE member, which acts as a subcustodian. This transfer of securities is effected immediately through the Clearing
House in a transaction similar to an off-the-floor transaction. This is called a
Custodian Transfer. This action is executed similarly for Israeli institutional
investors that differentiate between brokerage services and the custodian transfer of
securities.

Informing shareholders of voting rights and proxy materials
The Companies Law – Companies Regulations (Proxy Voting and Position
Statements), 2005 require TASE members to supply proxy materials to shareholders
in public companies traded on the TASE whose accounts are held with the member.
This is in addition to the requirement of the company to make these materials public
through their disclosure (and electronic distribution) on the ISA MAGNA system. The
company is entitled to add channels through which it notifies its shareholders. There
are no specific regulations regarding the role of custodians that are not stock exchange
members in informing shareholders of voting rights.
However the fiduciary relationship between the custodian and its client implied such
notification.

It should be noted that stock exchange members must, according to the regulations,
distribute the proxy ballots and position statements to the shareholders for no
consideration, by electronic mail. A shareholder asking to receive material by way of
regular mail may be asked to pay only the postage costs. These provisions are
intended to bring down the costs of shareholder participation in the general meeting,
in order to increase shareholder involvement in the general meetings as much as
possible.

3.3.1.4 – Principle III.A.4
“Impediments to cross border voting should be eliminated”.
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There are currently no impediments to cross-border voting in public companies.

Meeting location
A public company whose shares have been offered to the public in Israel only, or
which are traded solely on an Israeli stock exchange must hold its general meetings in
Israel (Companies Law, Section 73).

Voting by proxy ballot
Private and public companies must allow shareholders to vote by proxy ballot without
requiring their or their attorney‘s physical presence or presence. Proxy voting must be
available in general meetings where resolutions to approve a settlement or
arrangement between the company and its shareholders are raised. This allows foreign
shareholders the use of their voting rights.

A public company must also permit such voting with respect to the appointment and
dismissal of directors, approval of transactions with controlling shareholders or
officers and of mergers. Shareholders also have the right to send position statements
to the other shareholders regarding the above-mentioned issues (Companies Law, Sections
87-89).

The Companies Regulations (Proxy Voting and Position Statements) require the
following:
Distribution of proxy ballots and position statements
Stock exchange members must distribute proxy ballots to their clients prior to the
shareholders meeting.

The regulations deal with the manner and date by which the proxy ballots and position
statements are to be distributed to the company and to its shareholders, with their
format and with the opportunity to view them. The company must submit the text of
the proxy ballot to the Securities Authority on the date on which the notice of the

general meeting is publicized. The proxy ballots and position statements must be
submitted to the Securities Authority electronically in the same manner that public
companies file their other reports with the Authority, pursuant to all provisions of the
Securities Law. The notice of the general meeting must also be published in two daily
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newspapers. However, in order to distribute the position statements as widely as
possible and with the understanding that not all shareholders are exposed to
information by way of the newspapers, stock exchange members are required to
inquire of each shareholder, prior to the opening of a securities account, as to how he
wishes to receive proxy ballots and position statements, with regard to all the
securities in the account. A shareholder may choose between the following
alternatives: to receive the material by electronic mail for no consideration, to receive
it by mail in consideration for a postage fee only, or not to receive the material at all.

Voting through delivery of a proxy ballot or by sending it in the mail
A shareholder wishing to vote through a proxy ballot indicates his vote on the proxy
ballot and attaches to it a confirmation from the stock exchange member regarding his
ownership of the shares and delivers or sends the proxy ballot to the company.

Voting via the Internet
The regulations permit the company to allow its shareholders to vote via the Internet
(but do not require public companies to make online voting available), provided that it
has taken all measures to secure the information. Voting via the Internet will, over the
long term, improve the ability of shareholders to participate in general meetings. All
that shareholders will be required to do in order to vote will be to enter an
identification code and a control code onto the proxy ballot – such codes will appear
on the confirmation of ownership along with an additional detail known only to the
shareholders. The shareholders will be able to receive the confirmation of ownership
from the stock exchange member by mail in exchange for postage costs only, if the
shareholder has requested such (or a shareholder may receive it for free by going to a
branch of the stock exchange member).

As indicated above, the material is distributed to the shareholders mainly through
electronic mail and the distribution therefore crosses borders. The requirement that

voting by proxy ballot be allowed without physical presence (in certain matters as
indicated above) also makes participation easy for foreign investors.

Distribution of proxy ballots
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The regulations establish special provisions regarding the date of the distribution of
proxy ballots and position statements in order to allow shareholders from the general
public to examine the proposed resolutions and position statements before the general
meeting. The following is the schedule:

Notice of general and extraordinary shareholders meetings
A private company is required to deliver a notice regarding the general meeting
between 7 and 45 days prior to the date of its meeting, to any party entitled to
participate, unless the by-laws provide otherwise (section 67).

A public company is required to deliver a notice regarding the general meeting at
least 21 days prior to the date of its meeting, to the shareholders registered in the
shareholders‘ register, unless the by-laws provide otherwise.

Additionally, a notice regarding the general meeting must be published 21 days prior
to its being held (and in certain cases 14 days before it is to be held), in 2 widely
distributed newspapers, and in other ways to be chosen by the company, including
through the Internet (Section 69 and the regulations enacted by virtue thereof).

Waivers for notice of second meeting
The law provides that if there is no legal quorum at the general meeting, a postponed
meeting will be held within a week, on the same day, at the same hour and in the same
place. A later date can be established, either in the first invitation to the meeting or in
the notice regarding it (section 78). A general meeting at which a legal quorum is
present may decide to postpone the rest of the discussion regarding matters on the
agenda, but if the discussion is postponed for more than 21 days, notices and
invitations for the postponed meeting must be delivered as if it were the original
meeting (section 74).

Agenda and background information

In the case of a private company, the invitation must indicate the date and the place of
the meeting, its agenda and a reasonable specification of the issues to be discussed
(Section 68). In the case of a public company, the notice delivered to each shareholder
in the shareholders‘ register must include the agenda, the proposed resolutions and the
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arrangements regarding proxy voting.

The notice published in the newspapers must include the following details; the type of
meeting, the place and time at which the meeting will be held; a specification of the
issues on the agenda, a summary of the proposed resolutions, and details regarding the
opportunities to view the full text of the proposals at the company‘s office; the
majority required for the adoption of the resolutions; the record date concerning the
entitlement of shareholders to vote at the general meeting; and details regarding the
date of a postponed meeting, in cases in which the meeting is not held within the
timeframe stipulated in the Companies Law (Section 69 of the Law and the regulations
enacted by virtue thereof).

Schedule – Proxy Voting and Position Statement

Date

Action

Section
Number

At least 35 days prior to Publication of the notice regarding the Notices of General
the general meeting

general meeting

Meetings

At least 5 days prior to
the record date

Regulations
- The company transmits the proxy

- Section 4(b)

ballots to the stock exchange and

- Section 4(f)

to the Securities Authority.
- The company delivers the text of
the

proxy

ballot

to

the

shareholders registered in the
shareholders register
At least 28 days before The record date

Section 3

the general meeting
Five

days after

the The stock exchange member produces Section 4(c)(1)(2)

record date – at least 23 a list of shareholders and their
days

prior

to

the identification codes to the company,

general meeting

and sends the text of the proxy ballot
to all shareholders by e-mail
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Six

days

after

the Must allow voting via the internet – Section 5(b)(4)

record date – at least 22 for a company that allows such voting
days

prior

to

the

general meeting
10 days after the record Last

date

for

issuing

position Section 6(c)

date – 18 days prior to statements to the company
the general meeting

(17 days after the publication of the
notice)

11 days after the record The

company

transmits

to

the Section 6(c)

date – (17 days prior to Securities Authority and to the Stock
the general meeting)

Exchange the text of the last position
statements from shareholders (one day
after the text is transmitted to the
company)

15 days after the record The

company

transmits

to

the Section 6(c)

date (12 days prior to Securities Authority and to the Stock
the general meeting)

Exchange the last board of directors‘
position statement, five days after the
last date for the submission of the last
position statements. (On the same
date, the company also sends the
above-mentioned

response

to

the

registered shareholders.)
21 days after the record The stock exchange member sends the Section 6(e)
date (7 days prior to the last position notice to the shareholders
general meeting)

by e-mail (five days after the the last
position statement reaches the stock
exchange member)

72 hours days before Last time for proxy ballots to arrive at Section 5(a), (b)

the general meeting, at the company‘s registered office (by
the latest

registered mail or personal delivery)
or for voting via the Internet

24 hours before the Last time to withdraw a proxy ballot Section 9
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general meeting, at the or confirmation of ownership by a
latest

shareholder, for purposes of actual
voting

General meeting
After

the

general Opportunity to review proxy ballots Section 10

meeting

by a shareholder holding 5%

Counting the votes
There are no special provisions regarding this matter. In cases in which there is an
obligation to allow voting by proxy ballot, the regulations provide that the board of
directors will appoint a person acting on its behalf to count the votes of the
shareholders who voted through proxy ballots and through the Internet, and the report
of the count is to be held at the company‘s registered office for seven years from the
date on which the general meeting was held.

3.3.1.5 – Principle III.A.5
“Processes and procedures for general shareholder meetings should allow for
equitable treatment of all shareholders. Company procedures should not make it
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unduly difficult or expensive to cast votes”.

Shareholders have a general right to attend shareholder meetings. There are no
barriers to voting for any class of shareholders.

Equal voting rights
In order for a company to list its share on the TASE its share capital must consist of
only one class of securities, thus granting equal voting rights proportion to par value
to all shareholders (this condition does not apply to special State shares).
A company may, however, issue preferred shares (i.e. shares that grant preference
rights for dividends and do not grant voting rights).

Golden/veto shares
In the case of golden shares, the State of Israel‘s interests in the Company are defined
and a specification is provided of the resolutions which cannot take effect without the
advance written consent of the golden share‘s owner. The share also sometimes
includes provisions regarding requirements that directors and officers be Israeli and
regarding the obligation to obtain a permit to hold and to transfer a certain specified
portion of the shares. There are also provisions relating to the right of the holder of
the golden share to receive information from the company.

Viewing voting results
The shareholders have the right to review, among other documents, the minutes of
general meetings, including voting results. The company must maintain minutes of
the proceedings at the general meeting and will hold them at the company‘s registered
office, for seven years from the date on which the general meeting was held.

Barriers to voting
There are no barriers to voting for certain classes of shareholders (variation is allowed
in a private company).

Cost of voting in public companies
The right to vote by proxy ballot at general meetings on the agenda of which are
central company events (approval of a transaction with a party with an interest,
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approval of a merger, appointment and dismissal of directors), in a simple manner and
without incurring costs (other than the costs of sending regular mail in the event that
the shareholders do not find an e-mail to be sufficient) is intended to encourage
shareholder participation at such meetings.

Amendment Number 3 of the Companies Law also provides that the confirmations of
ownership which are issued by stock exchange members for the purpose of voting at
general meetings are to be issued for no consideration, and the shareholder may
receive them by mail in exchange for the postage charges ( Companies Regulations (Proxy
Voting and Position Statements) Section 4(e)).

Stock exchange members must, according to the regulations, distribute the proxy
ballots and position statements to the shareholders for no consideration, by electronic
mail. A shareholder asking to receive material by way of regular mail may be asked to
pay only the postage costs. These provisions are intended to bring down the costs of
shareholder participation in the general meeting, in order to increase as much as
possible shareholder involvement in the general meetings and would enable foreign
shareholders the use of their voting rights and provide them opportunities similar to
those of domestic investors.

3.3.2 – Principle III.B
“Insider trading and abusive self-dealing should be prohibited”.
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Market abuse, inside information and abusive self-dealing
"Market abuse" is not defined under Israeli law; however the law does address issues
such as insider trading, fraud and failure to disclose material information. Section 8A
of Israel's Securities Law is dedicated to the prohibition of the "use of inside
information". The ISA successfully enforces the law. A fairly broad array of
violations by both insiders and third-party offenders have been tried, convicted and
upheld in appeal. The ISA submitted a bill, which came into force in 2007, to extend
the prohibition on insider trading to include derivatives as well as the underlying
securities.

"Inside information" in the Israeli law is defined in a broad manner. It includes
information on a development or expected development in a company; a change or
expected change in the company‘s situation, or any other information on a company,
which is not known to the public and which, if it became known to the public, might
cause a significant change in the price of the company's security or the price of
another security which has the company's security as its underlying asset.

The prohibition is not restricted to insiders alone and relates to the use of inside
information by any party.

The term "use" relates not only to conducting securities transactions, but to passing
the information on to third-party "tipees" as well.
―Transaction‖ includes a sale, purchase, exchange, or subscription of a security or an
undertaking in regard to any such act, whether the person performing the act does so
for their own benefit or for the benefit of others, and whether the said person acts
through an agent or trustee.

"Insider" refers to directors, corporate executives, beneficial owners and any party
that has access to inside information by virtue of their relation to the company, such
as consultants, attorneys, accountants, etc. It also includes family members.
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In principle, the law views a corporation as having access to inside information if a
director or employee of the corporation has access to inside information.

The Securities Law sets the rules and penalties regarding the use of inside
information. The rules are stricter for insiders, primarily for senior executives, who
under certain circumstances may be required to positively prove non-use to avoid
conviction. For example if a director of a company purchases or sells company
securities within three months from the day on which he sold or purchased
(respectively) them, it is considered prima facie evidence that he made use of inside
information, unless he proves or circumstances dictate that he was not in the
possession of inside information at the time of the transaction (Section 52E).

Insiders using inside information can face a prison term of 5 years or a fine (Securities
Law, Section 52C). Other parties making use of information provided by an insider face

a prison term of one year or a relatively lower fine (securities Law, section 52D).
(For further details regarding enforcement practices – see chapter C principle 1)

The following cases are not considered insider trading:
1) The only purpose of the transaction was the acquisition of qualifying shares
which, according to the articles of association of the company, a director must
acquire as a prerequisite to their appointment;
2) The transaction was a bona fide act within the scope of normal function as a
liquidator, receiver or trustee in bankruptcy, or for purposes of realizing assets
provided as security for debts;
3) The transaction constitutes a bona fide implementation of an underwriting
agreement;
4) The purpose of using the inside information was not, or was not mainly, the
achievement of profit or the avoidance of a loss, personal or general;

5) The insider functioned solely as an agent, facilitating the transaction without
expressing any opinion or divulging any information that might affect it.
6) The transaction was effected outside the stock exchange with a person who
also was in possession of the inside information;
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7) The transaction was effected on behalf of the insider by a trustee acting by
way of blind trust; for this purpose, ―blind trust‖ means trust exercised at the
sole discretion of the trustee and without intervention by the insider;
8) The purpose of the transaction was regulation of the price of the security in
which the transaction was conducted, by a corporation that had established self
provisions for purposes of price regulation submitted to the ISA prior to the
transaction , along with one of the following conditions: (a) The transaction
was effected in accordance with the aforesaid provisions; (b) the transaction
was effected in response to a need for regulation under circumstances not
provided for by a provision as aforesaid, on condition that notice of the
transaction was submitted to the ISA immediately upon its being effected,
with a clause prescribing an identical mode of conduct under similar
circumstances included in the provisions for future use;
9) The transaction was justified under the circumstances of the case.

If the company can prove that the decision to enter into the transaction or to give the
opinion was not taken by the director or employee in possession of the information,
and that there was a reasonable explanation for the transaction having been effected or
the opinion given it is likely that no charges of the insider trading will be levied
(Section 52G).

There are special rules concerning security transactions by an employee of a stock
exchange member.

The main restriction provides that an employee of a member of the stock exchange
can buy or sell a security only in the course of trading on the stock exchange, by
means of written instructions submitted by him at least one day before the purchase or
sale. He must hold his securities in an account in his name with the stock exchange
member. (Securities Law, Section 52I).

The Minister of Finance is authorized, after consultation with the ISA and approval by
the Finance Committee of the Knesset, to prohibit trading in securities by the
employees of stock exchange members, either generally or in respect to particular
categories of employees, securities or any other classification as may be decided
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(Securities Law, Section 52I)

To ensure the maintenance of orderly trading and to identify and analyze irregular
transactions adversely affecting trade on the stock exchange which might indicate
market manipulation or the use of inside information, the Department of Supervision
of the Secondary Market monitors the trading on TASE. The trade monitoring is
carried out by means of control systems developed by the ISA.

In a recent court case a controlling shareholder was found guilty of "aggravated
fraudulent acquisition" for obtaining the required special majority approval of a
related party transaction under false pretenses. A description of the case as related in
the 2005 ISA Annual Report is given below:
In 2005 the Supreme Court rejected the appeal of Shlomo Eisenberg and Arad
Industrial Investment and Development, Ltd. (henceforth – Arad) pertaining to
their conviction and accepted Mr. Eisenberg‘s appeal regarding the severity of
his sentence. 6 Mr. Eisenberg was convicted on three counts of aggravated
fraudulent acquisition, an offense under Section 415 of the Penal Code,
pertaining to the acquisition of shareholder approval for extraordinary
transactions in two matters in which he had personal interest by misrepresenting
the required support of disinterested shareholders. He also acquired an ISA
permit to publish a prospectus to issue rights through false pretenses. In
addition, Mr. Eisenberg was convicted on two counts of falsifying company
records, an offense under Section 423 of the Penal Code, pertaining to the
falsification of the protocol of two general shareholders meetings, with regard to
the classification of 'interested' shareholders and to the approval of an
extraordinary transaction by the special majority required by law. Mr. Eisenberg
and Arad were convicted on three counts of misrepresentation in corporate
filings with intent to deceive investors, an offense under Section 53(a)(4) of the

6

Criminal Appeal 3896/04, 3891/04.

Securities Law, pertaining to two immediate reports containing misleading
information regarding the special majority approval of an extraordinary
transaction and to a notice sent by Arad to the ISA containing misleading
information. They were also convicted of misrepresentation and material
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omissions in a prospectus, an offense under Section 53(a)(2) of the Securities
Law. Mr. Eisenberg was also convicted of subornation of perjury under Section
245(a) of the Penal Code. The District Court sentenced Mr. Eisenberg to 18
months of prison, 12 months probation and a fine of NIS one million or one
year imprisonment. The Court rejected the appeal of Arad and Mr. Eisenberg
regarding their conviction, on all counts. It approved the broad definition
adopted by the lower court for the term ―personal interest‖, which emphasizes
that any personal affiliation that a shareholder may have to the transaction
beyond his affiliation as a shareholder in the company can be considered a
―personal interest‖. With regard to the appeal of the severity of the sentence, the
Court ruled, despite the severity of offenses, that the lower court had been too
severe with the accused relative to another accused (Harry Sapir, who was
convicted with Mr. Eisenberg for violations of the Penal Code, received
probation and a fine). Hence, the court decided to reduce the prison sentence to
12 months, while the rest of the sentence remained unchanged.

For further details on disclosure regarding related party transactions, see
Chapter V, section 5.3.1.5.

3.3.3 – Principle III.C
“Members of the board and key executives should be required to disclose to the board
whether they, directly, indirectly or on behalf of third parties, have a material interest
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in any transaction or matter directly affecting the corporation”.

Disclosure of personal interest
According to section 269 of the Companies Law, an office holder or a controlling
shareholder in a company who is aware that he has a personal interest in an existing or
proposed transaction facilitated by that company, shall disclose the nature of his
personal interest to the company without delay, including any substantial fact or
document, no later than the meeting of the board of directors in which the transaction
is first discussed. This requirement does not apply when the interest stems only from a
relative‘s personal interest in a regular transaction.

A director who has a personal interest in the approval of an extraordinary
transaction brought to the audit committee and the board of directors for approval,
may not be present at the discussion or participate in the vote in either forum.

Notwithstanding the above, an interested director may be present at a discussion by
the audit committee or board of directors and participate in the vote, if most of the
members of these forums have a personal interest in the approval of the transaction.
Where the majority of the directors on the board of directors of a company have a
personal interest in the approval of a transaction, the transaction shall also require the
approval of the general meeting.
(Companies Law, Section 278)

Fiduciary Duty
According to section 252 of the Companies Law, an office holder has a fiduciary duty
to the company, shall act in good faith and for the benefit of the company, including
the following:
1) refrain from any act involving a conflict of interest between their position
outside it, including any personal affairs that may present a conflict;
2) refrain from any act involving competition with the business of the company;

3) refrain from taking advantage of an opportunity presented through the
company‘s business with the aim of obtaining a personal benefit;
4) disclose all information to the company and shall provide it with all
documents relating to any of its interests that come into their position by virtue
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of their position with the company.

Chapter IV:
The Role of Stakeholders in Corporate Governance
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4.3.1 – Principle IV.A
"The rights of stakeholders that are established by law or through mutual agreements
are to be respected."

A few provisions in the Companies Law recognize and base stakeholders' interests.
Section 11 provides that a company‘s purpose is to act in accordance with business
considerations in order to maximize profits, and in the context of such considerations,
it may weigh, inter alia, the interests of its creditors and employees as well as the
public interest.
Lifting the corporate veil – section 6 provides that the Court is entitled to assess
corporate debt to a shareholder of the company, if it finds that the circumstances
warrant this, in extraordinary cases in which the separate legal entity doctrine was
employed in a manner designed to defraud or discriminate against a creditor, or in a
manner deemed detrimental to the company‘s objectives in which an unreasonable
risk was taken which affected the ability of the company to service its debts.

Section 7 provides that if a court lifted the corporate veil and attributed the debts of
the company to a shareholder, the court may determine that for a period of up to 5
years this individual may not be a director or a general manager of a company nor be
involved in the founding or management of a company.
Dividend distribution or acquisition of treasury shares – Sections 301-303 provide
that companies are entitled to distribute dividends from their earnings provided that
there is reasonable certainty that the distribution will not prevent them from meeting
existing and anticipated liabilities when these fall due. Companies are entitled to
distribute dividends from other sources only if authorized by court order and only if
the court is convinced that the distribution will not prevent the company from meeting
existing and anticipated liabilities. The company is required to notify creditors of their

application to the court and the latter are entitled to object to the application to
approve the distribution. Moreover, creditors are entitled to initiate derivative actions
on the company‘s behalf in the case of unauthorized distributions ( Section 204).
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Mergers – Sections 314-315 require both board of director and shareholder approval
in the merging companies. The board must consider the financial condition of the
merging companies and whether it reasonably believes that in wake of the merger the
acquiring company will be able to meet its current and anticipated financial
commitments to creditors. If the assessment is negative, the proposed merger must be
rejected. Merging companies are required to send the merger proposal to their secured
creditors and inform non-secured creditors of the content of the merger proposal as
stipulated in their by-laws.

The Court is entitled, at the application of a creditor of a merging company, to grant a
delay or stay for the execution of the merger, if it finds a reason to believe that in
wake of the merger, the acquiring company will not be able to meet the financial
commitments of the target company. It is also entitled to instruct the parties to take
measures to secure creditor rights (Section 319).
Section 350 – Settlement and arrangements between a company and its
stakeholders – Allows a company to arrive at an arrangement or a settlement with its
shareholders or creditors, concerning a modification of their rights, even when there is
an opposing minority. Such an arrangement or settlement is conditioned on the
consent of three quarters of those holding rights that may be adversely affected, and
on a court‘s approval.

For any arrangement that affects stakeholders' rights, stakeholders have legal standing
to express their opinion after having received any relevant information. The consent
of the right-holders is obtained through the convening of meetings of creditors or
shareholders which could be adversely impacted by the arrangement. The
classification by the court of the creditors or shareholders into different meetings can
determine the prospect of the arrangement.

Section 350 is also one of the most important arrangements in Israeli law dealing with
company revival and rehabilitation, and it allows the court, in appropriate situations,
to give an order to stay proceedings against a company for a period that does not
exceed nine months. It deals with, inter alia, corporate turnaround arrangements,
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although it also deals with any case in which the rights of shareholders or creditors are
revised. Thus, for example, it applies if a company wishes to change the terms of debt
instruments that it has issued or in cases in which it wishes to extend or shorten the
exercise period of warrants or convertible securities, etc. The section allows for a
modification of rights regarding which the company, but for section 350, would have
to obtain the consent of each of the affected stakeholders.
Main provisions of the section – If an arrangement or settlement has been proposed
between the company and its creditors or its shareholders, or between it and a
particular class of creditors or shareholders, the court may, at the request of the
company, a creditor, shareholder – or a liquidator if the company is in liquidation –
order the convening of a meeting of those creditors or shareholders, whichever is
relevant, in a manner that the court shall order.
The court to which the application for a compromise or arrangement (hereinafter: "the
plan") is submitted may, if it is persuaded that this will assist in drawing up or
approving a plan aimed at reviving the company, grant an order stating that for a
period that shall not exceed nine months, it will not be possible to continue with or
commence any proceedings against the company, other than with the permission of
the court, and under conditions that the court may establish (hereinafter: "a stay of
proceedings order.")
When a ―stay of proceedings‖ order is granted, the court shall permit:
1. upon the request of a secured creditor – the realization of assets pledged to him;
2. upon the request of a creditor who holds a floating charge – the crystallization
thereof;
3. upon the request of a creditor who is the holder of a floating charge that has been
crystallized– the realization of one or more such assets;
- if it has been established that no proper protection has been secured for the creditor‘s
rights in the asset, or that the realization of the lien or the crystallization of the

floating charge will not adversely impact on the ability to formulate and approve the
plan.

In order to give a creditor or shareholder who may be adversely affected as a result of
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a settlement or arrangement the opportunity to vote at a meeting in an informed
manner, there are detailed provisions regarding the duties of disclosure and of
publication in connection with the proposed plan ( Companies Regulations – Application for
Settlement or Arrangement).

If at the meeting of the shareholders or creditors (who are likely to be adversely
affected by the arrangement and classified in accordance with their affected interests)
a majority of the participants in the voting, excluding abstentions, representing two
thirds of the value represented at the vote, agreed to a settlement or arrangement that
also received court approval, then the settlement or arrangement is binding on the
company and on all the creditors or shareholders.

Other provisions
In the context of the company‘s liquidation process, section 373 of the Companies
Ordinance provides that personal liability may be imposed on officers who managed
the company with an intention of deceiving its creditors.

Draft legislation and regulations considered by the MOJ and ISA stipulate that if a
private company's debentures are listed or have been offered to the public, it is
required to appoint independent directors. The financial reports of such a company
must be scrutinized, before their approval by the board, by a board committee whose
chair and a majority of its members are independent and with accounting or financial
training.
Other stakeholders – Social and Environmental responsibility
The

Maala

organization,

Business

for

Social

Responsibility

in

Israel

(www.maala.org.il), is an NGO established to promote corporate social responsibility
in Israel. Maala brings together 100 businesses in Israel, and has made its purpose the
promotion of social responsibility as a business approach.

Maala addresses a broad spectrum of corporate responsibility issues, including:
community development and relations, environment, business ethics, human rights,
marketplace, workplace and social accountability.
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It provides assistance and consulting services to companies interested in developing
business policies and strategies engendering social commitment and responsibility. It
also conducts courses and forums in community relations management. Maala
developed a "social management code" comprised of nine sections. Companies that
join the code must initially adhere to at least six of the nine chapters and commit to
engage in a process for full compliance within a period of five years.

The Tel Aviv Stock Exchange has created the Maala Index comprised of the top
twenty from among Israel's largest public companies. The Maala Index enables
investors to invest in a group of leading companies selected not only due to their
excellent financial performance but also according to their management and impact
on the environment, employees, the community and ethical performance. The Index
also enables those companies that participate and others to review their performance
as a benchmark to their sector colleagues as well as introduce management tools and
processes that enable them to perform better in the future. Investors can invest in the
Maala Index with one of two financial tools: Kesem Maala (index-tracking certificate)
or Pecan Maala, a mutual fund.

Among its other activities, Maala carries out an annual ranking. The social
management business code contains guiding principles for the management of social
responsibility within a business. For details, contact www.maala.org.il.

Maala monitors the development of social responsibility in Israel's business
community by conducting an annual survey of Israel‘s leading companies according
to an index of social and environmental responsibility – the Maala rating. The index
measures social responsibility at the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange, with 20 leading public
companies in its ranking. It tracks corporate behavior regarding community
involvement, ethics, human rights, fair employment practices, favorable working
environment and environmental awareness. The 2006 survey included 49 public and
privately-held companies that agreed to participate in the survey. The survey indicates

that the propensity of companies to make donations is growing. In 2006, the average
contribution came to approximately $1 million (1.2% of net earnings on average).
Approximately 91% of the companies surveyed have adopted ethical codes.
Adherence to human rights and to fair employment practices and working conditions
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is universal. While the right to unionize is established in law in Israel, in only 37% of
the surveyed companies labor is unionized. Approximately 70% of the companies
responded that they employ environmental management systems, while 40% have
adopted a formal environmental policy.

While statistics are not available, Maala estimates that the adoption of corporate
responsibility policies at the company level is fairly wide spread. Social agendas that
benefit the community are now expected to form an integral part of corporate
strategy in Israel. The implementation of the basic concept of Corporate Citizenship,
however, is still in its infancy. The majority of companies still engage primarily in
philanthropy or community relations, avoiding larger issues such as environment,
human rights, workplace issues and other burning topics.

There is a growing awareness of corporate social responsibility issues in Israel.
Since Maala was founded, there has been a major shift in the Israeli business
community's approach to its role in society. Many companies moved away from a
short-term approach characterized by ad hoc financial donations with no
accountability, no long-term commitments, and no expectation of return on
investment, towards long-term engagement which emerges from a planning process
that conforms with the company's overall business strategy. Several companies have
appointed a Community Relations Officer, a position which did not exist even a few
years ago.

4.3.2 – Principle IV.B
"Where stakeholder interests are protected by law, stakeholders should have the
opportunity to obtain effective redress for violation of their rights."
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Regarding section 350 – please see reference to Principle 4.A above.

Class Action
In addition to the ability to bring a personal suit in any instance of a violation of
rights, the Class Action Law – 2006 permits the filing of a class action suit in the
name of a group of injured parties under certain circumstances. It is possible to bring
a class action, inter alia, for any cause of action stemming from a connection to a
security and for a suit involving an environmental injury and for additional charges
relating to employees‘ rights and consumer protection.

Derivative Action
In addition to the class action suit tool, which is intended to increase enforcement, the
Companies Law allows a creditor to file a derivative suit in the name of the company
in respect of a prohibited distribution effected by the company ( Section 204 of the
Companies Law).

Labour Tribunals
Labour Tribunals are the authorized instance to hear claims between worker and
employer based on the employer-employee relationship. The Labour Tribunals also
adjudicate claims regarding collective work agreements, mutual claims between
pension funds and their members, and claims based on the National Insurance Law.
The first level is the District Labour Tribunals. The highest level is the National
Labour Tribunal which hears appeals on decisions of the District Labour Tribunal. It
also hears cases between parties to collective work agreements, and between trade
unions and employer associations, which are based on labour relations.

Small claims court
The small claims court hears civil claims filed by an individual plaintiff (as opposed
to a company) for sums not exceeding 8,000 Israeli shekels or for the giving of an

order for the exchange of a commodity, its repair, or the cancellation of a transaction,
where the value of the commodity, the repair, or the sum of the transaction does not
exceed 8,000 Israeli shekels. The Minister of Justice may amend this sum with the
confirmation of the Knesset‘s Law and Justice Committee. The small claims court
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makes enforcement of consumers' rights or other small creditors' rights more efficient
and simplified. The small claims court was established in order to create an available,
inexpensive and quick mechanism for the determination of relatively small claims,
which, if they had to be adjudicated in a regular court, would not be economically
worthwhile, and injustice would be done to the plaintiffs.

Recovering the cost of litigation
In Israel costs are determined by the outcome of the case and therefore, should a
plaintiff succeed in the action, he is awarded court costs. These costs are designed to
realistically reflect actual costs, but do not always include the amount of time and
effort expended in the case. There is no set formula for calculating court costs. More
often than not, the assigned costs do not cover actual expenditures. If the ruling goes
against the plaintiff, he is liable for court costs.

In class actions the Israel Securities Authority is authorized to provide financial
assistance and in practice assumes approximately 80% of the costs in the failed class
actions it chooses to assist.

Draft legislation considered by the MOJ and ISA authorize ISA to provide financial
assistance in derivative actions.

With regard to a class action suit, the Class Action Law provides that the class
action plaintiff may be paid a benefit as follows:


If the court rules in favor of all or part of the class with regard to all or part of a
class action suit, it shall order the payment of a benefit to the class action plaintiff,
unless it finds that such payment is not justified under the circumstances of the
case:



In determining the amount of the benefit, the court should consider, inter alia, the
following factors:

-

the effort invested by the class action plaintiff and the risk he took upon
himself in filing the class action and in conducting it;

-

the advantage brought to the members of the class from the conduct of the
action;
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the degree of importance to the general public of the class action;

The court may, for special reasons which shall be recorded, order the payment of
a benefit to an applicant or class action plaintiff even if the class action suit was
not approved, or even if there was no ruling in favor of the class in the class
action suit, whichever is relevant.

With regard to a derivative action, section 201 of the Companies Law provides that
where the court rules in favor of the company, it may order the payment of a benefit
to the plaintiff. Section 200 provides that when a court has awarded expenses in favor
of the defendant, the company will pay him unless the court rules, for special reasons
which shall be recorded, that the expenses are to be paid by the plaintiff. The court
may impose the payment of the plaintiff‘s expenses on the company and may impose
on the plaintiff the payment all or some of the expenses caused to the company, taking
into consideration the ruling and the other circumstances of the case.

4.3.3 – Principle IV.C
"Performance-enhancing mechanisms for employee participation should be permitted
to develop".
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Employees' representation on boards is not mandated, but is not prohibited in any
way. In specific cases employees' representation exists, and in the case of large state
owned companies it is even mandated by the Government Companies Law ( section
17(c)(3)).

Employees' participation in company profits
Employee option plans and Share options as well as other schemes for employee
profit-sharing are well developed in Israel.

An allocation of shares or of securities that may be converted into shares or that may
be exercised as shares must be carried out by the board of directors. The power of
allocation may not be delegated, except in situations in which the allocation is in the
context of an employee compensation plan, and provided that it is carried out in
accordance with a plan that includes detailed standards as outlined by the board of
directors (Section 288(b)). Additionally, the Companies Law provides that in the event
of a substantial private placement, the board of directors must give its approval,
followed by the general meeting (Section 274).

A substantial private placement is one in which one of the following conditions is
met:
1) A placement which confers twenty percent or more of the actual total voting
rights in the company prior to the issue, and part or all of the consideration for
which is neither in cash or securities listed for trading on the stock exchange,
or which is not carried out pursuant to market conditions, and as a result of
which the holdings of a substantial shareholder in the company‘s securities
will increase, or as a result of which a person will become a substantial
shareholder, after the issue;
2) As a result of the placement a person will become a controlling shareholder in
the company.

According to section 102 of the Income Tax ordinance, an employee who receives
options from his employer gets a tax benefit in the way of postponement of the tax
payment regarding the benefit. The employee's obligation to pay tax arises only in the
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event of exercise of the option, as defined in the section. The income from the options
can be classified as salary (taxed according to the employee's individual data) or as
capital gain (25% tax).

Pension funds are managed according to the Control of Financial Services (provident
funds) Law – 2005. The Law requires that a pension fund be managed by a
management company that functions as a trustee for the assets of the pension funds
under its management and for the benefit of the members, i.e. employees.

4.3.4 – Principle IV.D
"Where stakeholders participate in the corporate governance process, they should
have access to relevant, sufficient and reliable information on a timely and regular
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basis".

Several provisions assure stakeholders receive relevant timely information.

General
Regarding creditors who own securities in a corporation that is subject to ISA
reporting requirements, all disclosure requirements delineated in the Securities Law
are owed them as well.

Merger
According to section 318 of the Companies Law, a merging company shall send its
merger proposal to the secured creditors of the company no later than 3 days after
submitting the merger proposal to the Registrar. It must also notify its unsecured
creditors of the merger proposal and details thereof as prescribed in the Regulations.
The Companies Regulations (Merger) –2000 provide that –
A merging company must publish a notice to its creditors in two daily Hebrew
language newspapers widely distributed in Israel in which it indicates that it has
submitted a merger proposal to the Registrar of Companies. The notice must stipulate
that the creditors may review the proposal at the office of the Registrar of Companies,
at the company‘s registered office and at additional locations that the company has
established if it saw fit to do so.

A company that has substantial creditors abroad or whose securities are registered for
trade on a stock exchange abroad will also publish a notice in a newspaper that is
widely distributed in the country in which most of the said substantial creditors are
located or in which its securities are traded.

A merging company must send a notice by registered mail to each of its substantial
creditors, no later than four business days from the date of the delivery of the merger

proposal to the Registrar of Companies, indicating that it has submitted a merger
proposal to the Registrar of Companies and that it can be viewed at additional
locations.
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If the merging company has fifty or more employees, the company must submit a
copy of the notice published in the newspaper to the employees' committee or
publicize it in a noticeable location in the workplace.
Notice to the trustee – a certificate of indebtedness as defined by the Securities Law
is a certificate issued in series by a company bestowing the right to claim financial
payment from it on a predetermined date or upon the fulfillment of any term, as well
as any certificate that may be converted into shares. A company that has offered
certificates of indebtedness to the public may send the merger proposal to the trustee
of the certificates of indebtedness series and such delivery will be deemed to be
delivery of the merger proposal to the holders of the certificates of indebtedness.
Financial Statements – a merging company must deliver the last audited financial
statements of each one of the merging companies, the balance sheet date of which
does not precede by more than six months the date on which the merger proposal was
submitted, to any creditor who requests such from it, within fourteen days from the
date of the request. , If more than six months have passed from the balance sheet date
included in the audited financial statements, the last unaudited financial statements
must also be attached, provided that the date of the balance sheet in the unaudited
financial statement is not earlier than five months from the date on which the merger
proposal was submitted to the Registrar.

The merger proposal must have attached to it copies of the consent given by the
auditing accountant of each merging company to having his opinion on the financial
statements being delivered to the creditors.
Information for a substantial creditor – a substantial creditor of a merging
company may ask the merging company for any additional information that is
specified in the creditor‘s request, of which the creditor has a direct need in order to

formulate his decision as to whether the absorbing company can discharge its debts
(hereinafter: "Directly Needed Information"), including the information listed below:
a) The identity of those who will be the substantial shareholders in the absorbing
company after the merger, to the best of the company‘s knowledge.
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b) Whether the provisions of section 320(c) of the Companies Law regarding
voting at the general meeting apply to any of the merging companies, and a
specification of the shareholders regarding whom the said provision applies, to
the best of the company‘s knowledge;
c) The merging company‘s board of directors‘ discussion of events or board of
directors resolutions since the last balance sheet included in the audited or
unaudited statements financial statements which, in the view of the board of
directors, could have a substantial impact on the data included in the financial
statements;
d) A list of existing liens attached to the assets of the merging companies,
including liens regarding which there is an undertaking that they be given after
the merger and as a result thereof.

Distribution
Regarding a distribution for which the law requires a court‘s approval, section 303 of
the Companies Law requires that a company notify its creditors of the submission of
such an application to the court, as prescribed in the Regulations described below. A
creditor may apply to the court and oppose the application.
The Companies Regulations (Approval of Distribution)-2001, provide that –
A company that files an application for approval of a distribution must publish a
notice to the creditors in two widely distributed daily Hebrew newspapers on the
filing date.

A company which has substantial or secured creditors must also send a notice by
registered mail, no later than three business days from the date on which the
application is filed, to each of the substantial creditors of which it is aware and to each
of the secured creditors of which it is aware.

If most of the company‘s substantial creditors are located abroad, it must also publish
a notice in a newspaper that is widely distributed in the country in which the largest
number of its substantial creditors are located, or on the company‘s website.
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A company that has issued to the public abroad certificates of indebtedness must also
publish its notice in a newspaper that is widely distributed in the country in which it
offered the certificates of indebtedness to the public.

If the court with which the company has filed an application for approval of a
distribution believes that under the circumstances of the case, the above publications
are not sufficient, it may order that notices be sent to additional creditors, and it may
establish additional methods through which creditors are to be notified.
Content of the Notice – A notice to creditors must include at least the following
details:
(1) The name of the company;
(2) The company‘s telephone number and the address of its registered office;
(3) A notice that an application for approval of a distribution has been filed, and
that the company‘s creditors may apply to the court and object to the
application within thirty days or within a different period, as the court may
establish;
(4) The total amount of the company‘s capital, and the total amount that it wishes
to distribute, with an indication of the amount that the company wishes to
distribute which is not from its profits;
(5) A notice that the full text of the application for the approval of the distribution
may be reviewed and photocopied at the creditor‘s expense, at the company‘s
registered office and at additional locations if the company has seen fit to
establish such locations;
(6) The time in which the application may be viewed;
(7) Details regarding a company representative to whom requests may be made to
receive information regarding proceedings and rulings from the court.
Financial Statements – a company that has filed an application for the approval of a
distribution must promptly deliver its last audited financial statements, including any

consolidated statements, to any substantial or secured creditor who so wishes. The
balance sheet date of which must not precede by more than six months the date on
which the application for approval of a distribution was filed, and if a period of more
than six months has passed from the balance sheet date included in the audited
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financial statements, the last unaudited financial statements must also be attached,
provided that the date of the balance sheet in the unaudited financial statement is not
earlier than five months before the date on which the application for the approval of
the distribution was filed.

The a application for approval of the distribution by a private company must have
attached to it a copy of the consent given by the company‘s auditing accountant to
having his opinion on the audited and unaudited financial statements being delivered
to the creditors.

The court may determine that the company is exempt from the requirement to deliver
financial statements to a substantial creditor or a secured creditor, if it is persuaded
that the delivery could harm the company. If the court makes such a determination, it
must establish instructions regarding the right of review granted to the substantial or
secured creditors, as it may determine; if the court gives such instructions, it must
condition the right to review the financial statements on a requirement that the
creditor not make any use of the information in the financial statements and not
deliver such information to any other party except for the purpose for which the right
to review the information was received.

A company that has filed an application for the approval of a distribution must deliver
its financial statements within ten days to any creditor who wishes them.

A company may condition the delivery of its financial statements to a creditor on a
requirement that the creditor provide the company with a guarantee that the creditor
will not make any use of the information in the financial statements and will not
deliver such information to any other party except for the purpose for which the
creditor received the information; if the creditor refuses to give such an undertaking,
the creditor may not apply to the court, claiming that the company refused to give the
information that was requested.

Information for a substantial creditor – a substantial creditor or a secured creditor
of a company that has filed a an application for the approval of a distribution may ask
the company for any additional information of which the creditor has a direct need in
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order to formulate a decision as to whether there is a concern that the distribution will
prevent the company from being able to meet its existing and expected obligations at
the time set for their fulfillment.

A company may condition the delivery of the information on the creditor giving th e
company an undertaking that it will not make any use of the information in the
financial statements and will not deliver such information to any other party except
for the purpose for which it received the information.

Section 350 regarding arrangement or settlement proceeding was mentioned
regarding principles IVA, IVB. Regarding creditors‘ rights to receive information, the
Companies Regulations (Application for Arrangement or Settlement) – 2002 list the
methods through which a proceeding is to be publicized, and the parties to which the
material must be produced (regarding such listed parties, publication is not enough).

A party filing an application to the court must publish a notice of the filing on the
same day, and must send a free copy of the application and all attachments to every
interested party (i.e., the company, company shareholders, company creditors, parties
that have guaranteed the company‘s debts and the trustee for its certificates of
indebtedness) upon the receipt of such party‘s written demand.

Publication should be made in three daily newspapers that are widely distributed in
Israel, two in Hebrew and one in Arabic; and publication in a Russian language
newspaper that is widely distributed in Israel;
If most of the company‘s substantial creditors are located abroad, publication is also
required in a newspaper widely distributed in the country in which the highest number
of the substantial creditors are located or on the company‘s website, and for a
company that has offered certificates of indebtedness, publication is also required in a

newspaper widely distributed in the country in which the certificates of indebtedness
were offered to the public;

The court may, at the request of any person who believes that he may be injured by an
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application, instruct the company to produce to such person a copy of the application.

An application that is filed with the court pursuant to these regulations, other than an
ex parte application for a stay of proceedings, must be sent by registered mail to:
(1)

The company;

(2)

Substantial creditors;

(3)

All shareholders in the list of shareholders attached to the application for a
settlement or arrangement, and if the company is a public company – to its
substantial shareholders;

(4)

To the company‘s employees' committee, if the company has fifty
employees or more – and if the company does not have an employees'
committee, the company will hang an invitation to the hearing in a
noticeable place at the workplace.

The above-mentioned provisions will apply unless the court has issued other
provisions, and the court may give instructions regarding the non-delivery of notices
to creditors or to shareholders if there is no concern that they will be harmed by the
application or for a special reason that shall be recorded.

The information that is to be included in the application and publicized or produced at
the time of the filing of the application for the settlement or arrangement is very
detailed and includes:
(1)

A description of the company and its business, regarding the activity reflected in
its consolidated financial statements. The following matters, inter alia, must be
described:
(a) The industries in which the company is active, the licensing, taxation and
government regulatory characteristics of such industries, to the extent they
are unique to the company;
(b) The characteristics of the company‘s customers and the degree of
dependency on them, and a description of the company‘s material contracts

with customers with respect to whom the sales turnover exceeds 10% of the
company‘s total sales in the years preceding the date of the application‘s
filing;
(c) Dependency on suppliers, including marketers, or dependency on sources
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of raw materials;
(d) The unique characteristics and risk factors in the company‘s activity in each
branch of industry in which it is active;
(2)

The proposed settlement or arrangement and the reasons for it;

(3)

The name of the asset receiver or liquidator, if such has been appointed for the
company or for its assets, pursuant to a court ruling or a ruling of the Execution
Office, if such appointment remains in force on the date of the application‘s
filing;

(4)

A description of the benefits, including the payments, from the settlement or
arrangement, conferred on officers in the company, either by virtue of their
positions as officers or by virtue of their status as shareholders or creditors;

(5)

The name of the individual who either directly or indirectly controls the
company, the size of his holdings in the company and further details;

(6)

The various classes of shares along with an indication of what is offered to the
shareholders in the settlement or arrangement, and the impact of the settlement
or arrangement on the existing rights, including waivers that they may be asked
to give with respect to their rights, and a description of the rights that are
proposed in consideration for them;

(7)

The company‘s substantial creditors, the amount of each debt owed to them, the
securities given for their debts, and the total debt to the company‘s nonsubstantial creditors.

(8)

Guarantees, securities or other collateral that have been given to the company
for the purpose of the settlement or arrangement or which it is proposed that
they will be given, with an indication of the full identifying details of those
giving the guarantees, securities or other collateral;

(9)

A specification of the amounts paid for the services and expenses and an
estimation of the cost of the services and expenses that will be required to will
be required with respect to the settlement or arrangement proposal;

(10) If a particular person has been proposed to hold a position with respect to the
execution of the settlement or arrangement – his personal information, his
consent to serve in the position, his proposed powers and functions, the amounts
proposed as payment for his activity and the activities for which he will be
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entitled to be reimbursed for his expenses, whether he is a principal shareholder
with respect to the company or has a connection to such an interested party or to
a substantial creditor, the details of his connection;
(11) Any other significant information of any type whatsoever, which is required by
a reasonable creditor or shareholder in order to make a decision as to whether to
agree to the settlement or arrangement proposal.

Additional documents to be attached to an application for a settlement or
arrangement:
(1) A report regarding the company‘s assets and liabilities, as of the date of the
application‘s filing.
(2) A detailed list of the material agreements to which the company is a party, as
of the date of the application‘s filing.
(3) A list of the significant legal proceedings to which the company is a party.
(4) A detailed list of the officers in the company on the date of the application‘s
filing, and of the officers in the company who have left in the year preceding
the date of the application‘s filing;
(5) A register of the shareholders and of the substantial shareholders, as of the date
of the application‘s filing;
(6) The company‘s annual financial statements, as prescribed in the Regulations.

A substantial creditor or the Official Receiver may ask the company for any
additional information which is set out in the asking party‘s request, for which such
party has a direct need in order to formulate his decision regarding the application for
the settlement or arrangement. The company may refuse the substantial creditor‘s
request, if in the company‘s view the information requested is not directly needed for
the formulation of his decision or if the company believes that the request has not
been submitted in good faith or if the information includes a trade secret or if the
disclosure of the information could injure the company.

The court may, for special reasons that shall be recorded, exempt the applier from the
requirement to attach details or to submit certain documents, or may postpone the date
on which all or some of the said details must be submitted.
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Companies Registrar – Centralized Database
According to Section 9 of the Companies Law-1999, when a company is
incorporated, it must submit a copy of the by-laws, the declaration by the first
directors of their willingness to serve as directors..

A private company must submit an annual report to the Companies Registrar, which
includes information concerning, inter alia, the following matters: the date on which
the annual meeting was held, the distribution of the company‘s share capital, the
shareholders and the shares they own, bearer shares in circulation, details of the
serving directors; details of directors who have ceased to serve since the date of the
previous annual report, of the auditing accountant, and of the company‘s CEO. If the
company‘s by-laws do not restrict the transferability of shares or do not prohibit a
public offering or do not limit the number of shareholders to fifty, the company must
add to the annual report a copy of the balance sheet that was included in the financial
statements.

A private company must also report to the Companies Registrar regarding all of the
following:


Changes in the by-laws (including a change that requires the approval of the
Registrar), and the increase or reduction of registered capital.



A change in the address of the registered office.



A notice that the company does not have an auditing accountant (when
allowed according to the Law).



Appointments to the board of directors and changes in its composition.



Allotment of shares.



Transfer of shares.



Merger.



Transformation of the company into a private company.

Reporting to the Registrar of Companies by public companies:
In addition to reports that are filed pursuant to the Securities Law, a public company
must report to the Companies Registrar pursuant to the Companies Law, with regard
to only the following matters:
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A decision to change its name (requires the approval of the Registrar).



A change in the address of the registered office.



Merger



Transformation of the company into a public company.

Liens on the assets of public and private companies and any assignment of the
company‘s rights are registered with the Companies Registrar. There is also an
obligation to submit various reports to the Companies Registrar regarding proceedings
for a company‘s dissolution or liquidation, such as: the delivery of a copy of an order
of dissolution (Companies Ordinance, Section 270), an order of liquidation (Companies
Ordinance, Section 315), directors‘ declarations regarding solvency in a voluntary

liquidation (Section 322) etc.

Documents include: company by-laws, annual reports, names and addresses of
attorneys and certified public accountants, liens, resolutions adopted by the general
shareholders' meeting and liquidation documents.

The public has access to this information at the Regristrar's office and through online
services (through the Israel Post Company at www.postil.com).

Cost of accessing the information
The Companies Regulations (Fees) -2001, provide that to view a company‘s file or its
register will cost NIS 40 per company. Information may be ordered via the internet
(up to five pages) for NIS 40. Each additional page will cost NIS 2. Certification,
photocopying or certification of a photocopy will cost NIS 2 per page. Requests for
only a summary of the information on a company including only the company‘s
name, number, address and date of registration will involve a fee of only NIS 6.

Israel Securities Authority distribution website
For public companies, documents can be viewed and downloaded through the ISA
distribution website (www.magna.isa.gov.il.) at no cost for non-commercial users.
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4.3.5 – Principle IV.E
"Stakeholders, including individual employees and their representative bodies, should
be able to freely communicate their concerns about illegal or unethical practices to
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the board and their rights should not be compromised for doing this‖.

Draft legislation and regulations considered by the MOJ and ISA add to the functions
of the audit committee. One of the additional functions is to set procedures for
handling repots of employees regarding flaws in the management of the company, and
the protection that will be given to such employees.

Regulations regarding the financial services (The Board and its committees) provide
that the audit committee should establish procedures for protection of anonymity for
employees making complaints about matters related to the financial statements,
internal control and obedience to the law.

The Employee's Protection Act (Exposure of Violations, Misconduct, or
Administrative Impropriety) 1997 prohibits employers from dismissing or adversely
affecting the working conditions of employees who have submitted or helped others
to submit complaints against the employer or a fellow employee. The burden of proof
in such cases is placed on the employer.

The auditor of a company must, by the Law, disclose any material deficiencies
uncovered in the course of the audit to the chairman of the board. Public companies
are compelled to appoint an internal auditor as well, who must, by the Law, report
audit findings to the chairman of the board of directors, the CEO and the chairman of
the audit committee.

4.3.6 – Principle IV.F
"The corporate governance framework should be complemented by an effective,
efficient insolvency framework and by effective enforcement of creditor rights".
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Insolvency proceedings
The Companies Law, the Companies Ordinance and the Bankruptcy Ordinance
comprise the framework for insolvency proceedings and creditor rights. Israeli
bankruptcy law articulates the kind of claims a creditor can place on debt obligations,
due process in recovering the debt, foreclosure procedures, waiver of liens on assets
and the division of assets under receivership. These regulations also categorize and
prioritize creditor rights in cases of insolvency. This framework is transparent,
efficient and enforceable under civil law.

The right of secured creditors to enforce their right in collateral subject to a specific
charge is not harmed or breached during insolvency proceedings. A secured creditor
can enforce its rights thereof almost as if there were no insolvency proceedings.
However, in reorganization proceedings ( Section 350) the court can allow the secured
creditor to enforce its charges if there is no adequate protection to his rights or if the
enforcement thereof doesn't harm the reorganization.

The priorities of claims by different creditors are set by law in the following order:
1.

Secured claims with a specific charge – as mention above secured creditors
are allowed to enforce their charge outside the insolvency procedures.

2.

Wage claims up to a certain amount.

3.

Income tax, which the company already deducted from the employees'
salaries and didn't pay to the Tax Authority.

4.

At the same order – tax debts of one year and rent debts of one year.

5.

Claims secured by a floating charge.

Creditors have an important role in restructuring decisions. In order to confirm a
restructuring decision, it must be accepted by every class of creditors.

The Companies Law and Ordinance contain provisions that extend the protection
afforded to creditors.

Directors' personal liability
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As mentioned above, according to section 373 of the Companies Ordinance, personal
liability may be imposed – in the context of the company‘s liquidation process – on
officers who managed the company with an intention of deceiving its creditors. The
case law has interpreted the phrase ―with an intention of deceiving‖ such that the
officers can beheld personally liable for the company‘s debts even in cases in which
the person acting on behalf of the company did not actually intend to deceive but did
foresee that the company would not be able to discharge its debts.

Chapter V:
Disclosure and transparency
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5.1 – Introduction
―The corporate governance framework should ensure that timely and accurate
disclosure is made on all material matters regarding the corporation, including the
financial situation, performance, ownership, and governance of the company".

Reporting Regime
The Securities Law and the regulations stemming from it prescribe a detailed and
extensive reporting regime for issuers whose securities are held by the public. These
include periodic reports (annual and quarterly) and ongoing event triggered reports.
The ISA is responsible for monitoring all such reports and ensuring that issuers
comply with disclosure requirements.

The ISA has multiple powers at its disposal to effectively execute its role. For
example, it may demand an immediate report on any issue which it believes to be of
importance to a reasonable investor.

The ISA Chairman is empowered to issue directives to the market about the manner
of presentation of reports if this is deemed necessary to protect the public. The ISA
may also demand special reports of attorneys, auditors, accountants or other experts in
order to ensure that the report provides a fair representation of the state of the issuer.

The ISA controls reporting deadlines and may extend them as it sees fit.

Where an issuer fails to submit a report, the Securities Law empowers the ISA to
request the District Court to order it to do so. The ISA is also empowered to instruct
the stock exchange to suspend trading in the issuer's securities. Once the report is
submitted to the satisfaction of the ISA, it must instruct the exchange to resume the
trading.

The ISA may exempt a non-Israeli company that offers its shares to the public in
Israel from certain Securities Law requirements if it is satisfied that the applicable
foreign law ensures the interests of investors in Israel.
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Reporting to the ISA is done exclusively by way of encrypted electronic upload of
documents to the ISA's MAGNA website (described in Chapter 2.3.1.3). The ISA has
formulated rules for the reporting procedure using MAGNA. The periodic and
ongoing reporting required from underwriters is also subject to ISA oversight.

Timely and accurate disclosure
All public companies in Israel must file three types of reports: annual reports,
quarterly reports and in certain cases, immediate reports. .
1. Annual Reports – must be filed within three months of the end of the
reporting period (normally 31.12). Annual reports are divided into four
sections:
a. Description of the company and the development of its business activities
over the past year. The description includes: a general overview of the
company‘s activities and development; a diagram of the company's ownership
structure; information regarding material sales, acquisitions and transfer of
assets not undertaken within the regular course of business; and any other
material change in the manner in which the company was managed. In
addition, a short description of each of the company's areas of business, key
investments undertaken by it, major transactions in the company's shares, the
dates and amounts of cash dividend distributions over the past two years and
dividend policy (if such exists). Financial information is presented according
to area of business activity as well as macro-economic and industry-specific
trends and developments that have a potential material impact on the
company. Other items covered in the annual report include:
a.

Key products and services in each area of activity, including new
publicly-announced product launches and their development costs;

b.

Dependence on individual or a limited number of customers, the
loss of which could materially affect the company;

c.

Marketing and distribution channels for the company's products,
including exclusivity agreements, the company's order flow,
seasonality and the competitive structure of the industry or
industries in which it operates;
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d.

Description of the company's fixed assets and an overview of R&D
activities and outcomes. In addition summary information regarding
intangible assets must be provided, including patents, trademarks
and other forms of intellectual property.

e.

The organizational structure of the company, number of employees,
dependence on key personnel, rationalization programs, lay-offs and
information on the company's executives.

f.

Corporate policy regarding working capital, inventory management,
return of goods, product warranties, credit policy and information on
capital investments.

g.

Details regarding the company's capital structure, including
prevailing interest rates on loans, limitations and ceilings on credit,
credit rating, and evaluation of the company's financing needs.

h.

Summary of tax laws that apply specifically to the company's
business activity.

i.

Environmental impact assessment of the company's activities and
investments and costs required to comply with environmental
standards.

j.

Material agreements undertaken outside the regular course of
business to which the company is a party;

k.

Material pending legal proceedings against the company;

l.

Corporate goals and strategies as well as expectations of business
development in the coming year.

i.

Board of Director's report on the state of the company. This includes the
board's comments on the company's financial performance, changes in capital,
cash flow and the affect of specific events on the company's financial
statements. The report relates to key items and figures and includes any
additional information that the board feels is important to understanding the
company's performance and status. The following items must be covered in
the Board of Director's report: explanation of financial performance, liquidity

and sources of finance. In addition, events and trends affecting the company's
activity and financial performance must be articulated, including extraordinary
events and other items that may indicate financial stress. The report also
discloses the impact of material investments and transactions, as well as events
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that occurred subsequent to the reporting period and prior to submission of the
report. It specifies the actual use of proceeds from public offerings (if
applicable), exposure to and strategies employed to manage market risk,
benefits and remuneration to the company officers and principal shareholders,
and charitable contributions donated by the company.
ii.

Financial statements: Statement of Income (Profit and Loss Statement),
Statement of Financial Position (Balance Sheet), Changes in Financial
Position (Cash Flow). Changes in Shareholders' Equity.

iii.

Additional information concerning the company.

2. Quarterly Reports – must be filed within two months of the end of each quarter.
These include a Board of Directors Report and financial reports as outlined above.
3. Immediate Reports –Shareholders are required by law to inform the company of
any change in their holdings and the company must then file an immediate report to
the Securities Authority. The filing is accompanied by an updated presentation of
registered shareholders, including details regarding the quantity and class of shares
held by them. Companies must also file immediate reports disclosing the decisions of
shareholders' meeting.

Public companies are required to submit immediate reports in the following instances:
1. Per the ISA's request: If the ISA is of the opinion that certain information is
important to a reasonable investor, the ISA is authorized to demand that the
corporation submit an immediate report regarding the information, within a
period provided by the ISA.
2. A change occurs in the issued capital of the corporation (excluding the issue of
shares bought under the prospectus). The report must include details of the
changes both in class of share capital and the remuneration required for the
issued shares.
3. Change of name.

4. Change in the information submitted by the corporation (address, telephone
and facsimile numbers or the electronic mail address of the corporation).
5. Changes to the by-laws.
6. Changes to the articles of association or their annulment.
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7. Change to the shareholders registry.
8. If an application is filed in court to prevent discrimination (under section 191
of the Companies Law) except for an application whose effect on the
corporation is negligible, details shall be included in a report.
9. A public company becomes a private company.
10. If an application for compromise or settlement is filed in court.
11. If an application to approve a distribution is filed in court.
12. If an application for company liquidation or an appointment of a receiver,
liquidator, temporary liquidator, trustee, special manager or another official
(hereafter – official) is filed with the court or with the Chief Execution
Officer, a report shall be set.
13. A board's decision to merge the company with another corporation.
14. If rights are granted rights to purchase shares.
15. Fluctuation in the holdings of an Interested Party.
Shareholders in public companies are required by law to inform the company
of any change in their holdings and the company must then file an immediate
report to the Securities Authority.
Israeli law uses the level of 5% of the issued share capital, but also adds to this
some additional shareholders who must report even when they hold less than
5%. The threshold is described in the definition of the term "Interested Party"
in Section 1 of the Securities Law, as mentioned in Chapter II section 2.3.1.1.
16. Appointment or replacement of senior officers.
17. Appointment or replacement of accountants.
18. Events or matters deviating from the regular business of the corporation: the
report must provide details of such an event, regarding its nature, scope and
potential effect on the corporation, including any event or matter that may
significantly affect the price of corporate securities.
19. Failure to reach an objective using the remuneration received for securities.
20. Convention of a meeting.
21. Voting by proxy and position notice.

22. Results of meeting.
23. Recommendations and decisions of the directors.
24. Resolutions of the company.
25. Transaction on the issue of valuation.
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26. Updating obligation.
27. Payments to senior officers.

5.3.1 – Principle V.A
―Disclosure should include, but not be limited to, material information on…”
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Material information
As mentioned, the Securities Regulations require the filing of an immediate report
regarding "any event or issue deviating from the regular course of business due to its
nature, scope or possible outcome with a potential material impact on the corporation,
including any event or issue that could have a significant impact on that corporation‘s
securities prices." (Securities Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Reports) – 1970, Section 36).
Thus, the test which applies is the materiality test.

With regards to related party transactions (transactions with Interested Parties or
controlling shareholders) – more severe disclosure requirements and approval
mechanisms apply, as such a transaction is likely to materially influence the
profitability, property or liabilities of the company (extraordinary transaction as
broadly defined in the Companies Law, section 1 as a transaction not in a company‘s
ordinary course of business, not undertaken in market conditions or a transaction that
is likely to substantially influence the profitability of a company, its property or
liabilities.

Inadequate or misleading disclosure
The obligation levied on both Interested Parties and corporations to disclose
information to the public is anchored in the Securities Law (sections 36, 37). Disclosure
is enforceable both criminally and civilly.

Civil enforcement
The Securities Law places civil liability on the reporting companies, their directors,
CEOs and controlling shareholders. They are responsible for misleading information
(including material omissions) presented in immediate and periodic reports as well as
other notices and documents submitted by the corporation (Securities Law, section
38C). In addition to any action the ISA might take, shareholders can initiate either
direct individual or class action against the reporting entities should they fail to
disclose required information.

Class action – Shareholders can file class actions for any cause related to the
infraction of any law pertaining to securities. Generally speaking, any cause for direct
individual action can be the subject of a class action as well. The action is brought as
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a class action if the cause is a legal or factual issue common to a group of people. The
action is brought in the name of the group.
Derivative action – Any shareholder is entitled to initiate a derivate suit on behalf of
a corporation if it does not exercise its own rights. In derivative actions, the initiator
must first petition the company in writing to take action and can turn to the court only
if the petition is rejected, ignored or only partially met.

For further details regarding class action and derivative action, see Chapter 4
section 4.3.2.

Enforcement of Disclosure Requirements by the ISA
The ISA monitors on-going compliance with disclosure requirements through its
different departments:

The Corporate Finance Department is organized such that each reporting company
is assigned a "case officer", who is responsible for supervising compliance. All filings
by a given company are channeled to the case officer for review. The case officer also
follows information disseminated through the media.

The Public Affairs department at the ISA handles communications from the public.
Mainly, inquires from securities holders asking for information or guidance that can
help them deal with securities-related issues, or communications, in which the public
provides information to the ISA regarding current reports or prospectuses that, in the
opinion of the individual, were defective or deficient, or regarding cases of potential
market abuse. The information is referred to the various departments at the ISA for
handling, according to the subject matter.

The Department of Supervision of the Secondary Market coordinates and carries
out the control and supervision pertaining to the proper and fair management of the
TASE and of trading in securities listed thereon. The Department ensures that TASE's
own supervision of its members is being effectively carried out, is concentrating on
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major issues and uses the appropriate auditing tools in order to minimize possible
failures and risks in the activities of the stock exchange' members.

The Enforcement Department is involved in the area of trading control and class
action suits:
The department evaluates explanations given for unusual trading activity. In those
instances where unusual activity occurs and the company‘s explanation is deemed
insufficient, the matter is referred to the Reporting Center for further clarification. In
cases where there is a prima facie suspicion that an offence has been committed, the
case is referred to the Research and Intelligence Department for consideration of
whether to take further proceedings.

ISA's Intelligence Department is charged with monitoring information systems and
carrying out on-going surveillance. . Delinquent filing of periodic reports is detected
automatically by the MAGNA electronic filing system. Non-compliance regarding
immediate disclosure of material information is monitored through cross-referencing
with information appearing in the press, tracking unusual stock movements. A
computer system designed to detect financial distress also signals case officers of
possible candidates for "non-compliance" in the future.

The ISA can petition the court for an order to enforce compliance with disclosure
requirements. The ISA, in consultation with the Chairman of the TASE and after
giving the company the opportunity to plead its case, can instruct TASE to suspend
trade of the company's listed securities. (Securities Law, section 38A)

Penalties
Penalties against listed companies for violations of the Securities Law can be criminal
or civil (Securities Law, Sections 52b-d, 53, 54). The law draws a distinction between cases
in which there are apparent intent to defraud investors and cases in which such intent
does not exist (Section 53). The law sets a maximum punishment of three years

imprisonment for the former (Section 53(A)), while the punishment for less severe cases
is a fine without imprisonment (Section 53(C)).
The ISA can impose civil fines as an alternative to criminal prosecution of certain
Securities Law infractions.
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For further details – see Chapter I, section 1.3.2.

To illustrate effective enforcement of its disclosure requirements by the ISA, it would
be helpful to examine the Eisenberg case, in which a controlling shareholder was
found guilty of "aggravated fraudulent acquisition" for obtaining the required special
majority approval for a related party transaction under false pretenses. A description
of the case as related in the 2005 ISA Annual Report is given in chapter III section
3.3.2.

Enforcement of Securities Legislation
As formerly mentioned, the Securities Authority is responsible for the enforcement of
the Securities Law – 1968, the Joint Investment in Trust Law – 1994 and the
Regulation of Investment Advice and Investment Portfolio Management Law – 1995.
It is also responsible for administering the sections of the Prohibition of Money
Laundering Law – 2000, which pertain to the obligations of investment advisors,
portfolio managers and non-bank stock exchange members.
The ISA commands broad enforcement powers, criminal, civil and administrative, to
ensure proper adherence to the legislation under its jurisdiction.
Violations of the Securities Law are subject to criminal prosecution. The ISA can
replace criminal prosecution with civil fines in some cases.

As for the other two laws, various administrative mechanisms have been adopted to
address violations. They have been put into force with regard to the supervision of
mutual fund managers and trustees and of licensed investment advisers and portfolio
managers.

For a thorough analysis of enforcement facilities and delineation of practical
liability, see Chapter I, section 1.3.2.

5.3.1.1 Principle – V.A.1: The financial and operating results of the company
The sub-principle refers particularly to audited financial statements showing the
financial performance and the financial situation of the company (most typically
Page | 215

including the balance sheet, the profit and loss statement, the cash flow statement and
notes to the financial statements).

Audited financial statements
Companies must present financial statements to the annual general shareholders
meeting. There is no legal requirement that shareholders approve the reports. The
Board of Directors is solely responsible for preparing and approving the financial
statements. According to the Companies Law, all annual financial statements must be
externally audited (Companies Law, Section 154).

The financial statements of public companies must be signed by at least three
individuals: the CEO, the CFO and the Chairman of the Board of Directors. The
Chairman of the Board must sign the financial statements; however, all Board
members carry liability regarding the accuracy of financial statements, especially with
regards to the absence of misleading information.

The auditor's statement, which is an integral part of the financial statement, must
include the following declarations:


The accountant's responsibility is limited to the professional statement.



The financial statements fairly present the state of company affairs.



Suitable accounting policies have been consistently applied. These, supported
by reasonable judgments and estimates, have been used in the preparation of
the financial statements. Any departure from standard accounting procedure is
explained and quantified.



There is good reason to assume that the company will be a going concern in
the year ahead and if there is reason to believe otherwise, it is disclosed and
explained.

Interim (quarterly) financial statements need not be audited, though they must be
accompanied by an accountant review. (Companies Law, Section 154).

All reporting companies, as defined in the Securities Law, submit incorporation
documents, financial statements and all immediate (current reports) filings on the
ISA's MAGNA system. Financial statements are submitted to the ISA upon their
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approval by the board of directors. Upon filing, the statements are disseminated
electronically to the public in real time. The data base is searchable by keyword.
Financial information can be compared between reporting periods and for a given
period, between companies, including the ability to download data on an entire
industry at once. Financial data are downloadable in EXCEL format for further
processing by the user. This service is free of charge without limitation to noncommercial users.
(See section V.B below, regarding XBRL reporting).

For the effective enforcement and remedial mechanisms employed by the ISA, see
above section 5.3.1.

5.3.1.2 – Principle V.A.2: Company objectives
The sense of the Principle is that companies should also disclose commercial and noncommercial objectives.
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Company's Objectives
The Companies Law provides that the company‘s objective is to operate in
accordance with the business consideration of realizing profits. Within the scope of
such considerations, the interests of its creditors, its employees and the public should
be taken into account. (Companies Law, Section 11)
In general, the company‘s objectives are established in its by-laws. The by-laws can
establish what types of business are permitted, or establish types of business that are
not permitted, or allow the company to engage in any legal business. A change in the
company‘s objectives requires an amendment of the by-laws, which is done by the
shareholders at the general meeting. The required majority is regular majority (more
than 50%), unless the by-laws provide otherwise. (Companies law, Sections 18, 32)

In addition to the by-laws, companies are required to discuss their goals and strategy
as well as anticipated developments for the coming year in their annual report.

5.3.1.3 – Principle V.A.3: Major share ownership and voting rights.

Disclosure of share ownership
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According to Israel's Securities Law, an "Interested Party" (as defined above7) in a
public company must report their holdings and changes in them to the public
company in writing no later than one trading day after the date of the change (Securities
Law, Section 37 and Securities Regulations (Dates for Filing Notice of Interested Party) -2003, Section
3).

Once notice is given to the company, the latter must file an immediate report with the
ISA. If it receives notice before 9:30 A.M. on a trading day, the immediate report
must be filed by 13:00 that day. If received later, the company must file by 9:30 A.M.
the following trading day. Once filed, the dissemination of information is
instantaneous over the MAGNA and is available for public review.

According to an amendment to the Securities Regulations, enacted in May 2008,
senior officers of the corporation have also to report their holdings and changes in
them to the public company, which is then obligated to file an immediate report
regarding the said changes in holdings.

Once a week, the corporation must file a report containing details of the Interested
Parties and of their holdings in the securities of the corporation. Each report
summarizes the transactions made and presents the updated status of ownership. In
addition, a report outlining current ownership structure must be submitted weekly for
all weeks in which a change in holdings has occurred.

Banks and insurance companies, as well as mutual funds and provident funds that are
held by banks and insurance companies, are exempt from filing for each individual
transaction, but must file the weekly ownership structure report. Should cumulative
changes in their holdings exceed 1% since the previous ownership structure report,
the change must be disclosed in an immediate report (Securities Regulations (Periodic and
Immediate Reports), 1970, Section 33).

7

See Chapter II section 2.3.1.1.

In addition, the ownership structure must also be disclosed in the company's periodic
financial reports and in prospectuses.
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Disclosure by shareholders of ultimate beneficial ownership
The Securities Law does not define "beneficial ownership" as such, but does specify
types of joint acquisition and ownership of shares that can result either from a
contractual agreement between shareholders or by virtue of a pre-existing relationship
such as family ties or a trusteeship. Ownership by a corporation includes the holdings
of its subsidiaries and affiliates. For individuals, family members who live under the
same roof or are "dependants" of that individual are considered one shareholder.
"Joint ownership" applies to all contractual relationships between two or more parties,
but specifically also pertains to holdings held jointly between a company and one or
more of its "principal shareholders" and the holdings held by a securities professional
and their clients or family members (not necessarily co-habitants or dependants) for
whom the professional serves as de facto portfolio manager. For the purpose of
identifying "principal shareholders" in a public company, who must disclose holdings
and are subject to various other legal restrictions and qualifications, the law mentions
trustees, parent companies and mutual fund managers (regarding the assets held by
the funds it manages) as relations that coincide with the concept of "beneficial
ownership.‖

In cases of chained ownership, the assessment of ultimate ownership (as adopted by
the ISA) is based on the ability of a person to exercise decision-making power rather
than a quantitative calculation of that person's indirect holdings in the company. Such
that, a shareholder in a controlling entity of a publicly-owned subsidiary will be
considered an ultimate owner of that company only if it has control over the parent
company. "Control" is defined in the Securities Law as: "the ability to direct the
activity of a corporation, excluding an ability deriving merely from holding an office
of director or another office in the corporation, and a person shall be presumed to
control a corporation if he holds half or more of a certain type of means of control of
the corporation". Hence, shareholdings of 50% or more automatically confers control,
however control can be assessed to holdings less than 50%, depending on

circumstances (including capital structure and dispersion of share holdings) pertaining
to the entity being examined. If the controlling entity is a limited partnership, the
general partner is considered in control. If share holdings are held in trust, both the
trustee and beneficiary are scrutinized as potential ultimate owners. In any case, the
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percentage of ownership that is assessed to the ultimate owner is based on the
assumption that control in the parent entity is equivalent to 100% ownership, such that
an owner controlling an entity that has a 20% interest in a company, will be assumed
to hold the entire 20%, regardless of his actual holdings in the controlling entity.

5.3.1.4 – Principle V.A.4:
Remuneration policy for members of the board and key executives, and information
about board members, including their qualifications, the selection process, other
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company directorships and whether they are regarded as independent by the board.

Disclosure regarding board members and key executives
The following information regarding company board members must be made
available to investors in the annual report:

Directors: Name, I.D. number, date of birth, address, citizenship, membership in
board committees, if applicable, status as outside director and whether he possesses
accounting and financial expertise, status as an employee of the company or affiliated
companies, year he started to serve as director, educational background, occupation
during the previous five years, list of corporations in which he/she serves as director,
whether he/she is a relative of another principal shareholder (including directors and
key executives), expertise in accounting and/or finance.
(Securities Regulations (Periodic and Immediate statements)-1970, section 26 of the)

Key executives: name, I.D. number, date of birth, date he/she started his/her position,
positions in the company and affiliates, whether he/she is related to another principal
shareholder or other key executive, educational background and professional
experience in the preceding five years.
(Securities Regulations (Periodic and Immediate statements)-1970, Section 26A)

Board and Executives Remuneration
The Securities Regulations contain heightened disclosure requirements regarding the
salaries of the five highest-paid individuals by including: 1) remuneration from the
company as well as companies controlled by the company 2) total remuneration from
all affiliates of the corporate group, if the individual served in more than one company
from the group. The Regulations also stipulate disclosure of remuneration to the three
highest-paid officers in the company, if any of these are not included in the five
individuals listed above. Any principal shareholder that is not included in either of the
first two categories must also disclose compensation received from the company or
companies controlled by it. The most senior officer must also disclose any

remuneration made between the end of the reporting year and the publication of the
annual report.
For these purposes, remuneration includes all cash or cash equivalents, loans,
securities or other rights and any other form of benefit, with the exclusion of
Page | 222

payments due solely by virtue of being a shareholder. In addition all benefits given
directly or indirectly to principal shareholders must be disclosed.
This information must be included in annual reports, as described below in section
5.3.1.5. The report must address whether the described compensation is based on
performance standards or goal achievement along with the methods for assessment.
The Board of Directors must state its opinion as to the balance between compensation
and contribution to the company as well as to the fairness plausibility of the
compensation level.
(Securities Law Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Statements) -1970, Section 21)

The requirements provide for detailed accounting of all compensation received as
well as any interest a principal shareholder may have had in all related party
transactions during the reporting period (Securities Law Regulations (Periodic and Immediate
Statements) -1970, Sections 21-22).

Immediate reports must include specifics regarding terms of employment with the
CEO along with any controlling shareholder employed by the company.
(Securities Law Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Statements) -1970, Section 37A3)

The selection process
Appointment of directors, except for an external director, is made by the annual
shareholders meeting. (Companies Law, Section 59). If the director is not an incumbent,
disclosure must include all the information outlined above as required disclosure in
the annual report (Securities Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Reports) – 1970), Section 26).

When the nomination is exempt from the requirement for proxy voting, (when
controlling shareholders have secured a majority for their candidates), this
information is must be included in the invitation to the general shareholders meeting
and must be disclosed to the public in an immediate report.

5.3.1.5 – Principle V.A.5: Related party transactions

Related party transactions
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The law does not define "related party transactions". The term, however, is used in
reference to transactions involving Interested Parties as well as in connection with
transactions involving controlling shareholders. These transactions carry special
disclosure requirements under the Securities Law.

Immediate Reports
Controlling Shareholders
A transaction with a controlling shareholder requiring special disclosure is defined
in as an extraordinary transaction between a public company and one of its
controlling shareholders; a transaction with an individual or corporation in which the
controlling shareholder has a personal interest, including a private placement; a
contract between a public company and a controlling shareholder or with a relative of
such a shareholder, if they are also an officer in the company, regarding terms of
service and employment, and if they are a company employee but not an officer –
regarding employment by the company (Companies Law, Section 270(4)).

The company must give notice of the transaction with a controlling shareholder and
the terms thereof, along with the convention of a general meeting for the purpose of
approving the transaction, within fourteen days of its approval by the board of
directors. Such notice must be given in three ways: (1) the filing of an immediate
report (transaction report); (2) publication of an announcement (3) the transaction
report must be sent by registered mail to all shareholders entitled to vote at the general
meeting, per their request (Securities Regulations (Transactions between a Company and a
Controlling Shareholder), 2001, Section 2).

The transaction report must include every detail concerning the transaction that may
be important to a reasonable investor or to a reasonable shareholder for the purpose of
voting at the general meeting, including, inter alia:
1.

The name of the company;

2.

A description of the main points of the transaction;

3.

The name of the controlling shareholder who has a personal interest in the
transaction; details of the rights that give him control in the company, including
his proportional stake in voting rights, the issued and paid-up company capital
and the voting agreements relating to the aforesaid voting rights to which he is a
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party;
4.

The nature of the personal interest;

5.

If the subject of the transaction is an asset, the asset should be described.

6.

The manner in which the consideration was determined;

7.

Approvals required or terms that were determined for carrying out the
transaction.

8.

The reasons of the audit committee and the board of directors for approving the
transaction, the value of the consideration and the manner in which it was
determined, and the reasons of the directors opposing it, if there were any, and
the names of the directors who participated in the board and audit committee
meetings with regard to the approval of the transaction, indicating who of these
is an external director;

9.

The name of each director who has a personal interest in the transaction and the
nature of this interest;

(Transactions between a Company and a Controlling Shareholder) – 2001, Section 3).

An immediate report must be filed following any transaction that a controlling
shareholder is involved or has an interest in, including details of who approved the
transactions and the reasoning behind its approval ( Securities Regulations (Periodic and
Immediate Statements), 1970, Section 37A(6)).

Officers
An immediate report must be filed regarding any of the following:
1. A transaction between the company and one of its officers, or a transaction
between the company and another person that an officer of the company has a
personal interest in.
2. The grant of an exemption, insurance, guarantee to indemnify or indemnification
granted under a permit, to an officer who is not a director.
3.

A contract between the company and one of its directors regarding terms of
service, including the granting of loans in the context of employment terms, and a

contract between the company and one of its directors regarding terms of
employment in other positions.

The report must include details of the following points:
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1. The name of the officer and his position, the date and details of the
transaction, the approval date of the transaction, description of the proceedings
at which the aforesaid transaction was approved and the reasons for its
approval;
2. If a transaction was not approved due to conflict of interest or lack of good
faith, it must still be reported including the name of the officer and his
position, the date and details of the transaction, the date of the resolution,
description of the proceedings which preceded the submission for approval or
the non-submission for approval of the aforesaid transaction and the reasons
for the aforesaid decision;
3. Extraordinary transactions involving company officers. An ―extraordinary
transaction‖ is defined as a transaction not in a company‘s ordinary course of
business, a transaction that is not undertaken in market conditions or a
transaction that is likely to materially influence the profitability of a
company, its property or liabilities; (Companies Law, Section 1). There is no
definition for "materiality" in the law;
4. Indemnification to company officers under an indemnification permit;
5. Authorization given by the auditing committee and Board of Directors to the
transaction when it does not require authorization by a shareholders meeting,
including the principles of the transaction, auditing committee‘s arguments
in favor of approval and shareholders‘ rights of objection.
(Securities Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Statements), 1970, Section 37A(1-5))

An immediate report must be filed regarding an extraordinary transaction involving
the CEO or a director (Securities Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Statements),
1970, Section 37(a)(7)). A report must also be filed in the event of a private placement
of 20% or more of the company‘s voting rights to a principal shareholder.

Periodic reports
Controlling shareholders
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The annual report must include details of any transaction that a controlling
shareholder is involved or has interest in that took place during the reporting year or
any time until the report‘s submission, including an ongoing transaction. The
following details must be present:
1. The identities of the parties to the transaction;
2. The transaction‘s parameters;
3. The controlling shareholder‘s personal interest in the transaction;
4. Date and authorizing body.
(Securities Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Statements) – 1970 Section 22)

Officers
The annual report must include details regarding compensation regarding the
following officers:
1. The five highest salaried officers in the corporation or any of its consolidated
companies, regardless of whether payment was made by the corporation
itself, so long as the payment resulted from the officers‘ official corporate
position. Salary includes benefits and all forms of income.
2. The three highest salaried officers in the corporation, if they were not
previously mentioned.
3. All Interested Parties not previously mentioned, so long as they receive
compensation from the corporation or one of its consolidated companies.
(Securities Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Statements) – 1970, Section 21)

The company is required to disclose in its annual statement information concerning
benefits which the corporation and its consolidated companies gave to an Interested
Party, concerning transactions with an Interested Party (Securities Regulations (Preparation
of Annual Financial Statements) – 1993, Section 64).

An explanation of the criteria of the Board of Directors underlying a decision or
recommendation to make payments as stated in section 21 should be provided, with

reference to the relationship between the results of the corporation‘s activities and
these payments (Securities Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Statements) – 1970, Section
10(b)(4)).
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Enforcement

of

Disclosure

Requirements

of

Related

Party

Transactions
The monitoring and enforcement of the disclosure of related party transactions is
undertaken by the ISA. Hence, the failure to accurately disclose any material
information concerning approval procedures can lead to enforcement measures,
including criminal prosecution, which can shed light on the infraction and aid
shareholders in their ability to enforce their rights under the Companies Law.

An example of enforcement regarding related party transactions can be found in the
ISA actions in 2007 against Bezeq regarding the approval of executive compensation
packages, actions that resulted in the Danzinger Report. The ISA's intervention in this
matter, based on its claim that the approval procedure and its disclosure did not
comply with the law, led to the return of part of the remuneration to the company.
For a detailed description, please see Chapter I.

5.3.1.6 – Principle V.A.6: Foreseeable risk factors.

Market risk is the risk that the value of an investment will decrease due to fluctuation
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in market factors. There are four standard market risk factors:


Equity risk or the risk that stock prices will change.



Interest rate risk, or the risk that interest rates will change.



Currency risk, or the risk that foreign exchange rates will change.



Commodity risk, or the risk that commodity prices (i.e. grains, metals, etc.)
will change.

Securities Regulations require market risk assessments to be included in the Board of
Directors‘ annual report to the ISA.

The following information is to be included in the report:


Personal information regarding the person responsible for managing market
risks in the corporation.



A detailed description of the market risks to which the corporation is exposed.



The policy of the corporation in managing market risks including designation
of market risks management as accounting or economic exposure, and also a
quantitative statement of the degree of exposure which it regards as acceptable
and the variables involved in the aforesaid decision. A description of the
division of responsibility and scope of authority in the corporation, insofar as
they concern existing exposures, their increase, opening up new exposures and
also activities aimed at reducing exposures, if these exist. The investment
policy of the corporation in entities whose main business is transactions in
derivatives and short sales (such as hedge funds). A description of changes
that occurred during the reporting period in the market risk management
policy.



A description of measures taken to supervise management policy pertaining to
market risks,



A comprehensive report detailing the breakdown of corporate assets based on
the index to which they are linked (consumer price index, foreign currency
etc.).



Sensitivity evaluation – pertains to products and services traded on the
commodities market, and to any financial instrument, even if classified as
stock by the corporation, as well as to any liability tied to a payment or
remuneration in the form of products or services that are traded on the
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commodities market, or to financial instruments. The fair value and its
determination of the above financial instruments, services and products must
be delineated in the annual report, in addition to any change in valuation and
forecast from the previous year.


If the main business of a corporation is in the area of finance or commodities
and services traded on the commodities market, the report shall also include
analysis according to the Value at Risk model (VaR).



The board of directors is required to provide clarification regarding market
exposures, sensitivity analysis and, where required, VaR measurements.
Additionally, account must be taken as to the compatibility between the
management of market risk and the management of real risks.



The report must also include a description of any relevant event occurring
after the compilation of the statistics described above. This must include the
manner in which the described event affected, if at all, the company‘s
exposure to and management of market risk.

(Securities Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Statements) – 1970, schedule 2)

Disclosure pertaining to critical accounting estimates
Where a corporation made use in its financial statements of critical accounting
valuations, each valuation should be identified in the Board of Directors' report and
the following should be explained regarding each critical accounting valuation
separately:
(1) the way in which the valuation was determined, including facts, assumptions
and main data used as a basis for the aforesaid choice, including explanations
pertaining to its significance;
(2) valuation's quantitative effect on the financial statements of the corporation,
including paragraphs of the aforesaid financial statements which were
affected by it;

(3) every factor of importance that might require amendment or deviation from
the valuation;
(4) every significant change made to the valuation, during the period of three
years preceding the date of reporting, including reasons for the change and
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its effect on the financial statements of the corporation.
(Securities Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Statements) – 1970, First Schedule Section 7)

In addition, if the critical accounting valuation is based on particularly uncertain
assumptions or if a reasonable change in the aforesaid valuation might have a
significant effect on the financial presentation or on the business activities of the
corporation – the sensitivity evaluation of the critical accounting valuation shall also
be enclosed and should detail the aforesaid uncertainty or the possible effect it might
have on the valuation.

5.3.1.7 – Principle V.A.7: Issues regarding employees and other stakeholders.

The Securities Regulations stipulate that an immediate report must be filed regarding
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any event or matter deviating from the regular business of the corporation, the nature,
scope or potential result of which have, or may have a significant effect on the
corporation, as well as regarding each event or matter that may significantly affect the
price of corporate securities (Securities Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Statements) – 1970,
Section 36(a)).

Thus the law requires a cumulative test to determine whether immediate disclosure is
required:
1.

The event must deviate from the regular course of corporate
business

2.

Materiality – can the event potentially affect the corporation or the price
of its securities in a material way

Though unspecified in the law, such events as embezzlement of corporate funds by an
employee, a work stoppage or dispute over terms of employment within the company,
the bankruptcy of a significant client or that of a major competitor, all would fulfill
the requirements necessitating an immediate report. The Supreme Court also requires
disclosure regarding the physical health of corporate officers, when such information
is of significant interest to the reasonable investor due to the officer‘s position and the
illness‘ effect on their work capability. The report must include all the details of the
event itself and the potential short and long-term effects on the company.

5.3.1.8 – Principle V.A.8:
Governance structures and policies, in particular, the content of any corporate
governance code or policy and the process by which it is implemented.
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Many of the arrangements relating to corporate governance are anchored in the
Companies Law, which effectively constitutes a code for corporate governance. It is
thus at the level of primary legislation, which is binding for all intents and purposes.
The Law binds all companies that are incorporated in Israel. A violation of the
provisions of the Companies Law gives rise to civil law remedies as mentioned in
Chapter 1.

The Ministry of Justice, together with the ISA, is currently preparing an appendix to
the Companies Law which will introduce a recommended corporate governance code.
Adoption of the code will not be mandatory; however, public companies will be
compelled to measure corporate governance policies undertaken by them and to
publicly disclose those provisions with which they do not comply. ("Comply or
disclose" policy).

The code being drafted at this time stems from the work of a committee appointed by
the Israel Securities Authority, chaired by Prof. Zohar Goshen. The committee
submitted its report in 2006.
The proposed code enhances the corporate governance provisions embodied in the
law, which, generally speaking comply with OECD principles. The code focuses on
augmenting board of directors' independence, enhancing the role of the audit
committee, and increasing the transparency of and accountability for internal controls.

For public companies implementation of the code will be contingent on disclosure and
therefore the ISA will be responsible for enforcing compliance. The ISA has enforced
existing corporate governance standards through closely monitoring disclosure of key
Board decisions and the approval process of related-party transactions. While it does
not interfere with corporate decision-making, the ISA's vigilance in monitoring the
process and corporate disclosures surrounding key decisions has led to the reversal of
certain decisions and potential improvements in director accountability as well as

other facets of good governance. (For example, see the Bezeq case in section 1.3.4 in
Chapter I).
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5.3.2 – Principle V.B
―Information should be prepared and disclosed in accordance with high quality
standards of accounting and financial and non-financial disclosure”.
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In July 2006 the IsASB published Accounting Standard 29, which mandates the
adoption of IFRS (International Financial Reporting Standards) by January 2008 for
all public companies. Therefore, since January 1, 2008, Israeli reporting corporations
have been obligated to prepare their financial statements in accordance with IFRS.
Israel has chosen to adopt these international reporting standards, in order to enhance
the transparency and openness of its capital market relative to global capital markets,
and to adjust the disclosure and valuation requirements to those generally accepted
internationally.

The Israel Accounting Standards Board (IsASB) is the body directly responsible for
setting out accounting standards applicable within Israel. The IsASB, working
together with accountants within the ISA and the Israeli Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (ICPAS) decided to adopt IFRS in full without carve–outs. Therefore
today Israeli accounting standards are those of IFRS as formulated by the
International Accounting Standards Board.

Enforcing Adherence to Auditing Standards
The ISA is the organization charged with monitoring the financial statements of
publicly held companies and ensuring they are prepared in accordance with IFRS.
Thus the ISA, acting in the public interest, fulfills the role of overseer of financial
reporting in Israel. The governing body of the ICPAS may be involved by the ISA in
relation to specific issues that may arise.

The Israeli Institute of Certified Public Accountants (ICPAS) in 2005 set up a body
known as the Members Review Board, the role of which is to carry out in depth peer
reviews of audits of public companies carried out by its members. Peer reviews under
ICPAS supervision are binding on firms of certified public accountants that audit
financial statements of public companies (companies subject to the Securities Law or
that trade on foreign stock exchanges). ICPAS has full discretion over the frequency

of such reviews. However, according to ICPAS guidelines, peer reviews for each firm
shall take place no less than once every three years; with the review of the five largest
firms taking place annually. The work of the Members Review Board is recognized
by the ISA in that the requirement that a public company rotate its auditors does not
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apply if the company opens its books to the Members Review Board for the purpose
of peer review.

ICPAS advises the ISA of any violation revealed by the Review Board. It also updates
the ISA on a regular basis, at least once per year, on the broad findings uncovered
during the reviews. This is done without noting the identities of the accounting firms
involved. The ISA retains the right to advise ICPAS of any specific matters which, in
its opinion, should be included in the review framework

The ISA is contemplating the formation of a public oversight accounting board,
similar to the PCAOB in the US. Such a body would enhance the confidence of
investors and others that the auditing of public companies performed by the
accounting firms in Israel adheres to the highest standards.

Ethical standards have been published by the ICPAS and these apply to all accounting
work carried out by its members including auditing.

Another aspect of the transition to the IFRS is the adoption of the XBRL in January
2008. The Extensible Business Reporting Language (XBRL) is an electronic language
used for reporting of financial and other data. Its worldwide use had accelerated
lately. It belongs to a family of XML languages (Extensible Markup Language),
characterized by the option to mark parameters by smart tags.

Israel's MAGNA reporting system was developed on the basis of XML, which
contains a taxonomy (collection of words) that allows the identification of data from
financial statements, and in turn allows processing of data, computerized links to
other systems, various calculations, understanding of reports written in different
languages, etc. Each language has a taxonomy of its own, however if the accounting
data is identical, it is possible to understand a financial statement without

understanding the language in which it was written, that occurs when the data is
presented in a standard XBRL language.

The application of XBRL to the computerized system of the ISA is becoming more
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relevant than ever, in light of the IFRS adoption (which started in January2008). This
increases the use of XBRL, since it makes the data of the Israeli reporting entities
both accessible and clear to investors all over the world without them being able to
read Hebrew.

5.3.3 – Principle V.C
―An annual audit should be conducted by an independent, competent and qualified,
auditor in order to provide an external and objective assurance to the board and
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shareholders that the financial statements fairly represent the financial position and
performance of the company in all material respects‖.

Auditor Regulation
Auditors in Israel need a CPA license. Attaining a CPA license require the completion
of a set of exams conducted by the Council of Certified Accountants. Individuals
completing a 4 year university program are exempt from a great part of the licensing
exams. Educational prerequisites are the same for the auditors of public and privately
held companies. Accountants are not obliged to have a university degree in
accounting, although most accountants have such a university degree. Individuals who
do not have such a degree are required to complete a larger set of exams in order to
attain a CPA license.

The audit profession is regulated by the Council of Certified Accountants, which was
established under the Accountants Law -1955 .

The Council of Certified Accountants is a statutory body under the jurisdiction of the
Ministry of Justice. The Council is comprised of accountants, lawyers and economists
as follows: the Chairman (appointed by the Minister of Justice, usually the Director
General of the Ministry), representatives from the Ministry of Finance, the Companies
Registrar, the Cooperative Societies Registrar, the Bank of Israel, Israel Securities
Authority, as well as six CPAs appointed by the Minister of Justice after consultation
with the Institute of Certified Public Accountants (ICPAS), a senior academic in
accounting appointed by the Minister of Justice and a legal professional with
advanced legal education (after consultation with the ICPAS).

The Council of Certified Accountants has disciplinary powers which are exercised by
the Council itself or a panel drawn from Council members (Accountants Law, Section 12).

To a certain extent the Israel Securities Authority is also involved in auditor oversight.
It has issued directives concerning the independence of external auditors auditing the
financial statements of public companies.
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The professional body, ICPAS, is a voluntary organization to which approximately
90% of Israel‘s CPAs belong. It does not supervise the industry or its members. It
does, however, set auditing standards. The statutory body, the Council of Certified
Accountants (operating within the framework of the Ministry of Justice) rather than
the professional body, the ICPAS, is charged with regulating the industry in issues of
professional conduct and auditor independence. It does not oversee the ICPAS.

ICPAS focuses its efforts on the advancement of the professional standards of
accountancy in Israel, updating its members as regards professional developments,
establishing professional norms and standards in the areas of accounting and auditing,
establishing appropriate ethical and behavioral rules for the profession and carrying
out disciplinary judgment of its members regarding ethics.

ICPAS maintains contact committees with the Israel Securities Authority, the tax
authorities, the Supervisor of Banks, the Commissioner of Insurance, the Investment
Centre, the institutions of higher education and with many other parties.

ICPAS has professional committees that deal with accounting rules and auditing
standards, an advisory council, a committee for the interpretation of behavioral rules
and more than 250 additional professional and organizational committees dealing with
various topics. Some 1,400 volunteer members are active in these committees. The
Institute is a member of two international organizations for accounting standards and
is a member of the International Federation of Accountants. The Institute also
maintains regular contact with the European Accounting Association and with other
organizations.
In order to protect the public and maintain the proper level of professional service, the
Institute carries out disciplinary hearings as well as committees whose function is to
handle complaints filed by those who receive accounting services.

External Audit
Public companies in Israel are required to have their annual financial statements
externally audited (Companies Law, Section 154). Semi-annual and quarterly reports must
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be accompanied by limited auditor reviews.

The external auditing accountant is appointed at each annual meeting and serves until
the end of the following annual meeting. However, the annual meeting may, if the bylaws so provide, appoint an auditing accountant who will serve in his position for a
longer period which cannot extend past the third annual meeting following the
meeting at which he was appointed.

According to the Israeli law auditors must be independent from any direct or indirect
ties to the audited company (Companies Law, Section 160). The company can not make
the auditing accountant‘s fee dependent on conditions that limit the manner in which
the auditing activity is conducted or which connect the audit results to the
accountant‘s fees (Companies Law, section 166). If it becomes known to the Board of
Directors that the auditor is not independent, the board must immediately instruct the
auditor to desist in the activity creating the dependency. Should the auditor fails to do
so, the board must call an extraordinary shareholders meeting to dismiss the auditor
(Companies Law, section 163).

Public accountants are prohibited from engaging in activities that can lead to conflict
of interests with the practice of accounting or compromise the accountant's
independence (Accountants Law – 1955, Section 10). The Accountants Regulations
(Conflicts of Interest and Compromise of Independence from Non-audit Services) 2008 outline various activities and circumstances in which auditor independence is
compromised. These regulations establish as a general principle that auditors shall not
audit or render an opinion or valuation on behalf of any company in which they have
a personal stake. The regulations outline a series of transactions, conditions and
arrangements that are in violation of the independence and conflict of interest
provision outlined in Section 10. These include, inter alia, but are not limited to:

a)

Accepting payment, commitment for payment or any other benefits from
the client (including controlling shareholders of the audited entity) during
the audit period that are contingent on the monetary outcome of the audit;

b)
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Receiving gifts, travel and lodging expenses or any other material benefit;

Violators of the Accountants Law and Regulations may be charged with
unprofessional conduct.

In addition to the above provisions, the ISA monitors situations it deems as violating
the principle of auditor independence in reporting companies. Most of these are
incorporated in the Accountants Regulations mentioned above. In principle the types
of non-auditing activities deemed by the ISA as compromising auditor independence
include the following:


Provision of non-audit services by the auditor to the audited entity, which in
fact or in appearance, go beyond consulting and constitute participation in
the management and business decisions of the audited entity.



Provision of services to the audited entity that may come under the auditor's
review (for example: bookkeeping services for the audited entity)



Acting as an internal auditor of the audited entity.

The ICPAS provides additional guidelines for auditor independence. These guidelines
reiterate and clarify the legal obligations outlined in the regulations. Auditors are
prohibited from engaging in the following activities, during the auditing period or one
year preceding it:
1. Providing legal counsel for the client, with the exception of activities that are
customary for an accountant;
2. Serving as liquidator, receiver, estate administrator or as the client's trustee,
with the exception of trusteeships in which the trustee solely executes
instructions regarding the trust's assets, without taking executive decisions.
This prohibition applies to employees of the auditor as well;
3. Serving as the client's internal auditor, or acting on behalf of the internal
auditor.
4. Engaging in investment advice for the audited entity on a regular basis.
5. Acting as portfolio manager for the audited entity.

6. Engaging in bookkeeping for the audited entity if it is not a public company if
such services are rendered personally by the auditing accountant.
If the auditing accountant becomes aware of substantial flaws in the company‘s
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accounting control as a result of his auditing activity, he must report his findings to
the Chairman of the Board of Directors. The Chairman will convene the board of
directors without delay in order to discuss the issues that have been brought to his
attention (Companies Law, Section 169).
If the auditing accountant becomes aware of substantial flaws in the company‘s
accounting control as a result of his auditing activity, he must report his findings to
the Chairman of the Board of Directors. The Chairman will convene the board of
directors without delay in order to discuss the issues that have been brought to his
attention (Companies Law, Section 169).

Section 11 of ICPAS Opinion 76 (equivalent to ISA 260 (International Standard of
Audit) – Communication with Those Charged with Governance) requires auditors to
discuss supervisory issues arising from the audit with the governing board of the
audited company. Such issues include: accounting practices or changes in them which
may impact the financial statements or disagreements with the audited company that
may have a significant impact on its financial statements.

The ISA has issued a directive regarding the disclosure of external auditors' fees for
the following services: audit services, tax services, consulting services and other
related services.

Cooling-off period
The Accountants Law does not require a cooling-off period (before an external
auditor may accept employment with the client) for an external auditor who wishes to
work for the audited company. The ISA, however, places certain restrictions on
former employees of the auditor in terms of their ability to interact with it. In contrast,
if an employee of an audited entity begins working for an accounting firm, they
cannot serve as the auditor for the previous employer for a period of one year.

Internal audit
The Institute of Internal Auditors in Israel is a professional society that has been
active since 1960. Its members are auditors from all the various sectors in the
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economy such as: governmental ministries, public and government companies, banks,
insurance companies, local authorities and councils, etc. The institute has over 1,500
members. The Institute represents the internal auditing profession in Israel. It has set
ethical rules, professional standards, guidelines and opinions governing the conduct of
internal auditors in Israel.
The Institute‘s goals include the promotion, development and enhancement of the
professional level of internal auditing in Israel. The Institute focuses on
comprehensive development and training activities, while formulating standards for
internal auditing and its activities. The Institute is a member of the International
Institute of Internal Auditors.

The board of directors of a public company is required to appoint an internal auditor;
the internal auditor is appointed based on the recommendation of the audit committee.
The following may not serve as the internal auditor: a principal shareholder in the
company, an officer of the company, a relative of any of the above or the auditing
accountant, or someone who acts on behalf of the auditing accountant (Companies Law,
Section 146).

The internal auditor must examine, inter alia, the propriety of the company‘s actions,
in terms of compliance with the law and proper business management (Companies Law,
Section 151).

The internal auditor must be notified of audit committee meetings and be allowed to
participate in them. The internal auditor may also ask the chairman of the audit
committee to call a meeting of the committee regarding a matter to be specified in the
auditor‘s request, and the chairman of the audit committee must call a meeting of the
committee within a reasonable time after the date of the request, if he sees reason to
do so (Companies Law, Section 116).

The internal auditor has to submit reports of his findings to the chairman of the board
of directors, to the chairman of the board of directors‘ audit committee and to the
CEO (Companies Law, Section 152).
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The organizational supervisor of the internal auditor can be the chairman of the board
of directors or the CEO, depending on company by-laws, and in the absence of a
provision in the by-laws as the board of directors may establish (Companies Law, Section
148).

The internal auditor must examine, inter alia, the propriety of the company‘s actions,
in terms of compliance with the law and proper business management (Companies Law,
Section 151).

The internal auditor must be notified of audit committee meetings and be allowed to
participate in them. The internal auditor may also ask the chairman of the audit
committee to call a meeting of the committee regarding a matter to be specified in the
auditor‘s request, and the chairman of the audit committee must call a meeting of the
committee within a reasonable time after the date of the request, if he sees reason to
do so (Companies Law, Section 116).

The internal auditor has to submit reports of his findings to the chairman of the board
of directors, to the chairman of the board of directors‘ audit committee and to the
CEO (Companies Law, Section 152).

The organizational supervisor of the internal auditor can be the chairman of the board
of directors or the CEO, depending on company by-laws, and in the absence of a
provision in the by-laws as the board of directors may establish (Companies Law, Section
148).

5.3.4 – Principle V.D
“External auditors should be accountable to the shareholders and owe a duty to the
company to exercise due professional care in the conduct of the audit‖.
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The liability of the external auditor
The external auditor is liable to the company and its shareholders for the contents of
his stated opinion on the company's financial statements. (Companies Law, Section 170).
This is a civil liability. In case he is aware, as a result of an act of audit, of substantial
defects in inspection of the company's accounting, he has to report thereon to the
Chairman of the Board of Directors (Companies Law, Section 169).

Additionally, whoever has given an opinion or review that has been included or
mentioned, with the accountant‘s priors consent, in a prospectus or a report filed
pursuant to the Securities Law, which contain misleading item, can be held civilly
accountable for any damage caused by it, unless they can prove that all appropriate
measures were taken to ensure its accuracy (Securities Law, Sections 32, 33(1), 38C(a)(2)).

The law also establishes criminal sanctions regarding those who caused the
misleading item to appear in the report. According to the Securities Law, a person
who fails to comply with their reporting duties or causes a report, notice or
registration document to contain a misleading item, and all with the intention of
misleading a reasonable investor, is liable for criminal sanction. This includes three
years imprisonment or a fine of up to 67,300 NIS. For this purpose, if a periodic
report, interim financial report or an immediate report has not been submitted in
accordance with a directive of the ISA, it shall be prima facie evidence that the person
upon whom the duty to submit such a report or notice refrained from so doing with
the intent to mislead (Securities Law, Section 53(a)(4)).

There is also a criminal liability for anyone rendering an opinion, report or affidavit,
included or referenced in a prospectus, with prior consent, which knowingly contains
a misleading item (Securities Law, Section 53(a) (3)).

5.3.5 – Principle V.E
―Channels for disseminating information should provide for equal, timely and costefficient access to relevant information by users”.
Page | 245

Dissemination of Information
As already noted in Chapter II section 2.3.1.3, all disclosure is done through the ISA‘s
MAGNA system which fulfills the requirements for equal, timely and cost-efficient
access to information by users. Filing all material information through the MAGNA
also fulfills the requirement for timeliness as outlined in Section 2 of the IOSCO
Principles for Ongoing Disclosure. In addition, see Chapter 2 of this report for
general shareholders‘ right to obtain all relevant information (minutes of board
meetings, general meetings and other documents dealing with related party
transactions).

The disclosure standard delineated in the Securities Law is that all information that
may be useful to a reasonable investor must be disclosed (Securities Law, section 16).
All information on the MAGNA database is available to the public free of charge. It
may be stated that generally speaking, Israel adheres to all the core guidelines defined
in the above IOSCO principles.

Information is disseminated to investors by several means. Laws are published in the
Reshumot, the government official Gazette, which is disseminated to the public
through the Ministry of Justice's website. Earnings reports and all other required
disclosures are distributed in real time through the MAGNA system. Certain
information must also be published in widely-circulated newspapers.

Non-selective Disclosure
When a legal obligation to disclose information exists, all filing must be done through
ISA‘s MAGNA system. Information relayed to the public without being channelled
through ISA is considered inside information; trading based on such information is
illegal. If no disclosure requirement exists, there is no prohibition against selective
disclosure.

5.3.6 – Principle V.F
―The corporate governance framework should be complemented by an effective
approach that addresses and promotes the provision of analysis or advice by analysts,
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brokers, rating agencies and others, that is relevant to decisions by investors, free
from material conflicts of interest that might compromise the integrity of their
analysis or advice”.

Conflicts of interest of securities analysts, brokers, rating agencies
and others
The work of financial analysts in Israel currently falls under the heading of
investment advice and investment marketing. The law defines investment advice as
regarding the feasibility of an investment, holding, purchase or sale of securities or of
financial assets and investment marketing as advice rendered to others regarding the
feasibility of the investment, holding, purchase or sale of securities or of financial
assets by an advisor that has a personal interest in the said asset. Accordingly, analysts
are subject to licensing and regulation by the Israel Securities Authority ( Investment
Law, Sections 1, 14-17).

Disclosure requirements regarding Investment Advisors, Investment
Marketers and Portfolio Managers
Licensees are required to provide periodic and event triggered reports to the ISA.
These include, inter alia:


annual reports on compliance with capital and insurance requirements;



immediate reports if one of the qualifying conditions for obtaining the license is
no longer being complied with;



in the case of a portfolio manager, an immediate report if the portfolio‘s holdings
in an individual issuer exceeds five percent of issued capital or entitles them to
voting rights exceeding five percent;
(Investment Law, Section 27)

The ISA has proposed strict disclosure requirements for investment analysts in order
to prevent conflict of interest, a phenomenon that has become more common with the

advent of internet trading and the market becoming more accessible to the individual
investor.

Disclosure requirements for financial analysts
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1. The analyst must disclose in their report any conflict of interest that they or
their investment firm is party to, or have reason to believe they may be party
to, at the time the report is submitted. The following cases require disclosure:
a. The analyst or a relation are shareholders in the reviewed corporation
and/or in a corporation controlled by the reviewed corporation, or has an
interest in the said corporation or one of its holdings.
b. The analyst or a relation has a professional affiliation with the reviewed
corporation and/or to a controlling shareholder in the reviewed
corporation.
c. The analyst or a relation acts as a corporate officer, adviser or service
provider in the abovementioned group of companies.
d. The analyst or a relation receives remuneration from the abovementioned
group of companies.
e. The analyst or a relation received compensation from the abovementioned
group of companies for provision of services or sale of products during the
twelve months preceding the submission date, or expect to receive
substantial compensation from the abovementioned group of companies
following the report‘s submission.
f. Disclosure required under clauses (a) to (e) shall also be provided vis-à-vis
a relative of the analyst preparing the financial analysis, mutatis mutandis :


The information shall be provided if it is known to the analyst.



Fair disclosure under clause (d) shall be provided only when it is of
material significance to the recipient.

2. a. The analyst‘s report must include a graph showing the price fluctuation of
the reviewed security during the three years prior to submission. The graph
shall contain indications of dates on which the analyst or the investment
house that employs him provided or changed an explicit recommendation
or a target price for the aforesaid security, including the details of the
change.

b. The graph mentioned in clause (a) shall be appended to the financial
analysis of the reviewed security only when the said security has been
under review by the reporting investment firm for twelve months prior to
the report‘s submission.
Page | 248

3. a. The analyst preparing financial analysis must provide their personal
information, including: name, address, educational background and work
experience, on the cover of the completed report.
b. If the analyst is employed by a licensed corporation, the analyst's name shall
be stated on the cover of the completed report alongside information on the
licensed corporation; for the purpose of this clause the details of the
licensed corporation shall include – name, address and a telephone number.
4. The analyst shall include the following details in the financial analysis:
a. Valuation methods used for calculating target price and various risks that
may significantly affect that price
b. disclosure regarding the date of publication; however, if the analyst is
employed by a licensed corporation, the aforesaid disclosure shall be part of
the disclosure provided by the corporation.

Fair disclosure by a licensed corporation (providing the analyst is employed by a
licensed corporation)
The financial analysis submitted by a licensed corporation must include fair
disclosure regarding any conflicts of interest to which it is a party when the report is
submitted. The following cases require disclosure:
a. The investment firm or its affiliate provided consulting or management
services to a company that held a securities issue, if the said services were
provided within twelve months of the report‘s submission.
b. The investment firm or its affiliate received compensation totaling over
5% of its income from the reviewed company during the twelve-month
period prior to the report‘s submission. Disclosure is also required if the
investment firm or its affiliate is expected to be significantly compensated
by the reviewed company following the completion of the financial
analysis.

c. Disclosure regarding whether at the time of publication, the licensed
corporation or its affiliate act as market makers for securities of the
reviewed corporation.
d. Disclosure regarding whether at the time of publication, or during 30 days
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preceding the publication, the licensed corporation or its affiliated
company held in their "nostro" accounts or in accounts managed by them,
any significant holdings in securities of the reviewed corporation; for the
purpose of this clause – where the ratio between the market value of the
reviewed corporation's securities, held in the "nostro" accounts or in
accounts the managed accounts, and the equity capital of the licensed
corporation, according to its last financial statements, is above 1% the
assumption is that the holdings are of material significance.
Regarding an affiliated corporation, the provided disclosure shall be to the
best knowledge available to the investment firm; the aforesaid disclosure
shall be provided separately concerning securities held at the date of
publication and those held earlier.
e. The controlling shareholder of the investment firm holds securities in the
reviewed company at the time of the report‘s submission.

The ISA is generally responsible to ensure that licensees comply with their duty of
care and fiduciary duties to clients and the ISA is the forum to which complaints from
clients may be addressed. These duties include:


General duty of trust – Licensees have a duty to act for the benefit of their clients
with trust and diligence and cannot place their personal interests or those of
another ahead of those of their clients;



General duty of care – Licensees have a duty to act with the care and
professionalism that a reasonable licensee would employ under similar
circumstances and must take all reasonable measures to protect the interests of
their clients;



Tailoring advisory/management services to client needs – Licensees must clarify
the investment objectives of their clients, and ascertain their financial standing and
all circumstances relevant to the investment and must tailor their advice or
portfolio management to the client needs;



Written agreement – Licensees must render services according to a written
agreement concluded between themselves and each client.



Restrictions on proprietary trading – As a control on potential conflicts of interest
and market abuse, licensees are restricted in their ability to engage in proprietary

Page | 250

trading.

Additional obligations placed on portfolio managers only:
o Financial assets must be held for each client separately;
o Client assets cannot be used by the portfolio manager;
o Performance-based fees are prohibited;
Inducements to purchase investments, other than those permitted in the Law, are
forbidden;

Information that must be provided on a timely basis to clients includes, inter alia:


Disclosure of all information material to a suggested transaction;



Disclosure of special risks associated with a particular transaction or type of
investment;



Disclosure of any conflicts of interest that may arise;



In the case of marketing agents, disclosure of ties and preference for certain
financial instruments;



Disclosure of all fees and commissions levied on the client.

Licensees must also record and save a record of all advice given and every transaction
conducted for or on behalf of the client (Investment Advice Law, Section 25).

Portfolio management firms must issue statements to their clients at least quarterly,
which report all transactions conducted on their behalf, the composition of the
investment portfolio, cash balances and all direct and indirect fees charged (Investment
Advice Law, Section 26).

The ISA is endowed with various powers to intervene and impose sanctions when
supervising licensees under the Investment Law:


The authority to demand information and documents;



The authority to petition the court for search warrants and permission to seize
assets;
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The authority to investigate suspected criminal activity and disciplinary
violations;



The authority to conduct on-site audits within the framework of enforcing the
Prohibition of Money Laundering Law.

ISA supervision of licensees often takes the form of ISA initiated inspections. There
are broadly three types of inspections regularly employed by the ISA:


Correspondence sweeps – inspections of a particular topic across a large number
of companies;



On-site inspections – inspections of specific topics at the offices of licensed firms
and among investment advisors employed in the banks;



Inspections focusing on compliance with anti-money laundering regulation
applicable to licensees.

The Investment Law stipulates a broad spectrum of sanctions for licensee violations:
Criminal sanctions – the law identifies a number of obligations, noncompliance with
which constitutes a criminal violation. These include violations of restrictions on
proprietary securities trading and engaging in investment advice without a license.
Disciplinary sanctions – The Investment Law establishes an independent disciplinary
tribunal, the function of which is to impose disciplinary sanctions on licensees who
have violated their duty of care and/or fiduciary duties towards clients. The tribunal is
an independent committee appointed by the Minister of Justice upon which ISA staff
do not sit. The Tribunal is authorized to impose sanctions on licensees including
warnings, censures, fines, or the suspension or revocation of licenses.
Civil fines – the ISA is authorized to impose civil fines on licensees violating certain
provisions of the Law. The ISA is also authorized to suspend or revoke licenses in
administrative proceedings of licensees who have failed to maintain threshold
licensing requirements. The Civil Fines Committee is chaired by the ISA Chairman

and is the body within the ISA empowered to impose civil fines for certain violations
of this law. These include:
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Failure to conclude a written agreement with a client prior to providing services;



Failure to provide a quarterly statement of holdings and all transactions during the
reported period;



Failure of an investment marketer to disclose to its client details of its affiliation to
an institution;



Failure to keep records of advisory activity or transactions;



Failure to comply with rules or orders issued by the ISA;
The law also permits the ISA to impose civil fines for certain criminal activities.
In practice the ISA will only take this course once a decision has been reached not
to pursue criminal sanctions in the courts. These activities include:


An individual licensee holding or acquiring securities for himself or herself;



Giving or receiving a prohibited benefit for investment advice, investment
marketing, execution or non-execution of a transaction or for avoidance of
a transaction;



Advising on executing a transaction for a financial asset that is affiliated
with an institutional body that is a principal shareholder of the advisor or
his employer.

CHAPTER VI:
The Responsibilities of the Board
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6.3.1 – Principle VI.A
"Board members should act on a fully informed basis, in good faith, with due
diligence and care, and in the best interest of the company and the shareholder".

Duty of Care
The Companies Law provides that officers (the definition of which also includes
directors) owe a duty of care (Section 252).
a) An officer owes the company a duty of care as described in sections 35 and 36
of the Torts Ordinance [New Version].
b) The above provision does not preclude an officer from owing a duty of care
towards another person.
Precautions and level of proficiency ("Business Judgment Rule”)
An officer shall act with the standard of proficiency that a reasonable officer, in the
same position and in the same circumstances, would act; this shall include taking
reasonable steps, in view of the circumstances of the case, to obtain information
regarding the business expedience of an act submitted for his approval or of an act
done by him by virtue of his position, and to obtain all other pertinent information
regarding such acts (Companies Law, Section 253).

Fiduciary Duty (Companies Law, Section 254)
(a)

An officer shall owe a fiduciary duty to the company, shall act in good
faith and for the benefit of the company, including the following:
(1) he shall refrain from any act involving a conflict of interest
between the fulfillment of his role in the company and the
fulfillment of any other role or his own personal affairs;
(2) he shall refrain from any act involving competition with the
company‘s business;

(3) he shall refrain from taking advantage of a business opportunity
of the company with the aim of obtaining a benefit for himself or
for any other person;
(4) he shall disclose to the company all information and shall provide
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it with all documents relating to its interests that reach him by
virtue of his position with the company.
(b)

The above provisions do not preclude a fiduciary duty being owed by an
officer to any other person.

The board‘s fiduciary duties are to the company rather than directly to its
shareholders. These duties include specific prohibitions against self-dealing,
competing with the company and exploiting corporate opportunities. Breach of these
duties can be redressed by shareholders in private derivative actions.

In Israel the fiduciary duties are only to the specific company. According to this
principal the director can not consider the interest of others companies in the group.

There is extensive case-law dealing with the duty of care and the fiduciary duty of a
company‘s officers. This case law has brought about a high level of awareness among
officers regarding their duties. For example the Gedaliah Buchbinder case8:

In August of 1985, Bank North America (hereinafter: "the Bank") was seized by the
Bank of Israel. An authorized manager was appointed for the Bank on August 28,
1985. The Bank continued its banking activities for an additional two years, until
October 31, 1987, when it began to be liquidated due to its insolvency. Thus, the
Bank‘s operations in Israel came to an end, although the Bank‘s litigations in Israeli
courts did not end. One of these litigations, a civil action, is before this court.

After the Bank was seized, several acts of fraud and deception carried out by the
bank‘s managers (members of its management), which had been carried out prior to
its seizure, were discovered. Indictments were brought against them in the Jerusalem

8

Civil Appeal 610/94 Gedaliah Buchbinder v. the Official Asset Receiver 57(4) P.D. 289.

District Court. They were all indicted for, inter alia, fraud, deception and breach of
fiduciary duty.
The official receiver, in his role as such and in his role as the Bank‘s liquidator, filed a
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civil complaint against twenty-four defendants who were the Bank‘s directors, their
alternates, Bank shareholders, and executives in the Bank. The complaint alleged that
the directors were negligent in carrying out their functions as directors, that they did
not fulfill the duties imposed by their positions and that this caused damages to the
bank. The complaint specified the duties that had been breached and the damages that
had been caused. It was alleged in this context that the directors had breached their
duties of care (and in certain matters, the fiduciary duties imposed on them), by
extending credit without requiring collateral and through improper procedures, to
various customers and ―interested parties‖ in the Bank and to companies affiliated
with the ―interested parties.‖

As a result, it was alleged, significant amounts of credit were not repaid and damage
was caused to the Bank.

The complaint listed the said credit. It was also alleged that the directors were
negligent and breached their fiduciary duties by regulating the prices of the Bank‘s
shares. It was also alleged that the directors negligently allowed the Bank's executives
to embezzle funds, and that they were therefore responsible for the damages suffered
by the Bank because of such embezzlement.

The District Court allowed the complaint and held that the directors had not met the
required standard of behavior for a reasonable director and that they had been
negligent in carrying out their functions. This was with regard to three types of
matters: the first, was the matter of giving credit without requiring proper collateral,
through an improper process, to various customers, including to ―interested parties‖ in
the Bank and to companies affiliated with the ―interested parties.‖ The second was the
directors‘ failure to act, which created an atmosphere of anarchy in the Bank, which
allowed the managers to embezzle the Bank‘s funds. The third was their negligence
with regard to the arrangement of regulating the Bank‘s share prices. The Court ruled
that the directors must bear the Bank‘s damages for these three types of matters.

Judge Barak rejected the appeal in his ruling and noted:
The existence of the duty of care owed by a director to the company imposes on the
director the duty to take all reasonable precautions in order to prevent damage to the
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company. The director‘s duty is not absolute. He is not the company‘s insurer. The
duty imposed on him is to take reasonable precautions. The requirement that
precautions be reasonable does not mean that all possible measures to prevent damage
must be taken. Reasonableness requires that reasonable measures to prevent damage
must be taken. The question is not what measures will physically prevent damage.

The question is what are the measures that should be required to be taken in order to
prevent damage (Compare Civil Appeal 4025/91 Zvi v. Karol, 50(3) P.D. 784 at 790).
The failure to take such measures constitutes negligence on the part of the director.
The test for negligence is set out in section 35 of the Torts Ordinance, and according
to that section, the determinative test is that of a reasonable person. Regarding a
director of a company, the determinative test is that of a reasonable director. Every
director must take those precautionary measures that a reasonable director would take
under the circumstances of the case (Compare section 253 of the Companies Law).
Indeed, being a director is not simply a manner of honor or of being honored. It is not
merely compensation for services given in the past to the country or to the company.
It is not merely an honorable way to retire. To be a director means to carry out a
central function in the company. To be a director means to take all the measures that a
reasonable director would take in order to fulfill his function within the company.
Note: the question is not what are the precautionary measures that a person with
knowledge and experience characteristically held by a director would have taken [as
has been held in the past in Re City Equitable Fire Insurance Co. Ltd. [1925] 1 CK.
407). Instead, the question is what are the precautionary measures that a reasonable
director would take under the circumstances of the case. (See Cohen, ―The Duty of
Care Owed by a Director in a Registered Company,‖ Mehkarei Mishpat A 134 (5740)
(hereinafter: "Cohen"); 25 ALR 3d 941, sec. 8, p.977 – ―a person who puts himself
forth for the position of managing a company, which involves the handling and
management of considerable property, must exercise the degree of caution that would
be exercised by a reasonable director who is qualified to act in this area of
management.‖ (J. Gross, Directors and Corporate Officers 1989, at 297). The

reasonable behavior test is an objective one. The general form must of course be
adapted to the circumstances of each case. The level of care is the same: that which is
exercised by a reasonable director under the circumstances of the case. The measures
that need to be taken in order to fulfill this duty of care change in accordance with the
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different circumstances. Some of these measures deal with actions to be taken by the
board of directors itself; some of them involve the use of different powers granted to a
director by law in his activities outside the board of directors, such as receiving
information, being assisted by professionals, and such like – activities that help a
reasonable director to carry out his role.

The ruling also discusses the fiduciary duty of directors, and the court noted as
follows:
The fiduciary duty means that the director must act with only the company‘s interests
before him, without thinking of any personal interests. Directors must act in good
faith, in fairness towards fulfillment of their role in the corporation (See the Kosoy
case, page 278). At the basis of this duty is the director‘s power, granted to him by his
membership in the board of directors, over the company‘s property. There is a
concern – based on life experience – that the power will be abused (―The
Representative‘s Problem‖; See A. Haviv-Segal, Company Law in Light of the New
Companies Law 283 (Volume A, 1999)). The fiduciary duty has been recognized in
order to prevent this abuse – the purpose of the duty being to protect the company.
This fiduciary duty is stronger than the duty to act in good faith (which is an objective
one), that is imposed on every Israeli when he carries out legal acts (sections 39, 12
and 60(b) of the Contracts Law (General Part) 5733-1973). The duty to act in good
faith (which is an objective one) establishes the level of behavior to be observed by
two parties when each is concerned with his own personal interest. The purpose of the
duty is to bring about a situation in which the parties act fairly to each other in
protecting their own interests. In contrast, the fiduciary duty establishes the level of
behavior to be observed by a director with respect to the company, and the director
must place the company‘s interest at the center of his concerns and not his own
interests. The fiduciary duty does not arise from a rivalry between the director and the
company. The fiduciary duty is based on the existence of only one interest that is

worthy of being protected, which is the company‘s interest. (See A. Barak, Judicial
Discretion, 1987, at 495.) I have noted this in one of the cases when I wrote that:
―Good faith does not mean a ‗degree of righteousness‘. Good faith does not require
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that an individual not consider his personal interest. In this the principle of good faith
is different than the principle of trust (which applies to a director, agent, guardian or
public servant)‖ (Leave to Appeal 6339/97 Rocker v. Salomon, 55 P.D. 199, 279).

The fiduciary duty is different from the duty of care. The fiduciary duty is intended to
prevent the exploitation of the director‘s power for his own benefit. The duty of care
is intended to prevent harm to the company (see A. Procacia, Israel’s New Company
Laws, 1989, at 334.) Thus, the fiduciary duty may also be breached even if the
behavior in question did not cause any damage to the company. Similarly, the
director‘s duty of care will have been breached even if the director has not abused his
power. Thus, the duty of care and a fiduciary duty are separate matters. Nevertheless,
the same behavior may be both a breach of the duty of care and of the fiduciary duty.
(See Haviv-Segal, ―A New Model for the Duty of Trust and the Duty of Care‖ 22
Mishpatim 353 (1993) (Hebrew)?.‖
Company’s power to grant a release, indemnification and insurance for officers
(Companies Law, Sections 258 – 264)
An officer may not be granted a release with respect to a breach of the duty of
fiduciry. A release with respect to a breach of the duty of care may be granted only if
the by-laws provide for such.

An officer may be indemnified in advance for reasonable litigation expenses and in
connection with a liability to a third party with respect to foreseeable types of events,
and for a reasonable amount, if the by-laws provide for such.

A company may, if the by-laws provide for such, take out a liability insurance
contract for one of its officers with respect to any liability imposed on him due to an
act done by virtue of his being an officer in the company, with respect to each of
these:
1) A breach of the duty of care towards the company or to another person;

2) A breach of the fiduciary duty towards the company, provided that the officer
acted in good faith and had a reasonable basis for believing that the action
would not harm the company‘s best interests;
3) A financial liability imposed on him in favor of another person.
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All provisions regarding a release, indemnification and insurance will lose their force
if the act was done intentionally or recklessly or in breach of the fiduciary duty
(which was not committed in good faith or which was committed with no reasonable
basis for believing that the action would not harm the company‘s best interests).

A lawsuit directly against the directors for breach of duty
Shareholders can directly redress a director's breach of duty in only limited cases.
If the breach of duty relates to disclosure or an attempt to defraud, which are criminal
violations according to the Securities Law it is possible to file either individual or
class actions against directors. In most cases, however, derivative action is required to
redress breach of duty. If the breach is a breach of fiduciary duty, as stipulated in
Articles 252 and 254 of the Companies Law, shareholders cannot pursue recourse
against directors, since the latter's duty is to the company rather than the shareholders.
The Law does stipulate that these duties to the company do not negate a company's
duties to third parties. The interpretation arising from court rulings on this issue,
however, is that the fiduciary relationship between the directors and the aggrieved
third party should be specific and the general relationship between directors and
shareholders does not meet this criterion. The company rather than shareholder
constitutes the entity eligible to directly file suit against a director, an event which
seldom occurs in practice. Shareholders and directors are entitled to initiate a derivate
action on behalf of the company, should the company fail to take the necessary action
against directors breaching fiduciary duties. The Companies Law encourages
derivative actions by limiting the financial liability plaintiffs face when initiating a
derivative action.

The law mitigates financial risks by: levying low court fees for derivative actions;
granting the courts the right to award special dispensation to the filing shareholder;
transferring the costs on to the company once the suit is approved as a derivative
action by the court.

For information on derivative action (Companies Law Sections 194-206) – See
Chapter 3, section 3.3.1.2.
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Board members insurance policy
Generally, a company insures its directors in order to protect them in the course of
their duties as board members. However, the Companies Law qualifies the situations
in which officers may be insured and establishes rules regarding the approval of a
resolution to provide insurance for officers as follows (Companies Law, Section 261):
A company may, if the by-laws provides for such, enter into a contract to insure the
liability of an officer therein for a liability imposed on him due to an act performed by
him by virtue of his being an officer, in any of the following instances:
(1) a breach of duty of care towards the company or towards any other person;
(2) a breach of fiduciary duty towards the company, provided that the officer
acted in good faith and had reasonable foundation for assuming that the
act would not harm the company‘s best interests;
(3) a financial liability imposed on him in favor of another person.

In the case of a public company in which an officer is also a controlling shareholder, a
resolution passed by the general meeting to include a provision in the by-laws
regarding insurance must have, in addition to the majority required for amending the
by-laws, the approval of the shareholders who have no personal interest in the
resolution‘s approval, as required for an extraordinary transaction.

A provision in the by-laws which allows the company to enter into an insurance
contract to cover the liability of one of its officers with respect to any of the following
will not be valid:
(1) a breach of fiduciary duty, other than insurance regarding a breach of
fiduciary duty which was committed in good faith when there was a
reasonable foundation for assuming that the act would not harm the
company‘s best interests.
(2) a breach of a duty of care committed intentionally or recklessly, unless
committed with negligence only;
(3) an act done with intent to make unlawful personal profit;

(4) a fine or forfeit imposed on the officer.

A resolution to provide insurance for a director requires the approval of the general
meeting. (If the director is a controlling shareholder, the same decision-making rules
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will apply as do with respect to an extraordinary transaction with a controlling
shareholder.)

6.3.2 – Principle VI.B

"Where board decisions may affect different shareholder groups differently, the board
should treat all shareholders fairly ".
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Remedies in the event of discrimination
Section 191 of the Companies Law deals with the relief available in the event of
discrimination against a company‘s shareholders.
The section provides that if any of the company‘s affairs are managed in a manner
which involves discrimination against all or some of its shareholders, or regarding
which there is a substantial concern that they will be conducted in such a manner in
the future, the court may, at the request of a shareholder, give the instructions it sees
fit to give in order to remove or prevent the discrimination, including instructions
according to which the company‘s affairs will be managed in the future, or
instructions to the company‘s shareholders according to which they or the company
will purchase the company‘s shares.

6.3.3 – Principle VI.C
"The board should apply high ethical standards. It should take into account the
interests of stakeholders".
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Board's behavior required standards
The fiduciary duties articulated in the Companies Law require all corporate officers,
including board members to exhibit high ethical standards which render the interest of
the company and its stakeholders as taking precedence over other interests the officer
may have.

The board should take into account the interests of stakeholders, including its
creditors (for example when passing resolutions regarding mergers and splits), its
employees and the public, as specified in section 11 of the Companies Law (see
principle 4.A for further details).

An extended report on stakeholders' rights is available in Chapter 4.

6.3.4 – Principle VI.D
"The board should fulfill certain key functions, including:"
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1. Reviewing and guiding corporate strategy, major plans of action, risk policy,
annual budgets and business plans; setting performance objectives; monitoring
implementation and corporate performance; and overseeing major capital
expenditures, acquisitions and divestitures.

Section 92 of the Law defines the powers and duties of the board of directors as
follows:

1. The board of directors shall outline the policy of the company and shall
supervise the performance of the functions and acts of the CEO within that
framework

(which

includes

monitoring

conflicts

of

interest,

the

misappropriation of corporate assets and abuse of related party transactions);
2. shall establish the company‘s plans of action, principles for funding them and
the priorities among them;
3. shall examine the company‘s financial status, and shall set the credit limits
that the company be entitled to operate;
4. may resolve to issue debenture series;
5. may allot shares and securities convertible to shares, up to the limit of the
registered share capital of the company;
6. may resolve to carry out a distribution;
7. shall give its opinion on special tender offers.

The policy for estimating and defining strategies to manage market risk is an integral
part of the directors‘ annual report and of the audited financial statements, and the
discussion regarding such policy takes place, as of the current time, at the board of
directors. It has been proposed that such policy will be discussed at a preliminary
stage by the audit committee.
2. Monitoring the effectiveness of the company’s governance practices and
making changes as needed.

Corporate governance code of good practice
Many of the arrangements relating to corporate governance are anchored in the
Companies Law, which effectively constitutes a code for corporate governance. It is
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thus at the level of primary legislation, which is binding for all intents and purposes.
The comments of the relevant bodies from both the public and private sectors were
examined while it went through the legislative process. The Law binds all companies
that are incorporated in Israel. A violation of the provisions of the Companies Law
gives rise to civil law remedies.

The Ministry of Justice is preparing an amendment to the Companies Law, which will
introduce a recommended corporate governance code as an appendix to the
Companies Law. Adoption of the code will not be mandatory, however, public
companies will be compelled to measure corporate governance policies undertaken by
them and to publicly disclose those provisions with which they do not comply.

Input of directors committee
A directors committee will report to the board of directors on a regular basis regarding
its resolutions and recommendations.

Monitoring compliance with the law
A public company and a public entity (even if it is a private company) are required to
appoint an internal auditor and an audit committee.

In public companies board members can be held liable for misleading statements and
material omissions in prospectuses and other public disclosures.

Audit Committee (Companies Law, Sections 114-117)
Constitution of the Committee – The audit committee must have at least three
members, and all the external directors (at least two) must be members of the
committee. Neither the chairman of the board or any director who is employed by the
company or who provides services to it on a regular basis may serve as members of
the audit committee. Neither a controlling shareholder nor a relative of a controlling
shareholder may serve as members of the audit committee ( Section 115).

The independence of the external directors is expressed in the nomination conditions
(see more details below in section 5).

The audit committee's functions are:
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1) To address deficiencies in the company‘s business management, inter alia,
upon consultation with the company‘s internal auditor or with the auditing
accountant, and to propose to the board of directors ways in which they may
be corrected.
2) To scrutinize and approve related-party transactions9.

Within the framework of these duties, the audit committee is responsible for
monitoring corporate governance as stipulated by law and the company's by-laws.
In addition, many laws – including, inter alia, laws relating to labor law, antitrust,
environmental protection, planning and construction, licensing of business, consumer
protection – include provisions the purpose of which is to strengthen the supervision
of directors with respect to the company‘s compliance with the law. Thus, for
example, the Consumer Protection Law – 1981 provides as follows:
Liability of an employer, authorized party or an officer in a corporation (2000
amendment)

25(a) An employer, authorizing party or officer in a corporation must supervise and
do everything possible in order to prevent the commission of a violation as described
in section 23, by any employees, by any authorized parties, by the corporation or by
any of the corporation‘s employees, whichever is relevant; a party violating this
section will be subject to a fine as described in section 61(a)(3) of the Penal Law; for
the purpose of this section.
―An officer in a corporation‖ – means a director, active manager, partner other than a
limited partner, or an executive who is responsible on behalf of the company for the
area in which the violation was committed.
9

The Chairman of the board, executive directors, non-executive directors with economic ties to the
company, controlling shareholders and their relatives are prohibited from serving on the audit
committee.

Internal Auditor – (Section 146 of the Companies Law)
The internal auditor will be appointed according to the recommendation of the audit
committee. The following may not serve as the internal auditor: a principal
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shareholder in the company, or who is an officer of the company or a relative of any
of the above or the auditing accountant or someone who acts on behalf of the auditing
accountant.
The role of the internal auditor is to check, inter alia, the propriety of the company‘s
actions in terms of compliance with the law and proper business management.
The internal auditor must report audit findings to the chairman of the board of
directors, the CEO and the chairman of the audit committee.
The company‘s internal auditor will receive notices of meetings of the audit
committee, and may participate in such meetings. He may ask the chairman of the
audit committee to convene a meeting of the committee to discuss a subject which the
internal auditor has specified in his request, and the chairman of the audit committee
will convene such a meeting within a reasonable time following the request, if he sees
a reason for doing so.
External Auditor (Auditing Accountant) – (Companies Law, Sections 154-170)
The Companies Law compels companies to appoint an external auditor (also referred
to as an auditing accountant), which must be a CPA, unless the company is inactive.

The auditing accountant will audit the annual financial statements and give his
opinion with regard to them.

The auditing accountant will be appointed at each annual meeting and will serve in his
position until the end of the following annual meeting. However, the annual meeting
may, if the by-laws so provide, appoint an auditing accountant who will serve in his
position for a longer period, which will not extend past the third annual meeting
following the meeting at which he was appointed.
The auditing accountant will be independent of the company, both directly and
indirectly.

The company will not make the auditing accountant‘s fee dependent on conditions
that limit the manner in which the auditing activity or which connect the audit results
to the accountant‘s fees.
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Neither the company nor anyone acting on its behalf shall directly or indirectly
indemnify the auditing accountant for any liability imposed on him due to his breach
of his professional responsibility in providing the services that are required by law to
be given by the accountant, or due to the non-fulfillment of a different duty imposed
on him by law.

The auditing accountant will receive notice of the convening of an audit committee
meeting in which a topic relating to the auditing of the financial statements, and he
may participate in such meeting.

Section 169 of the Companies Law provides that if the auditing accountant becomes
aware of substantial defects in the company‘s accounting control as a result of his
auditing activity, he must report such to the chairman of the board of directors.
The chairman will convene the board of directors without delay in order to discuss the
issues that have been brought to his attention.

According to section 41g of the Control of Financial Services (Insurance), if the
auditing accountant becomes aware, while carrying out his function, of a significant
breach of any of the provisions of the Control of Insurance Law or of any of the
Manager‘s directives issued pursuant to it, he must give notice of such in writing to
the audit committee and the CEO, and ask for the CEO‘s response by a date indicated
in the notice. If the CEO‘s response is not received by the date so indicated, or if the
auditing accountant is not persuaded, after seeing the CEO‘s response, that the breach
is not a significant one, the auditing accountant must, notwithstanding the provisions
of any law or agreement, deliver a notice to the Commissioner of Insurance regarding
the breach, along with the CEO‘s response, to the extent such response was received.

In accordance with of Israel CPA Opinion 76 (equivalent to ISA 260 10 –
Communication with Those Charged with Governance) external auditors must discuss
its audit report (for example, regarding an evidence of alleged fraud) and its
implications with the organ charged with governance of the audited company, which
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due to its legal obligations and best practice, is normally the board of directors.
3. Selecting, compensating, monitoring and, when necessary, replacing key
executives and overseeing succession planning.

The board shall determine the organizational structure of the company and its wage
policy.

The role of the CEO
The board shall appoint and remove the CEO (unless the by-laws provide otherwise),
and supervise the performance of his functions and acts.
A public company‘s CEO may not serve as its chairman of the board, and the CEO‘s
powers will not be conferred upon the chairman of the board ( Companies Law, Section
95).

If one of the following conditions is met, the general meeting may authorize the
chairman of the board of directors to fulfill the role of the CEO for periods none of
which may exceed 3 years:
1) The majority voting in favor of such authorization must include at least two
thirds of the votes of the shareholders who are not controlling shareholders
in the company.
2) The total number opposing votes of the shareholders does not exceed 1%
of the total voting rights in the company.

Section 95 of the Companies Law will apply as well regarding the appointment of a
CEO who is a relative of the chairman of the board of directors.

10

Israel is in the process of transition to IFRS for all reporting companies.

Convening of special general meeting
The board of directors of a public company may resolve to convene a special general
meeting, and shall so convene at the demand of one or more shareholders with at least
five percent of the issued share capital and at least one percent of the voting rights in
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the company, or one or more shareholders with at least five percent of the voting
rights in the company (Companies Law, Section 63)

Agenda
The agenda at a general meeting shall be fixed by the board of directors and may also
include matters in respect of which the convening of a special meeting is required
under section 63 as well as any matter requested by one or more shareholders with at
least one percent of the voting rights at the general meeting may request that the board
of directors include a matter in the agenda of a general meeting to be convened in the
future, provided that it is appropriate to discuss such a matter in the general meeting
(Companies Law, section 66).

4. Aligning key executives and board remuneration with the longer-term
interests of the company and its shareholders

Establishment of board remuneration
The Companies Law does not establish the remuneration itself, except with respect to
that of an external director. The Companies Law provides that an external director is
entitled to remuneration and reimbursement of expenses, as the Minister may
establish, in consultation with the Securities Authority. Accordingly, the Companies
Regulations (Rules Regarding Remuneration and Expenses for External Directors)
(hereinafter: "the Remuneration Regulations") establish limits on remuneration.
An external director will not receive any compensation – in addition to the
remuneration to which he is entitled and the reimbursement of expenses – either
directly or indirectly for his service as a director of the company. For the purpose of
this sub-section, the giving of a release, an undertaking to indemnify, indemnification
or insurance, pursuant to the provisions of segment C of Chapter 3, will not be
considered to be consideration.

To the best of our knowledge, there are many companies that have adopted the salary
mechanism established in the Remuneration Regulations for external directors, with
respect to their other directors as well.
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Adequacy of board remuneration
Regarding the external directors‘ remuneration, note that the Remuneration
Regulations establish a limit in accordance with the size of the company. If the
shareholders‘ capital is larger, more can be paid to the external directors. The
remuneration established in the regulations is derived from the number of meetings, in
addition to the annual remuneration. The regulations also allow a company to pay an
external director compensation which is proportionate to the compensation received
by other directors in the company, so that the remuneration amount is not less than the
lowest remuneration received by any other director in the company and not higher
than the average remuneration amount received by all the other directors in the
company. This arrangement is intended to allow a company to pay remuneration to
the external directors which is different than the payment prescribed in the regulations
if it pays similar remuneration to the other directors in light of the size of the
company‘s operations. Amendment to the Remuneration Regulations (from March
2008) f increased the maximum remuneration set in the Remuneration Regulations, in
order to give appropriate compensation for the effort required from them in light of
the obligations placed on them.

Approval of board remuneration
Terms of compensation for a director, including the granting of a release, insurance or
indemnification, require the approval of the audit committee, the board of directors
and the general meeting (see below special conditions required for approval of
remuneration of a director which is also a controller shareholder).

The Companies Law provides that in the event of a substantial private placement, the
board of directors must give its approval, followed by the general meeting ( Section
274).

Compensation for a controlling shareholder
In a public corporation, the compensation terms for a controlling shareholder (whether
he/she's also a director or not), or for the relative of such a party, require the approval
of the audit committee, the board of directors, and the general meeting.
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In cases in which the director is also a controlling shareholder or relative of a
controlling shareholder a super majority is required and remuneration will be
approved subject to the existence of one of the following conditions:
1. The majority of the votes cast at the general meeting include at least a third of
all of the votes of shareholders who do not have a personal interest in the
approval of the transaction, and who are participating in the voting; the votes
of abstaining shareholders will not be counted among the total votes cast by
the said shareholders.
2. The total number of opposing votes from among the said shareholders in subparagraph (a) does not exceed one percent of the total voting rights in the
company.
Board and key executives remuneration disclosure – see chapter 5 section 5.3.1.4

5. Ensuring a formal and transparent board nomination and election process.

Appointment of Directors
The Companies Law provides that the annual general meeting will appoint the
directors, unless otherwise provided in the by-laws (Companies law, Section 59).
This provision is not limited. For example – there is nothing to prevent a provision in
the by-laws that the holder of a certain percentage of the voting rights will be entitled
to appoint a director in the company. This provision does not prevent the registration
of shares for trading, since any shareholder can hold such a percentage in his hands.

Minority shareholders are able to pool their votes for certain board candidates subject
to the provisions of the by-laws. The shareholders may enter into voting arrangements
amongst themselves (Section 189), and therefore, to the extent that the by-laws allows

for the appointment of a director by the holders of a certain percentage of the voting
rights, there is nothing to prevent shareholders from jointly appointing a director.

The Companies Regulations (Proxy Voting and Position Statements) entered into
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force in April of 2006. Since then, shareholders have been able to appeal to other
shareholders in order to persuade them as to how to vote. In this context, shareholders
can influence other shareholders with regard to the election of a specific director.
Shareholders have an unconditional right to receive a proxy ballot and position
statements from the stock exchange member through which they hold their shares.
In listed company – Regarding a company whose shares are listed for trading on a
stock exchange in Israel, any other mechanisms for the appointment of directors must
meet the requirement of section 46b of the Securities Law, which requires that the
share capital of a company whose shares are first listed for trading may include only
one class of shares, which confers equal voting rights in proportion to their par value
(excluding certain exceptions such as a special State share and preferred shares under
certain conditions).

External directors appointment
The Companies Law includes a requirement that a public company appoint two
external directors (who do not have a connection to the company or to a controlling
shareholder) (Section 239).

In order to remove as much as possible any connection between an external director
and a company and a controlling shareholder, the law provides that an external
director may not be dismissed and that his term of office will be fixed (three years,
which may be extended for an additional period of three years. At the end of this
period, there is a two year cooling off period until the company may employ such a
person in any position whatsoever), and there are restrictions regarding their
remuneration.

Section 239 provides that external directors are appointed by the general meeting by a
special majority, provided that one of the following conditions are met:

The majority of the votes cast at the general meeting include at least a third of all of
the votes of shareholders who do not have a personal interest in the approval of the
transaction, and who are participating in the voting; the votes of abstaining
shareholders will not be counted among the total votes cast by the said shareholders.
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The total number of opposing votes from among the said shareholders in subparagraph (a) does not exceed one percent of the total voting rights in the company.

As mentioned in chapter 3 the ministry of justice is currently considering the
possibility of amending the company law and changing the majority required in the
general meeting from at least one third of all the votes of those shareholders that do
not have a personal interest in the approval of the transaction, who are present at the
meeting, to regular majority. In addition it is being considered changing the rule that
the total number of the opposing votes cast by the above-mentioned shareholders does
not exceed 1% of all the company‘s voting to 2%.

Candidates Information
When the nomination of directors is subject to proxy voting in public companies and
hence to the preparation of proxy materials. Companies Law Regulations (Proxy
Voting and Position Statements) – 2005, stipulates that the proxy materials that must
accompany the appointment of directors must include information regarding the
candidates.

Minimum qualification requirements for appointment of board members
According to section 226 of the Companies Law, no person may serve as a director if
he has been convicted of one of the violations listed in that section, until five years
have passed since the conviction (The crimes that are listed are those that relate
mainly to bribery and fraud, or are crimes committed by directors of corporations,
violations of securities laws and crimes which because of their nature, severity or
circumstances the court has determined that the convicted person may not serve as the
director of a public corporation).

With regard to all companies, section 227 provides that minors, legal incompetents,
and those who have been declared bankrupt and have not yet been released from that
status may not be appointed as a director.

There are no residency restrictions for a director who is not an external director.
An external director must be an Israeli resident who is qualified to be appointed as a
director, but a public company whose shares or some of whose shares have been
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offered to the public abroad or are listed on a stock exchange outside of Israel may
appoint an external director who is not an Israeli resident.

The law also establishes qualifications for appointment as an external director.

With regard to their independence, these qualifications establish that neither an
external director nor his relative, partner, employer or a corporation in which he is a
controlling shareholder can have a connection with the company (as the law defines
such a connection).

A person whose other positions or occupations create or could create conflict of
interest with his service as an external director may not be appointed to serve as such,
and a director in company A may not be an external director of company B if there is
a director in company B who serves as an external director of company A ( Companies
Law, Section 240).

Amendment Number 3 to the Companies Law added more conditions for qualification
of external directors, relating to a candidate‘s professional level. This amendment
requires that an external director must have either professional ability or accounting
and financing expertise, provided that at least one of the external directors has
accounting and financing expertise.

The Companies Law provides that at least one external director must have accounting
and financial expertise, as specified in the Companies Regulations (Conditions and
Tests for a Director Having Accounting and Financial Expertise and for a Director
with Professional ability) – 2005.

These regulations establish that a director will be deemed to have accounting and
financing expertise if, because of his education, experience and abilities, he has a high
level of skill and understanding regarding business and accounting matters and

regarding financial statements, such that he can understand the company‘s financial
statements and hold a discussion regarding the manner in which they present the
financial data.
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Such a director‘s accounting and financial skill will be determined by the board of
directors, and his education, experience and knowledge of the following will be
considered, inter alia:


The accounting and auditing accounting issues that are characteristic of the
industry in which the company is active, and those that are characteristic of
companies that are of the company‘s size and complexity.



The position of an auditing accountant and the duties imposed on him;



The preparation of financial statements and their approval pursuant to the law
and to the Securities Law.

The other external directors are required by the law to have professional ability.
Such ability is defined in the regulations as follows:

A director will be considered to have professional ability if he meets one of the
following conditions:
1. He has an academic degree in one of the following subjects: economics,
business administration, law, public administration;
2. He has a different academic degree or has completed other higher education
studies in the field in which the company is primarily involved or in a field
that is relevant to the position.
3. He has at least five years of experience in any of the following, or cumulative
experience of at least five years in two or more of them:
4. In a senior position in the business management of a corporation whose
business is of a significant size.
5. In a senior public sector position or senior public term of office;
6. A senior position in the field in which the company is primarily involved.

Information disclosure regarding directors
Regulation 26 of Securities Law Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Reports) –
1970 stipulate that the company must disclose information regarding its directors,
including their educational and professional background and whether the company
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considers him/her to possess accounting and financial expertise for the purpose of
fulfilling the minimum quota set by the board of directors for 'expert' directors as
stipulated in Section 92 (a) (12) of the Companies Law-1999. If the director is an
outside director the disclosure must indicate whether he/she possesses accounting and
financial expertise and/or professional proficiency.

Dismiss of a director by shareholders
The law provides that the general meeting may at any time dismiss a director unless
the by-laws provide otherwise. If the company‘s by-laws provide that a director shall
be appointed other than by the general meeting, he may not be removed except by
whoever is entitled to appoint a director and in the manner established for such in the
by-laws, unless otherwise provided in the by-laws (Companies Law, Section 230).
An exception to this is with respect to an external director – section 245 of the
Companies Law provides that such a director will serve for 3 years and the company
may appoint him for a further period of 3 years.

6. Monitoring and managing potential conflicts of interest of management, board
members and shareholders, including misuse of corporate assets and abuse in
related-party transactions.

The board of directors plays a pivotal role in the control and management of potential
conflicts of interest between, principals, corporate officers (including board members)
and minority shareholders. They can approve activities in which there is an apparent
conflict of interest or corporate opportunity only if it is deemed that the officer acted
in good faith and that the activity is not harmful to the company, and only if the
officer disclosed his/her interest in advance.
In public companies, the board‘s decision-making process, particularly with regards to
related-party transactions, is subject to public disclosure, which is scrutinized and

enforced by the Israel Securities Authority. Should questions arise surrounding board
approval of executive compensation packages or other forms of related-party
transactions, the ISA can require the board to elaborate on their actions and how these
actions are reconciled with the basic fiduciary duties of trust and care.
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Transactions with controlling shareholders
As part of their duty to monitor and approve transactions with interested parties, the
board of directors monitors transaction with controlling shareholders. In addition,
there are specific procedures for disclosure and approval of transactions in which a
director with a personal interest (such as connection to a major shareholder), is
involved. For further details of approval procedure – see principles 3.B and 3.C.
7. Ensuring the integrity of the corporation’s accounting and financial reporting
systems, including the independent audit, and that appropriate systems of
control are in place, in particular, systems for risk management, financial and
operational control, and compliance with the law and relevant standards.

Oversight of the audit function
The board serves as liaison between the company and its independent auditor.
The board shall be responsible for preparing financial reports and approving them.
The Companies Law provides that the financial statements must be approved in full
by the board of directors and that this power may not be delegated to committees.

As mentioned above, the board of directors must include at least two external
directors. Additionally, there is a requirement to appoint at least one external director
with accounting and finance expertise who is able to conduct a discussion of the
financial statements, and to appoint additional directors with accounting and financial
expertise if the board of directors establishes that this is necessary in light of the scope
of the company‘s operations and the complexity of those operations.

Independent Auditor
Section 160 of the Companies Law stipulates that the auditing accountant be
independent from any direct or indirect ties to the audited company. Section 163
stipulates that should it become known to the board of the directors that the auditor is

not independent, the board must immediately instruct the auditor to desist in the
activity creating the dependency. Should the auditor fail to do so, the board must call
an extraordinary shareholders meeting to discuss dismissal of the auditor.
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The company will not make the auditing accountant‘s fee dependent on conditions
that limit the manner in which the auditing activity or which connect the audit results
to the accountant‘s fees.

Neither the company nor anyone acting on its behalf shall directly or indirectly
indemnify the auditing accountant for any liability imposed on him due to his breach
of his professional responsibility in providing the services that are required by law to
be given by the accountant, or due to the non-fulfillment of a different duty imposed
on him by law.

Section 10 of the Accountants Law-1955 stipulates that CPAs are prohibited from
engaging in activities the circumstances of which can lead to the creation of conflicts
of interest between the practice of accounting and the other activity or that could
compromise the accountant's independence.
Without detracting from the general prescription of Section 10, Accountants Law
Regulations (Conflicts of Interest and Compromise of Independence from Non-audit
Services) – 2008 stipulate various activities and circumstances in which auditor
independence is compromised. These regulations establish as a general principle that
auditors will not audit nor will it render an opinion or valuation on behalf of or any
company in which it has a personal stake. The Regulations outline a series of
transactions, conditions and arrangements that are in violation of the independence
and conflict of interest provision engendered in Section 10.

The Ministry of Justice and the Securities Authority are currently discussing
legislative amendments that are required in order to improve the supervision
processes prior to the approval of the financial statements. In this context, it has been
proposed that the audit committee should examine the financial statements before
they are approved by the board of directors, although the responsibility for the
approval of the financial statements would remain with the board of directors.

There have also been discussions regarding the enactment of regulations pursuant to
section 171(e) of the Companies Law, according to which the Minister of Justice may
establish directives and conditions regarding the approval of financial statements. In
this context, the intention is to establish, inter alia, that a public company be required
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to have a discussion by a special committee prior to the approval of the financial
statements by the board of directors. According to the proposal currently being
formulated, such a committee will have a majority consisting of the external directors
and will include at least one financial expert, and the chairman will be an external
director. All members will be required to have the ability to read and understand
financial statements.
All the above-mentioned proposals are at the stage of preliminary discussions and it is
as yet unknown when and whether they will be enacted.

8. Overseeing the process of disclosure and communications

The Companies Law requires that the board shall report to the annual general meeting
on the condition of the company‘s affairs and on the results of its business operations
and its business performance;

The Securities Law requires the boards of public companies to oversee the process of
disclosure and communications. Directors are personally liable for the scope and
accuracy of statements disclosed in prospectuses and other filings to the public.

Board of Director must file an annual report on the state of the company.
This includes the board's explanations for the company's financial performance,
changes in capital, cash flow and the affect of specific events on the company's
financial statements. The report relates to key items and figures and includes any
additional information that the board feels is important to understanding the
company's performance and status.

The following items must be covered in the Board of Director's Report: explanation of
financial performance, liquidity and sources of finance. In addition, events and trends
affecting the company's activity and financial performance must be articulated,
including extraordinary events and other items that may indicate financial stress.

The report also discloses the impact of material investments and transactions, as well
as events that occurred subsequent to the reporting period and prior to submission of
the report. It specifies the actual use of proceeds from public offerings (if applicable),
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exposure to and strategies employed to manage market risk, benefits and
remuneration to the company officers and principal shareholders, and charitable
contributions donated by the company.

6.3.5 – Principle VI.E
"The board should be able to exercise objective independent judgment on corporate
affairs".
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1. Boards should consider assigning a sufficient number of non-executive board
members capable of exercising independent judgment to tasks where there is a
potential for conflict of interest. Examples of such key responsibilities are
ensuring the integrity of financial and non-financial reporting, the review of
related party transactions, nomination of board members and key executives,
and board remuneration.

As mentioned before, The Companies Law includes a requirement that a public
company appoint 2 external directors (or "outside directors") (who do not have a
"connection" to the company or to a controlling shareholder.
For this purpose ―connection‖ means the existence of an employment relationship, the
existence of business or professional relations in general or control, as well as service
as an officer, other than as a director appointed as an external director in a company
which is about to offer its shares to the public for the first time; the Minister, in
consultation with the Securities Authority, may establish that certain matters, under
conditions that the Minister has established, will not constitute a ―connection.‖

The power to appoint external directors is conferred upon the general meeting)
provided that one of the following conditions is met:
1) The majority voting in favor include at least one third of the votes of the
shareholders who are not controlling shareholders in the company, or of the
shareholders do not act n their behalf, who are present and voting; abstaining
votes will not be counted among the total votes of the said shareholders;
2) The total number of the opposing votes cast by the shareholders mentioned in
paragraph (1) does not exceed 1% of all the Company‘s voting rights.

The ministry of justice is currently considering the possibility of amending the
company law and changing the majority required in the general meeting from at least

one third of all the votes of those shareholders that do not have a personal interest in
the approval of the transaction, who are present at the meeting, to regular majority. In
addition it is being considered changing the rule that the total number of the opposing
votes cast by the above-mentioned shareholders does not exceed 1% of all the
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company‘s voting to 2%).

Recently the company law was amended regarding the composition of the board of
directors. a public company may establish in the by-laws it may appoint to the board
of directors disinterested directors; in a public company that has no controlling
shareholder, most of the members of the board will be disinterested directors or that in
a public company which does have a controlling shareholder, at least one third of the
members of the board of directors will be required to be disinterested directors.

2. When committees of the board are established, their mandate, composition
and working procedures should be well defined and disclosed by the board.

Board committees mandate, composition and working procedures
When committees of the board are established, their mandate, composition and
working procedures are well defined and disclosed by the board.

Establishment of a committee (Companies Law, Sections 110 – 113)
The board of directors may establish directors‘ committees, unless the by-laws
provide otherwise. The Law stipulates that if a certain responsibility is delegated to
committee, all members of that committee must be board members and at least one
member in each committee is an independent (external) director.
A directors‘ committee whose function is to advise the board of directors, or to make
recommendations only, can have members who are not directors, unless the by-laws
provide otherwise.

Delegation of Board powers
A board of directors may not delegate its powers regarding the following matters to a
directors committee (Companies Law, Section 112):

1. determining the company‘s general policy;
2. a distribution, unless in respect of a purchase of the company‘s shares in
accordance with a framework outlined in advance by the board of directors;
3. determining the position of the board of directors with respect to a matter
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requiring the approval of the general meeting or the giving an opinion
regarding a tender offer;
4. appointing directors, if the board of directors is permitted to appoint them;
5. issuing or allotting shares or securities convertible into shares or realizable as
shares, or debentures series, except in situations in which the allocation is in
the context of an employee compensation plan, and provided that it is carried
out in accordance with a plan that includes detailed standards as outlined by
the board of directors. (Section 288(b));
6. approval of financial statements;
7. giving the board of directors‘ approval to transactions and acts that require the
approval of the board of directors regarding the approval of transactions with
interested parties.

Directors Committee procedures
A resolution passed or an act carried out by a directors committee pursuant to a board
of directors‘ power that was delegated to it will have the same status as a resolution
passed or an act carried out by the board of directors, unless the by-laws provide
otherwise.

A directors committee will report to the board of directors on a regular basis regarding
its resolutions and recommendations.

The provisions applicable to the board of directors regarding the convening of
meetings, the manner in which they are to be conducted, a legal quorum, votes,
maintenance of minutes, and other matters, all apply, mutatis mutandis, to the
convening of meetings of directors committees and to the manner in which they are
conducted.

The board of directors may cancel a resolution passed by a committee that the board
of directors has appointed, but the cancellation does not affect the validity of a

committee resolution, in accordance with which the company has taken action with
respect to a third party who was unaware of its cancellation.

3. Board members should be able to commit themselves effectively to their
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responsibilities.

The Companies Law stipulates fiduciary duties of the director that include a
commitment to be capable of dedicating the time and resources required to fulfill their
duties to the company. In addition, the Law specifies that outside directors cannot
serve in other companies in any capacity that would impinge on their ability to fulfill
their duties as directors.

Recently the company law was amended so that a general meeting at which the
appointment of director is on the agenda may only be convened if the nominee has
declared that he has the time and the qualifications required for being appointed as a
director.

The Companies Law mandates that the board of directors of public companies meet at
least once every three months. There are no limitations on the number of other
positions a director may have. At the same time, the duty of care mandated by the
Companies Law requires him to act at a level of expertise that a reasonable corporate
officer in the same position and facing equivalent circumstances would act and to take
reasonable measures to obtain information regarding the activity under approval.

6.3.6 – Principle VI.F
"In order to fulfill their responsibilities, board members should have access to
accurate, relevant and timely information."
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Access of non-executive and independent board members to information
Section 265 of the Companies Law provides that:
-

Every director has the right to inspect the documents and records of the company
and to receive copies thereof, and to examine the assets of the company, to the
extent required for the fulfillment of his duties as a director.

-

The company may prevent a director from examining a company document or
asset, if the board of directors believes that the director is not acting in good faith,
or that such examination might harm the best interests of the company.

-

The court, may, upon the application of an external director, rule that the right to
receive information will also apply to documents and records of an affiliated
company if the court is persuaded that the requested information is important for
the performance of the director‘s role as an external director.

Access to external professional advice
According to section 266 of the Companies Law, a director may, in order to carry out
his function, in certain circumstances, receive professional advice at the company‘s
expense, if the expense has been approved by the company‘s board of directors or by
the court.

The court, when ruling on an application such as is described above, shall consider,
inter alia, whether the company‘s experts are not providing the assistance required by
the director for the purpose of performing his function, and the reasonableness of the
amount requested, taking into consideration the ground for the request for advice and
the company‘s financial condition.

